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Top Form International Limited (the “Company”) is a full-service
design and supply chain partner to global brands and retailers of
women apparel and activewear listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
(Stock Code: 333). The Company and its principal subsidiaries
(collectively “Top Form” or the “Group”) employs over 6,700
employees across Mainland China, Thailand, Indonesia and Sri
Lanka, with our headquarters in Hong Kong.

We provide end-to-end service, ranging from design and
development, supply chain management to manufacturing
of finished garments. Customers include many of the
world’s leading brands and retailers, who trust us to deliver
uncompromising quality in every product we make.
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The Global Partner for Innovation and Excellence

MISSION
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We strive to make a lasting positive impact through our choices
and actions, our relationships and the quality work we do.
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Integrity EAE

“Can Do” Attitude [BEfREE
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Courage BR

Curious & Creative
Care & Respect
Collaborative
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
MBRE

B FIAE TR

I I I
for the year ended 30 June

BERA=+HLEE

The financial figures are presented in Hong Kong dollars.

2025 2024
—E-RE —Z - pE
(audited) (audited) Change
(RER) (ER) 23
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$’'000
FERT FHET FHET
I . N I
Revenue A 1,215,731 1,130,164 85,567
Gross profit E A 241,974 255,490 (13,516)
Gross profit margin (%) EF (%) 19.9% 22.6% (2.7) points
@.7)E & 5 2h
(Loss)/profit for the year FAN(EER), = F (27,988) 1,500 (29,488)
Loss per share (HK dollars) FREBEEIT)
- Basic and diluted —ERNEE (0.108) (0.007)
I S . —
At 30 June
RARA=+H
2025 2024
—E_RE —E_OF
(audited) (audited) Change
(REX) (BER) &
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET FHET
I . I
Total equity 4B 385,100 396,034 (10,934)
Total debt (note a) BB ta) 99,855 91,951 7,904
Cash and cash equivalents Re MRS EFEIEAEE 90,541 102,263 (11,722)
Gearing ratio (%) (note b) BEBELE%) M itb) 25.9% 23.2% 2.7 points
2.7EE B
Net asset per share (HK dollars) SREEFEE L)
(note c) (Hiitce) 1.28 1.32
Notes: PEE -
a.  Total debt represents total interest-bearing bank borrowings. a. fBEBEEFSRITERERE -

b. Gearing ratio represents total interest-bearing bank borrowings divided by

total equity.

C. Net assets per share represents total equity divided by the total number of

shares in issue as at the end of year.

b. EEAMBELERETS

RITRER AR AR -

c. EBREEFEREEDSEERUIRFRNCETRMEH -
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FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
EFEHEREE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (A7 7T 51l /R )

RESULTS ES
I I I I I
2025 2024 2023 2022 2021
—E-REE —E_NF =4 —ZTE_Z —T-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FER FHET FET FHET FHET

Year ended 30 June

BEAA=THL

FE
Revenue WA 1,215,731 1,130,164 1,007,016 1,481,592 1,428,532
(Loss)/profit before B Bl (B 1),
taxation ikl (25,398) 4,138 (76,270) 19,216 11,951
Income tax expense FTS A& (2,590) (2,638) (2,254) (7,728) (4,806)
(Loss)/profit for the year  F R(E518), i 7 (27,988) 1,500 (78,524) 11,488 7,145
Attributable to: THIATRE
— Equity shareholders of ~ — AR AR
the Company (32,609) (2,207) (84,732) 3,550 2,797
— Non-controlling interests  — FF#22 i 4 2% 4,621 3,707 6,208 7,938 4,348
(27,988) 1,500 (78,524) 11,488 7,145
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERAEE
! 7 7! [ |
2025 2024 2023 2022 2021
—EBCoRE —ToNE o= —ET-_— —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FHERT FHET FHT FAT FAT
! 1 [ [ | |
At 30 June RAAB=+H
Total assets BEE 771,815 803,356 800,534 898,425 936,483
Total liabilities FEN= (386,715)  (407,322)  (380,712)  (391,097)  (425,960)
385,100 396,034 419,822 507,328 510,523
Equity attributable to: THIATE(E#ER
— Equity shareholders of — 72K Bl #E 25 A% B
the Company 356,470 374,624 372,999 466,863 475,540
- Non-controlling — FEIE N R A
interests 28,630 21,410 46,823 40,465 34,983
385,100 396,034 419,822 507,328 510,523
OeO 04 ® Top Form International Limited | Annual Report 2025




CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

Dear Shareholders,

The past year was marked by heightened global uncertainty.
Volatile trade policies, shifting tariffs, and ongoing geopolitical
tensions disrupted supply chains, increased costs, and
dampened consumer sentiment. Asian exporters, including our
Group, faced operational interruptions and rising logistics costs,
while global demand showed signs of softening. Against this
challenging backdrop, the Group delivered revenue growth of
7.6% to HK$1,216 million, driven by stronger sales to customers
in the United States (the “U.S.”) and Europe.

Despite this growth, profitability was pressured by temporary
suspension at our Indonesian facility, which led to higher
subcontracting and delivery costs, as well as additional
tariff-related charges. These factors contributed to a loss for
the year. While global economic conditions remain uncertain,
we remain focused on resilience and long-term value creation.
The Group’s diversified operations and enduring partnerships
provide a solid foundation to navigate volatility, while our
disciplined execution and strategic priorities position us to
capture opportunities as they emerge.

Sustainability continues to be embedded in our strategy and
culture. In Fiscal 2025, we advanced our environmental agenda
by introducing a “Zero Waste” target and further aligning our
practices with global standards. These commitments not only
strengthen stakeholder trust but also reinforce the Group’s
long-term competitiveness.

As part of succession planning, the board (the “Board”) of
directors (the “Directors”) also remains focused on renewal
and diversity. After more than 19 years of dedicated service,
Mr. Leung Ying Wah, Lambert (“Mr. Leung”), will retire as
Independent Non-Executive Director at the conclusion of the
AGM in December 2025. On behalf of the Board, | sincerely
thank Mr. Leung for his invaluable contributions over nearly two
decades. At the same time, we warmly welcome Mr. Frederic
Robert Francis Lemoine, whose appointment will bring valuable
international perspectives and strengthen our governance.

SEENBERARAT | —E-RHEFR e
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ERWwE

Finally, | would like to express my gratitude to the Board, H#E @ AARLORHEZTSeNEEERE R
management team, and all employees for their resilience, kB —FR4 TR XIFRK H WHAFEE
hard work, and commitment throughout this demanding year. BE—FHEWENE TMUAHRBEHE - KA
With our collective determination and shared values, | am Z{E  EAEB F B LHBH - FEHEAREA
confident that the Group will continue to overcome challenges, HIHE T @ HPITETRA KB IE - IBES
seize opportunities, and deliver sustainable growth for our B8 - FEEEEET AREEIR 0] F8 3%

shareholders. BOREBZ-

Wong Chung Chong *E

Chairman EMR

25 September 2025 —E-RAFAAZ+AH
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Dear Shareholders,

Fiscal 2025 unfolded against a backdrop of heightened global
uncertainty. While the U.S. economy showed resilience in
employment and consumer activity, sentiment remained
cautious as volatility in trade and fiscal policy created
unpredictability across markets. Elevated interest rates, ongoing
wars in the Middle East and Ukraine, and renewed tensions
between the world’s largest economies weighed heavily on both
businesses and consumers. The macroeconomic backdrop —
combined with broader industry cost pressures stemming from
tariffs — disrupted production flows, triggered capacity shocks,
and added costs that compressed margins.

Against these challenges, we sharpened our strategic
focus: delivering practical innovation to our customers,
leveraging our broadened presence for deeper collaboration,
expanding proximity and high-touch service, strengthening
our multi-country supply chain, deepening vertical integration,
and continuing to nurture the best possible culture within our
organization. Despite the pressures, we achieved revenue
growth of 7.6%, while volatility and added costs compressed
our gross margin to 19.9%, down 2.7 percentage points from
last year. While these results fell short of our ambitions, they
underscore both the resilience of our business model and the
urgency of reinforcing competitiveness.

In this CEO message — without repeating the detailed analysis
in the Management Discussion and Analysis — | will highlight
our business imperatives, the rationale guiding our actions,
our outlook for the future, and how our strategy continues to
strengthen our position in the market.

Innovation as the Driver of Growth

Innovation remains at the core of Top Form’s identity —
the cornerstone of our strategy and a clear differentiator
in a volatile environment. In Fiscal 2025, brand and retail
partners increasingly turned to Top Form not only as a reliable
manufacturing partner in uncertain times, but more importantly
as a long-term innovation partner. We deepened collaborations
with leading brands to co-develop products in shapewear,
activewear, and adjacent categories to intimates.

SEENBERARAT | —E-RHEFR e
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CEO MESSAGE
HEHITE RS

A highlight of the year was the scaling of Signature Flex™,
our proprietary innovation platform, which received strong
validation from both existing and new customers. Its engineered
control in shapewear and innovative fit for intimates position it
for expanded commercialization in Fiscal 2026. Our seamless
and bonded technologies also continued to set us apart,
helping customers refresh key categories and win in competitive
markets.

Importantly, innovation extends beyond products to
processes and systems. Through our Manufacturability and
Automation Councils, we advanced initiatives to streamline
operations, improve efficiency, and bring technology closer
to the shop floor. This dual focus on product and process
innovation strengthens our long-term competitiveness.

Strategic Verticality and a Flexible Manufacturing
Network

Top Form’s strategy of balanced vertical integration has proven
resilient in a turbulent global environment. In Fiscal 2025, our
component businesses delivered solid growth, contributing
to product innovation, marketing, and margin expansion.
These remain strategic levers enhancing competitiveness and
deepening customer value.

Our seamless operation in Thailand reached new maturity,
with improved utilization, efficiency, innovation, and quality.
Meanwhile, our foam cup business reached an important
milestone by supporting the launch of new collections for major
specialty retailers. At the same time, we strengthened external
manufacturing partnerships across Southeast Asia, giving us
agility, scalability, and risk diversification in a fragmented trade
environment.

This multi-country, flexible network — integrating owned facilities
with strategic partners — remains central to delivering customer
value, responding to volatility, and protecting margins.

AEEMNBBRBEMEEME KM
Signature Flex™ 2 E2EA  FRMESRE
BREMHMBEEHN—HRA - BREEELE H KM
BIFTRE A AREMH R R ELFE
BRI AMTFE—SHEEER  MEY
oo o MMM ELEMAMMERIMTEES
FEFNER REFEBERBARKEE
EEZAG  FEEBFIRNMSFERAMmDL

BEREANE EMEFFHOAINESTERR
FERER FLHREZELEEREHRRHFERE-
FRRE NEBBH{LEZEE (Manufacturability
and Automation Councils) * F K #E %
HE  MORBEEERE  RAEESE
TENESERASHERRIE - EEREE
mEREAFARE BAEBTNRERF
NEERIEE -

EHMMEEHEEESNBEENEEMRS

ERN2EANEEHERERARBEE N2
RARMTEEENEHREEFIRE - R _F
“EMFE BRMAMNEAMEBRERSER B
WIS EMEIF - RIAITHRAEREREN X
EUREBEEEERNRABFIRREEP
EBEMNZLXIE -

BN BB AERBENEEREEFEEBRA
EERER -EERE - EmAIFMmEEFI
EH AR MBFIORIE EBBEFAK
DREIRBEERELHEZFERRY  BR—E
EEZNERE Rz AR ES R R
REmSMWHNIINBEERLE  BUHRBR(CER
HOAEESS RABEE YoM EKRSE
HERIRTHERNORR

BB - TEROBELESS — ERife
ERARRENREEAERHMENE R
MENER EHRREAEFPEER BEAEY
MR REFNEKETE HEEEEN
1ER -
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Customer Proximity: Building Trust Through
Presence

In an era of fragmentation and rapid change, Top Form’s
expanded commercial presence in North America and
Southeast Asia has been pivotal. These steps have deepened
relationships with existing customers and broadened our reach
to new brand and retail partners.

Our U.S. commercial presence, in particular, continues to
play a vital role. By being closer to decision-makers in our
largest market, we can co-create solutions, anticipate needs,
and accelerate product launches. This proximity strengthens
relationships, drives practical innovation, and opens new
categories for growth. Already, it has resulted in expanded
collaborations and will remain a cornerstone of our commercial
strategy.

Sustainability and ESG: Embedded in Our DNA
Sustainability is no longer a standalone initiative — it is embedded
in how we operate and how we partner with customers. In Fiscal
2025, we advanced our carbon reduction roadmap with clear
targets across all facilities and worked alongside customers on
their Scope 3 goals. We also expanded circularity initiatives,
piloting new material solutions and product concepts aligned
with consumer demand for responsibility and transparency.

At a time when ESG metrics and commitments are being
debated globally, Top Form remains focused on fundamentals:
doing what is right for the environment, our people, and the
communities we serve. This long-term commitment strengthens
our brand, builds stakeholder trust, and supports commercial
partnerships with customers seeking responsible supply chains.

Looking Ahead with Vigilance and Confidence

The recovery seen in 2024 has given way to a more
unpredictable environment in 2025. Global trade tensions,
geopolitical conflicts, and inflationary pressures continue
to challenge our industry, with volatile order patterns and
persistent margin pressure. Consumer demand remains uneven,
tariffs add complexity, and shifts in distribution channels are
reshaping the industry in ways that will take time to stabilize.

SEENBERARAT | —E-RHEFR e
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CEO MESSAGE
HEHITE RS

These forces weigh on growth and profitability, but they also
reinforce the need for Top Form to remain adaptable. Our
strategy— anchored in innovation, proximity to customers,
supply chain agility, verticality, and sustainability— remains
sound, though execution will require sharper discipline. In the
near term, this means careful execution and prudent resource
management, including selective cost and resource adjustments
and consolidation where it strengthens our foundation. At the
same time, we will accelerate diversification and invest in areas
that position us for the future. By balancing near-term resilience
with long-term opportunity, we are confident that Top Form will
emerge stronger and better prepared to serve our customers
and stakeholders.

Ultimately, our strength lies in our people. The progress we
have made is a reflection of the talent, dedication, and resilience
of the Top Form team worldwide. Inspiring such a talented
group to pursue ambitious goals requires creating an open
and respectful environment led by fair, competent leadership,
grounded in humility.

The past years of volatility have shown that we have exceptional
people led by a committed group of leaders who step up
every day to deliver excellence while navigating challenging
circumstances. | am humbled and honored to be part of this
team, and | am proud of what we have achieved together. | am
confident that with the strength of our character and culture,
Top Form will continue to achieve even greater things in the
years ahead.

Wong Kai Chung, Kevin
Chief Executive Officer

25 September 2025
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW

The global economy continues to navigate a complex landscape
marked by heightened volatility and persistent challenges.
Uncertainties surrounding trade policies, shifting tariffs, and
geopolitical tensions remain significant headwinds. Against
this backdrop, the Group experienced operational challenges
and supply chain disruptions, that led to rising costs and
logistical delays, while signs of softening global demand added
further pressure. However, we remain resilient and focused on
executing our strategies to capture emerging opportunities and
drive sustainable growth.

During the year, the Group’s revenue increased by 7.6%
to HK$1,215.7 million, driven by increased sales from the
customers in the U.S. and Europe. The temporary operation
suspension in our Indonesian factory in the first half of the year
resulted in additional manufacturing costs, subcontracting
charges and delivery costs which negatively impacted our
margins. Additionally, the shifting U.S. tariff policies have led
to considerable unpredictability. In response to supply chain
and operational disruptions, the Group incurred additional
tariffs-related costs. These factors collectively exerted pressure
on the Group’s overall performance.

During the year, in monetary terms and delivery locations, 74%
of our sales were to the U.S. market whilst the sales to the
Europe represented 13% and the rest of the world accounted
for 13%. From the supply side, the overseas manufacturing
facilities in Asia ex-China accounted for 75% of the global
production output whilst China accounted for the remaining
25% during the year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

IR E R W Mo AT

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue
For the year ended 30 June 2025, the revenue of the Group
increased by 7.6% to HK$1,215.7 million from HK$1,130.2
million for the year ended 30 June 2024. This was driven
by higher sales to the customers in the U.S. and European
customers.

Gross Profit

Gross profit decreased from HK$255.5 million to HK$242.0
million during the year with gross profit margin decreased from
22.6% to 19.9%. We have incurred additional manufacturing
costs and subcontracting charges of approximately HK$8.4
million in the first half of the year due to the temporary operation
suspension of production facility in Indonesia; and additional
tariff-related costs of approximately HK$8.4 million resulting
from the U.S. tariff policies.

Other Net Income

Other net income decreased from HK$21.8 million to HK$15.9
million during the year. The decrease was mainly attributable
to the decrease in government grants by HK$1.3 million,
decrease in interest income by HK$0.8 million, and the fair
value losses in investment properties of approximately HK$2.1
million and financial asset at fair value through profit or loss of
approximately HK$1.6 million.

Selling and Distribution Expenses

Selling and distribution expenses primarily comprised of freight
and transportation costs, employee benefits of sales and sales
support personnel, and sample costs. The Group’s selling and
distribution expenses amounted to HK$44.2 million for the
year ended 30 June 2025, against HK$37.1 million for the year
ended 30 June 2024. The increase was mainly attributable to
the additional delivery costs of HK$6.9 million related to the
temporary operation suspension in our Indonesian factory in the
first half of the year.

General and Administrative Expenses

The Group’s general and administrative expenses amounted to
HK$222.0 million for the year ended 30 June 2025, maintaining
a similar level compared to last corresponding year at HK$221.0
million.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Finance Costs

The Group’s finance costs mainly represent interest expenses
on bank borrowings, interest on lease liabilities and other bank
charges. The finance costs increased from HK$19.0 million
for the year ended 30 June 2024 to HK$21.5 million for the
year ended 30 June 2025. The increase in finance costs was
primarily driven by the increase in other bank charges.

Loss for the year

The Group recorded a net loss of HK$28.0 million for the year
ended 30 June 2025 as compared with a profit after tax of
HK$1.5 million for the year ended 30 June 2024,

Adjusted Loss for the year

Excluding various exceptional costs, which included (i)
additional manufacturing costs and subcontracting charges
of approximately HK$8.4 million, and the additional delivery
costs of approximately HK$6.9 million due to the temporary
operation suspension of production facility in Indonesia in the
first half of the year, (i) fair value loss in financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss of approximately HK$1.6 million,
(iii) support to customers related to the changes in the U.S.
tariff policies of approximately HK$8.4 million, and (iv) fair value
loss in investment properties of approximately HK$2.1 million
and corresponding tax impact of HK$0.3 million, the Group’s
adjusted net loss in the year was approximately HK$0.9 million.

FINANCIAL POSITION

As at 30 June 2025, the Group’s bank balances and cash was
HK$90.5 million (at 30 June 2024: HK$102.3 million) whilst the
total bank borrowings was HK$99.9 million (at 30 June 2024:
HK$92.0 million) and the gearing ratio was 25.9% (at 30 June
2024: 23.2%), which was calculated as total interest-bearing
bank borrowings divided by total equity. As at 30 June 2024
and 30 June 2025, the Group did not have assets pledged for
bank borrowings.

SEENBERARAT | —E-RHEFR e

B R W Mo AT

BB A
AEBENMKERIERBITEEZMNEFZ
HEABEMFNEREMRITER - MBEERH

HE-_Z - NWFAAZTHIEFEMI0ES
BLENEEE ST -_RAFAA=ZTHILEFE

2168 E BT - M ERIENEZRHANEM
RITE ML TR -

FREE
AEBREBE-_ZE-_AFNA=THILFEHR
BFEEE.088E L MEE - _UF /A
—THIEFEASGRBEEEN1.5BEET

KRREER

HHRZEFELFERX  2F (HERFERY
FEEMELANSABEBTTHRINRIEN A K
EBER RN6oOBSBETNEINEE - (i)R
RFEFABRENEREEZ A FEERN6
BEET (NRXEBRBRESHEBENEP
XEXBAB BB TRV EMELTEBEL
21B8BT &ﬁﬁaﬂélﬁé’ﬂo.?)ﬁéf’éﬁ P K&
BRAFRE ZKERAEFEHRV0IBEAETT -

Bt BUAR R
ﬁé:;:ﬂi/‘*\ﬂ:—%a AEEZIRITHE
MRS EWSEEBT(R-E-_WF A=+
H:10238&87m) ' RITENMLEE 9.9
BEAT(MN-ZE-_UEA=1TH 92058 %
L) BEBBLRAE25.9% (R -ZT ZWEF X
A=+H: 232%) AR BERTT 8 AR BE Bk A
*& AR cAZE-_NMFENA=FTHEC
ﬁi/\ﬁi—JrEi AEBWEEFREME
F%ﬂ%ﬁuﬁx SIRITERK -

13 O0OeO



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

ERETRRAN

The Group strives to improve the working capital management
and focus on the overall cash conversion cycle days which
are calculated by adding the inventory turnover days and
receivables turnover days and subtracting the payables turnover
days. For the year ended 30 June 2025, the cash conversion
cycle days were negative 17 days as compared to negative 8
days in previous year.

AEEPNANELEECERLIFTINERER
SHEBBH HAENEAERFEREHN L
I Mo B R ) BB R B - SR S PR RR R R R B
BHE_T-_AFANA=THLFE ReER
BRARITR  MEFHR/AESK -

As at 30 June 2025
—E-RFANA=1+AH

As at 30 June 2024
—E-EXNA=+H

Inventory turnover days FE RS
Receivables turnover days & LAt B B B K 8
Payables turnover days FE A~ BR SR R 88 K 8K
Cash conversion cycle days IR 5 45 i 1 B

Capital expenditure during the year amounted to HK$13.0
million of which the majority was for the machineries and
equipment.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK

The Group is mainly exposed to fluctuations in exchange rates
of U.S. dollars, Thai Baht, Renminbi, HK dollars, Indonesia
Rupiah, and Sri Lanka Rupee. Majority of the sales revenue are
denominated in U.S. dollars, the foreign exchange exposure in
respect of U.S. dollars against HK dollars is considered minimal
as HK dollars pegged with U.S. dollars. The Group manages its
foreign exchange exposure by performing regular review and by
taking prudent measures to minimize the currency translation
risk.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 30 June 2025, the Group did not have any significant
contingent liabilities.

REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 30 June 2025, the Group had employed approximately
6,727 employees (30 June 2024: approximately 6,740
employees). The remuneration policy and package of the
Group’s employees are structured with reference to the
prevailing market conditions and statutory requirements as
appropriate. The Group also provides other staff benefits such
as medical insurance, mandatory provident fund contributions
and a share option scheme to its employees.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

During the year, the Group did not conduct any significant
investments, material acquisitions and disposals.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
Discloseable Transactions

On 9 July 2025, Top Form Brassiere Mfg. Co., Limited (as
Tenant), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
and Century Property Investment Limited (as Landlord) entered
into a tenancy agreement (the “Tenancy Agreement”), a
surrender agreement and a licence agreement to restructure
the lease arrangements for office premises located at San Po
Kong, Hong Kong. The term is four years commencing from
1 November 2025 to 31 October 2029 (both days inclusive)
and the total rent payable covering the whole lease term is
approximately HK$10,079,000 under the Tenancy Agreement.
For details, please refer to the announcement of the Company
dated 9 July 2025.

On 16 July 2025, PT Pahlawan Gunung Jaya (“PGJ”) (as
Tenant), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
and PT Bintang Abadi Persada (“BAP”) (as Landlord), a
company indirectly owned as to 47.4% by the Company,
entered into a lease agreement (the “New Lease Agreement”)
to extend the lease term of factory facility (the “Factory”)
located at Central Java Province, Indonesia for three years
commencing from 4 January 2026 to 3 January 2029 (both
days inclusive). On 23 July 2025, PGJ and BAP further entered
into a confirmation letter to supplement the New Lease
Agreement specifying the monthly rent for the Factory, pursuant
to which the total rent payable covering the whole lease term is
USD1,056,000. For details, please refer to the announcement of
the Company dated 23 July 2025.

OUTLOOK AND FUTURE DEVELOPMENT

Looking ahead, the global economic outlook remains
increasingly complex and uncertain, shaped by persistent
geopolitical tensions and shifting trade policies. The increasing
global economic uncertainties and escalating trade conflicts
are likely to impact global supply chains, consumer confidence
and market sentiments. Meanwhile, elevated interest rates are
likely to persist, while inflationary pressures remain across major
economies.

Despite persistent headwinds, the Group remains focused on
its strategic priorities— innovation, customer proximity, supply
chain agility, vertical integration, and operational efficiency.
Market conditions, however, remain challenging, with uneven
consumer demand, tariff-related pressures, and ongoing shifts
in distribution channels weighing on visibility and margins.

In this environment, disciplined execution and prudent
resource management are essential. We will continue to refine
our operations, adjust where necessary to strengthen our
foundation, and accelerate diversification efforts to capture new
opportunities. This balanced approach positions Top Form to
navigate near-term volatility while laying the groundwork for
sustainable growth.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENSNEBAEBZEEFTS

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Wong Chung Chong (E#8), aged 79, has been
the Chairman and an Executive Director since 31 October
2014 and 19 November 1991 respectively. He is also the
authorized representative and was a member of the Nomination
Committee of the Company until 31 October 2018. Mr. Wong
is the co-founder of the Group and has taken over the role
as Chairman of the Company since 31 October 2014. He is
responsible for managing the Board issue and supervising the
management team in adherence to the long term strategic
development of the Group. He attains extensive experience and
is very knowledgeable in the brassiere manufacturing industry.
He has over 59 years of experience in the brassiere trade. He
is also a director of a number of subsidiaries of the Company.
Mr. Wong is the father of Mr. Wong Kai Chi, Kenneth and
Mr. Wong Kai Chung, Kevin, both are Executive Directors of the
Company.

Mr. Wong Kai Chung, Kevin (ZRtH#), aged 49, has been
an Executive Director since 1 March 2011, and was the Vice
Chairman of the Company from 22 May 2015 to 23 August
2018. He was appointed as the Group’s Chief Executive
Officer on 24 August 2018 and is responsible for creating and
directing the Group’s strategy, managing overall performance,
organization and operations. He has extensive experience in
business development, operations, supply chain, finance and
corporate development. He is the authorized representative
of the Company. Mr. Kevin Wong is an alternate Nomination
Committee member to Mr. Kenneth Wong since 19 February
2016. Mr. Kevin Wong joined the Group in 2001 and is a director
of Top Form Brassiere Mfg. Co., Limited, a principal wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company, and various subsidiaries
of the Company. He began his career at Deutsche Bank
Securities, in New York City. Mr. Kevin Wong was appointed as
a member of the Fashion and Textile Training Board (FTTB) of
the Vocational Training Council (VTC) in 1 April 2023. Mr. Kevin
Wong graduated from Colby College, the United States of
America majoring in Economics and International Studies in
1998. He was awarded a Master of Business Administration
degree issued jointly by the Kellogg School of Management
at Northwestern University and the Hong Kong University
of Science and Technology in 2016. He is the holder of the
Chartered Financial Analyst designation. Mr. Kevin Wong is
the son of Mr. Wong Chung Chong and the younger brother of
Mr. Kenneth Wong.

16

BITES

ENREE TR DB -_FT-—NOFEL+A
=t—BR-—hAA—F+—-—AThBAEEEE
FERHITESE - BAR/ARBEERRRER
REZEENEEE T \F+A=+—H
t-BEERAEHAPA LB T —HF
TA=Z+T—RAEEEARAIFE B -KEE
EEEFEFELREEREEE UEALXE
BrREXRBER WANEREXEFLE
BEBNAREMB BEOFHEE KR - K
NRARRRAZEMBRARZESE - BEXREDA
ARATESFERMESERERBEE 2R -

ERBEE 497 BT —F=A—Hi
BEEARAMTESE FH_-_FT—AFAA
T ZREZE-NFNAZT=HHREEE
BlFEFE -BR_ZE-NFNAA-THBERLRES
ERAAEEEFNTE BENETAEHERE
RESATA - EIRRERIE ABNEE - ®N
FBER 2E HEE MENECRERITE
BREEERR BARRIDEENREK - ERIRL
EE-E-REF_ATNAEEZERERE
FERREEZEGZEEXE - ERMBELEER
“EE-FMALREE BRRAARBDEIEZRE
MEBAREZRITNERERER QR LARA
SHMBRRIZES - FRANTEEERT
BFABEER - BERBELEER_T_=FN
R—HREZERBEIRBDE TRHE LG
FlREEG@zZ8 -FRHBEER AN
FR2FENEEColby College * & & i 12 B B
BoBER_T-RFEAILABH REESR
(Kellogg School of Management at Northwestern
University) S ER B K2 SEE T EIER
TR -KFEAEFFAHRIONTMER - FRUR
FERBRAEAEZRFREMEREZ SRS -

® Top Form International Limited | Annual Report 2025



BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Wong Kai Chi, Kenneth (ZR %), aged 51, has been
with the Group since 1997 and currently holds directorships at
Top Form Brassiere Mfg. Co., Limited, and various subsidiaries
of the Company. Mr. Kenneth Wong is currently the Executive
Director and Managing Director of the Company. In his role,
Mr. Kenneth Wong is responsible for the Group’s business
development and marketing functions. He has served as a
member of the Company’s Nomination Committee since 19
February 2016.

Mr. Kenneth Wong has made significant contributions
to the industry, serving as the Honorary Chairman of the
Hong Kong Intimate Apparel Industries’ Association since 1
December 2016. In July 2023, he was appointed Chairman
of the Multi-Textiles and Fashion Accessories Council for the
Federation of Hong Kong Industries. He holds a Bachelor’s
degree in Marketing and Operations Management from Boston
University in the United States and a Master’s degree in
International Business from the Asian Institute of Technology in
Thailand. In recognition of his achievements, Mr. Kenneth Wong
was awarded the Young Industrialist Awards of Hong Kong in
2015 by the Federation of Hong Kong Industries.

In addition to his professional endeavors, Mr. Kenneth
Wong is an avid runner, participating in both marathon and
ultra-marathon events. Mr. Kenneth Wong is the son of
Mr. Wong Chung Chong and the elder brother of Mr. Wong Kai
Chung, Kevin.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Herman Van de Velde, aged 71, has been a
Non-executive Director of the Company since September
2002. He also serves as a member of the Compensation
Committee and the Nomination Committee of the Company.
He was appointed as the Chairman of the board of Van de
Velde N. V. from 1 January 2016 until 30 April 2025 and
remains a non-executive director of Van de Velde N. V., the
shares of which are listed on the NYSE Euronext Brussels
stock exchange. He is also an independent director of Alsico, a
Belgian garment company. He also holds several mandates in
non-profit organisations. Mr. Van de Velde joined the brassiere
industry in 1981 and is well versed in operating the brassiere
business in Europe. Mr. Van de Velde is the father of Ms. Lien
Van de Velde.
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Ms. Lien Van de Velde, aged 43, has been a Non-executive
Director of the Company since November 2022. She is
the Department Head of the Innovation team under Design
department of Van de Velde N. V. She leads a team of technical
experts in the field of product and process innovation, 3D
modeling and sustainability, and is responsible for creating
the innovation strategy road map, taking into account market
and consumer trends, emerging technologies and the overall
innovation strategic plan of Van de Velde N. V. Ms. Van de
Velde has over 17 years of experience in technical design
development and innovation and brand management of lingerie.
Ms. Van de Velde holds a Master Degree in Cultural and Creative
Management from the University of Antwerp and a Master
Degree of Arts in Linguistics and Literature (classics) from
the University of Ghent. Ms. Van de Velde is the daughter of
Mr. Herman Van de Velde.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Ms. Leung Churk Yin, Jeanny (£#288), aged 60, has been
an Independent Non-executive Director of the Company
since September 2008. Prior to this, she had been an
Executive Director of the Company since February 1998 and
re-designated as a Non-executive Director in April 1999. She
also serves as a member of the Audit Committee and the
Compensation Committee of the Company. Ms. Leung was a
member of Nomination Committee and was re-designated as
the chairman of Nomination Committee on 30 November 2023.
Ms. Leung is a seasoned investment banker with over 30 years
of corporate finance experience in Hong Kong, Mainland China
and Taiwan. Ms. Leung is currently an executive director of Altus
Holdings Limited (stock code: 8149), a company listed on GEM
of the Stock Exchange. She is also a fellow member of the Hong
Kong Securities and Investments Institute.

Mr. Leung Ying Wah, Lambert (R % %), aged 78, has been
an Independent Non-executive Director of the Company since
May 2006. He is the chairman of the Audit Committee and a
member of the Compensation Committee. Mr. Leung ceased to
be the chairman, but remained as a member, of the Nomination
Committee with effect from 30 November 2023. Mr. Leung was
the Chief Executive Officer of a leading construction materials
company. He is a fellow member of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants and Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. Mr. Leung was the Past Chairman of the
Hong Kong Cement Traders and Producers Association and
the Past Chairman of the Hong Kong Construction Materials
Association.
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Mr. Wang Man Hon, Sidney (£ 30#), aged 49, was appointed
as an Independent Non-executive Director of the Company
in November 2023. Mr. Wang serves as the chairman of the
Compensation Committee of the Company and a member
of both Audit Committee and Nomination Committee of the
Company. Mr. Wang was the Managing Director and Asia
Regional Head of International Connectivity for HSBC Private
Banking until November 2023. He has been the Managing
Director, Market Head Greater China at Standard Chartered
Private Bank since December 2023. Mr. Wang has extensive
experience in private banking, wealth management, risk
management and commercial banking in Europe, the United
Kingdom (the “UK”), North and South America, Middle East and
Asia. Mr. Wang obtained the Master in Business Administration
degree with the University of Connecticut. He has also obtained
a Master of Laws (Chinese Law) degree with The University of
Hong Kong. Mr. Wang is registered with Hong Kong Monetary
Authority to carry out Type 1 (dealing in securities) and Type 4
(advising on securities) regulated activities. He is a Chartered
Financial Analyst (CFA) Charterholder, a Certified International
Wealth Manager (CIWM) and a Certified Private Wealth
Professional (CPWP).

Mr. Tai Lun, Paul (), aged 58, was appointed as an
Independent Non-executive Director of the Company at the
conclusion of the Company’s annual general meeting on
28 November 2024. Mr. Tai is the currently the Regional
Director of Mainetti (Far East) Limited overseeing its Asian
operations and actively participating in the group’s major
expansion and acquisition projects. He has over 30 years’
experience in corporate development, specializing in Asian
operations, financial matters and mergers and acquisitions.
Mr. Tai is a fellow member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants, a fellow member of The Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants and a Chartered Accountant
of Singapore. Mr. Tai is also a member of Accountancy
Training Board of the Vocational Training Council (VTC) and the
member of Curriculum Development Council of the Education
Bureau. Mr. Tai was awarded a Master Degree in Business
Administration from The Hong Kong University of Science and
Technology. Mr. Tai is currently an independent non-executive
director of Lee Kee Holdings Limited (stock code: 637), a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Kwong Tony Wan Kit (B 52 £t), aged 47, is appointed
as the Chief Financial Officer of the Group in April 2024.
He oversees the finance function of the Group and assists
the senior leadership team in driving the Group’s strategic
developments. Mr. Kwong is a seasoned finance executive
with over 20 years’ experience in areas of accounting and
financial management. He has been holding senior finance
roles in sizable electronic manufacturing services companies
listed in the Stock Exchange and the Singapore Exchange
Limited respectively. Mr. Kwong holds a Master Degree of
Business Administration from Anglia Ruskin University. He
is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants. Mr. Kwong is currently an independent
non-executive director of Ming Fai International Holdings Limited
(stock code: 3828), the shares of which are listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange.

Mr. Michael Allen Lurer, aged 50, is Top Form’s Group
Manufacturing Director. He is responsible for all production
operations of the Group, including facilities development,
operations, administration and compliance. He joined the Group
in 1997 as a graduate trainee and has been stationed in various
locations of the Group in China and South East Asia. He has
over 20 years of experience in intimate apparel manufacturing.
He holds a Bachelor degree in International Trade and Foreign
Business from Dalian University.

Mr. Ng Chi Keong (R %&3#), aged 63, joined the Group in
May 2021 as Group Technology Director. He is responsible
for the Group’s Information Technology function. He leads the
technology teams across the Group to manage the Group’s
technology needs and execution of technology initiatives. Mr. Ng
has 30 years of experience in Information Technology in Asia
Pacific and the United States. He has worked across a mix of
businesses ranging from apparel manufacturing, retailers and
supply chain software companies. He holds an MBA degree
in Information and Decision Systems from San Diego State
University.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Eduardo Portabella, aged 53, is the Group Technical
Director and the Executive Director of Grand Gain Industrial
Limited (“Grand Gain”), a subsidiary of the Company. He joined
the Group in June 2016 and was appointed Group Technical
Director in April 2020. He is responsible for leading the Group’s
technical and industrial design, and business development
and product innovation for Grand Gain, the polyurethane foam
cup subsidiary of the Group. Mr. Portabella has extensive
experience in business development, manufacturing and supply
chain operations, project management, and engineering. He
holds a Doctoral degree in Electrical Engineering from Technical
University of Braunschweig.

Mr. So Kwok Leong Jeffrey (8Bl 5%), aged 50, is the Director
of Commercial Operations of Top Form Brassiere Mfg. Co.,
Limited. He is responsible for Product Management, Customer
Service, and Demand Planning. He joined the Group in 2007 as
the leader of the sales and marketing function for the wholesale
and retail business of the Group. He has led sales teams for
major US and EU accounts, and led various strategic projects
for different functions of the Group. He assumed his current
position in 2024 and is a key executive in driving Top Form’s
commercial strategy. Mr. So holds a Master degree in Business
Administration from the University of Manchester.

Mr. Wong Chor Wai (E# &), aged 57, is the Planning Director
of Top Form Brassiere Mfg. Co., Limited. He is responsible
for Top Form’s Planning and Supply Chain functions including
Master Planning, Material Requirement Planning, and Logistics.
He is also responsible for the financial performance of the
seamless subsidiaries. Mr. Wong joined the Group in 1989
and through his career in Top Form he has taken leadership
positions in Sales, Customer Service, Material Control, and
Administration. He is a director of Top Form Brassiere Mfg.
Co., Limited. He holds a Bachelor degree in Science from the
University of Hong Kong.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
)

The Board present the annual report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 30 June 2025.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS
REVIEW

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries are the design, manufacture and
distribution of ladies’ intimate apparel, principally brassieres.

The activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 31 to
the consolidated financial statements.

A review of the business of the Group during the year and a
discussion on the Group’s future business development and
uncertainties and an analysis of the performance using financial
key performance indicators are set out in the Chairman’s
Statement on pages 5 to 6, the CEO Message on pages 7 to 10
and the Management Discussion and Analysis on pages 11 to
15 of this annual report. The principal risks facing the Group are
set out in the Management Discussion and Analysis on pages 11
to 15 and the financial risk management objective and policies
detailed in note 26(b) to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 30 June 2025 are
set out in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss on page
69 of this annual report.

DIVIDEND

The Board has resolved not to declare a final dividend for the
year ended 30 June 2025 (for the year ended 30 June 2024:
nil).

No interim dividend for the six months ended 31 December
2024 has been paid to the shareholders of the Company (the
“Shareholders”) during the year ended 30 June 2025 (for the six
months ended 31 December 2023: nil).
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CLOSURE OF REGISTERS OF MEMBERS
Entitlement to attend and vote at the 2025 AGM

The main and branch registers of members of the Company
will be closed from Friday, 28 November 2025 to Wednesday,
3 December 2025 (both days inclusive) for the purpose of
determining the Shareholders’ entitlement to attend and vote
at the forthcoming annual general meeting on Wednesday, 3
December 2025 (the “AGM”). During that period, no transfer of
shares will be registered. In order to qualify for the Shareholders’
entitlement to attend and vote at the AGM, all transfer
documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates must
be lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong
Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited at 17/F, Far East Finance
Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong for registration not later
than 4:30 p.m. on Thursday, 27 November 2025.

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the past five financial years is set out on page 4.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The Group recognizes the importance of a robust
environmental, social and governance (ESG) performance
in meeting the expectations of various stakeholders. We are
committed to complying with the relevant environmental laws,
standards and policies prevailing in the countries or jurisdictions
in which the Group principally operates. The details of the
Group’s ESG policies and performance will be covered in the
Environmental, Social and Governance Report of the Company.
The Environmental, Social and Governance Report prepared
in accordance with Appendix C2 to the Listing Rules will be
published on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

During the year ended 30 June 2025, the Company was not
aware of any non-compliance with any relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the Group.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES,
CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

Employees are one of the greatest assets of the Company. The
Group is committed to continuously grow and cultivate its pool
of talent to build sustainable business. The Group provides
resources for training and development opportunities for the
employees. The Group also offers competitive remuneration
package to its employees. Staff performance is measured
on a regular and structured basis to provide employees with
appropriate feedback and to ensure their alignment with the
Group’s corporate strategy.

The Group has developed long-standing and good relationships
with its customers and suppliers. The Group serves the
customers and suppliers as business partners. The Group
endeavours to provide quality service to its customers and
works closely with the suppliers to ensure their awareness
on quality requirements of the materials and quality control
effectiveness.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment
of the Group during the year are set out in note 11 to the
consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during
the year are set out in note 27 to the consolidated financial
statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

At 30 June 2025, the aggregate amount of reserves available
for distribution to equity shareholders of the Company was
HK$217,056,000 (2024: HK$217,833,000).

BANK LOANS

Details of unsecured bank loans the Group as at 30 June 2025
are set out in note 21 to the consolidated financial statements.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the date
of this report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Wong Chung Chong (Chairman)

Mr. Wong Kai Chung, Kevin (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Wong Kai Chi, Kenneth (Managing Director)

Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Herman Van de Velde
Ms. Lien Van de Velde

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Ms. Leung Churk Yin, Jeanny

Mr. Leung Ying Wah, Lambert

Mr. Wang Man Hon, Sidney

Mr. Tai Lun, Paul (appointed on 28 November 2024)

The biographical details of the Directors as at the date of
this annual report are set out under the section headed
“Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management”.

In accordance with Bye-law 87(2) of the Company’s Bye-laws,
at each annual general meeting one-third of the Directors for
the time being shall retire from office by rotation provided that
every Director shall be subject to retirement at an annual general
meeting at least once every three years. Accordingly, Mr. Wong
Kai Chi, Kenneth, Ms. Lien Van de Velde and Mr. Leung Ying
Wah, Lambert will retire by rotation at the forthcoming AGM.
Except Mr. Leung Ying Wah, Lambert who does not offer
himself for re-election, other retiring Directors, Mr. Wong Kai
Chi, Kenneth and Ms. Lien Van de Velde, being eligible, will offer
themselves for re-election at the AGM.

No Director proposed for re-election at the AGM has a service
contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not
determinable by the Group within one year without payment of
compensation other than statutory compensation.

The non-executive Directors have not been appointed for a
specific term but will be subject to retirement by rotation in
accordance with the Company’s Bye-laws.

The Board proposed to appoint Mr. Frederic Robert Francis
Lemoine (“Mr. Lemoine”) as an independent non-executive
Director with effect from the conclusion of the AGM, subject to
the approval by the Shareholders at the AGM. For details of the
proposed appointment of independent non-executive Director
and the biographical details of Mr. Lemoine, please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 25 September 2025 and
the circular of the Company dated 28 October 2025 in relation
to the AGM.
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CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE ON
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each of the independent
non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of his/her
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing
Rules”). The Company has assessed their independence and
concluded that all the independent non-executive Directors are
independent.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The biographical details of Directors and senior management of
the Group are set out on pages 16 to 21 of the annual report.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The related party transactions for the year ended 30 June 2025
are set out in note 29 to the consolidated financial statements.

The following transactions constitute connected transactions
or continuing connected transactions which are required to be
disclosed in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
The Company has complied with the disclosure requirements in
accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Continuing Connected Transactions

The Group has been for the past 43 years conducting
transactions with Van de Velde N. V. (“VdV”) by supplying ladies’
intimate apparel to VdV. VdV is a connected person of the
Company by virtue of it being a substantial shareholder of the
Company holding approximately 25.66% of the issued share
capital of the Company. Given (i) Mr. Herman Van de Velde, a
non-executive Director of the Company, is the non-executive
director of VdV and Ms. Lien Van de Velde, a non-executive
Director of the Company, is an associate of Mr. Herman Van
de Velde under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules; and (ii)
Mr. Herman Van de Velde and the two daughters of Mr. Lucas
A.M. Laureys, a former non-executive Director (associates of
Mr. Lucas A.M. Laureys under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules)
hold an indirect equity interest of 56.26% in VdV via a jointly
controlled corporation and therefore they are deemed to be
connected persons of the Company.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

Continuing Connected Transactions (continued)

All transactions between VdV and the Group would constitute
continuing connected transactions (the “Continuing Connected
Transactions”) pursuant to the Listing Rules. Accordingly, a
master agreement dated 18 September 2005 (the “Master
Agreement”) had been entered into between VdV and the
Company to govern the Continuing Connected Transactions
and to set annual caps for the Continuing Connected
Transactions in respect of the three financial years ended 30
June 2008.

The Company had renewed the Master Agreement five times
with VdV with regard to the sale of ladies’ intimate apparel by
the Group to VdV. The 5th renewal agreement (“the 5th Renewal
Agreement”) dated 7 April 2020 entered into between VdV and
the Company expired on 30 June 2023 and the Group expects
that the continuing connected transactions will continue on
a recurring basis, the Company entered into the 6th renewal
agreement (the “6th Renewal Agreement”) dated 17 April 2023
with VdV to renew the terms of the Master Agreement for a
further three years commencing from 1 July 2023 and ending on
30 June 2026 to continue the sale of ladies’ intimate apparel by
the Group to VdV.

An announcement dated 17 April 2023 and a circular dated 22
May 2023 regarding the renewal of the Continuing Connected
Transactions contemplated under the 6th Renewal Agreement
and the relevant annual caps set for the three financial years
ending 30 June 2026 of HK$130 million, HK$140 million and
HK$150 million respectively had been published and dispatched
to Shareholders and an approval had been obtained from
Independent Shareholders of the Company on 8 June 2023.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)
Continuing Connected Transactions (continued)

Details of the Continuing Connected Transactions conducted
during the year under review were set out below:

BERXS ®)
BEBREXS @
REEEEETZIRERESSHBEHIMT

Nature of the continuing
Name of the connected person connected transactions

BEALER FEBREXZME

Annual cap set for the
year ended 30 June 2025

BE-Z-A8fF

Amount RNRE=1THIEEEZ
ok} EELR
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHT FET

Vav
the Group to VdV

A& B RVAVH & K AKX

Pursuant to Rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules of the Stock
Exchange, the Independent non-executive Directors of the
Company have conducted an annual review and confirmed
to the Board that during the year the Continuing Connected
Transactions have been entered into:

1. in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

2. on normal commercial terms; and

3. in accordance with the agreement governing such
transactions on terms that are fair and reasonable and
in the interests of the Shareholders of the Company as a
whole.

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group’s
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong
Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised)
“Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of
Historical Financial Information” and with reference to Practice
Note 740 (Revised) “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected
Transactions under the Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The auditor has issued
his unqualified letter containing his findings and conclusions in
respect of the continuing connected transactions set out above
in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules.

Sale of ladies’ intimate apparel by
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Other than the connected transactions and continuing
connected transactions as disclosed under the section headed
“Connected Transactions” above, there were no transactions,
arrangement or contracts of significance to which the Company
or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which any one of
the Directors of the Company had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisting at the end of the year or at any
time during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the year, the following Directors were considered to have
interests in the following business, which competes or is likely
to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the business of the
Group as required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 8.10 of the
Listing Rules:

Mr. Herman Van de Velde, the non-executive director of VdV,
has an indirect interest in Van de Velde Holding N. V. which held
a direct interest of 56.26% in VdV whose principal business
activity is the manufacture and marketing of luxury lingerie. The
Board considers the business of VdV may indirectly compete
with the business of the Group.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors during the year
has any interest in businesses which compete or may compete
with the business of the Group, or have or may have any other
conflicts of interest with the Group.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES
OR DEBENTURES

Other than as disclosed under the section headed “Share
Option Scheme”, no rights to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of Shares in or debentures of the Company were
granted to any Director or their respective spouse or children
under 18 years of age, nor were any such rights exercised by
them, nor was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party
to any arrangement to enable the Directors, or their respective
spouse or children under 18 years of age, to acquire such rights
in any other body corporate during the year under review.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration
of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company was entered into or existed during the year under
review.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

Pursuant to the Bye-laws of the Company, the Directors of the
Company shall be indemnified and secured harmless out of the
assets and profits of the Company from and against all actions,
costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which they
or any of them may incur about the execution of their duty, or
supposed duty, in their respective offices.

Throughout the year, the Company has maintained directors’
and officers’ liability insurance, which provides cover for the
Directors of the Company and its subsidiaries.

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

The Old Share Option Scheme

The Company adopted a share option scheme on 3 November
2011 (the “Old Share Option Scheme”) for a period of 10
years for the purpose to enable the Company to grant share
options to eligible participants as incentives or rewards for their
contribution to the Group. The Board could grant options to
eligible employees, including directors, executives or officers of
the Company and its subsidiaries and any other persons at the
discretion of the Board to subscribe for shares in the Company
(the “Shares”). The Old Share Option Scheme expired on 2
November 2021.

Under the Old Share Option Scheme, the number of shares in
respect of which options may be granted to any individual in any
12-month period is not permitted to exceed 1% of the shares of
the Company in issue at any point in time, without prior approval
from the Company’s shareholders. Share options granted to
substantial shareholders or independent non-executive directors
in any 12-month period in excess of 0.1% of the Company’s
issued share capital and with a value in excess of HK$5
million on the date of offer must be approved in advance by
the Company’s independent shareholders. The share options
granted must be taken up within 14 days of the date of offer,
upon payment of HK$1 per grant. Share options may generally
be exercised at any time from the second anniversary of the
date of acceptance to the tenth anniversary of the date of
acceptance or may at the Board’s discretion determine the
specific exercise period. The exercise price is determined by
the Board, and will not be less than the highest of the closing
price of the Company’s shares on the date of offer and the
average closing price of the shares for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of offer and the nominal value of
the Company’s shares. The validity period of the share options
would be for 5 years. All the share options shall be vested and
exercisable from the third anniversary of the date of grant.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued) BRESE

The Old Share Option Scheme (continued) ElERES )

As at 30 June 2025, 11,900,000 share options granted under R-ZT - FHEXA=1+H BEEERESZ
the Old Share Option Scheme remain outstanding and all M= ATTERERESZE A11,900,00017

outstanding options will continue to be valid and exercisable in  Ff B B R ITE N BRESEE G QI AIIBEE
accordance with the terms of Old Share Option Scheme. During  BERXE 2 & K17 - RFE R - IBIEEEIREET
the year, 1,885,981 share options granted under the Old Share & # 1 91,885,081 B R EE LXK - R ==
Option Scheme were lapsed. As at 30 June 2025, the numbers —HFENA=1+0 SR EBEEERES2F D
of shares that may be issued in respect of share options granted  #9 B A% 4 M 7] 82 2 1T &9 A% 1D 8L B /211,900,000
under the Old Share Option Scheme were 11,900,000 (30 June & (=ZZ—pE,xA=+H :1,885,981/%) ' 14
2024: 1,885,981), representing approximately 3.95% (30 June AR G2 BEITRRM 4AE 2 493.95% (ZE = NF
2024 0.63%) of the total issued share capital of the Company. NA=1TH:0.63%) °

Details of movements of the share options granted underthe HE—_Z_-_FE A=+ HIFE  BIEZ
Old Share Option Scheme during the year ended 30 June 2025 Z|FE FEERESMNEIRENEFH SO ¢
were as follows:

Number of share options
BREHE
Cancelled/
Exercise price Outstanding Granted  Exercised lapsed  Outstanding
per share as at during during  during the as at
Grantee Date of grant (HK$)  Exercise period 1/7/2024 the year the year year  30/6/2025
} fref R1/1/2024 FRES/ 1 30/6/2025
ERA REAH (Bm) TEH AR FARE  FRAR X% HAAE
| ] | ] ] |
Directors
gz
Mr. Wong Kai Chung, Kevin 30/9/2019 1,049 30/9/2022 - 29/9/2024 204,522 - - (224,522) -
24/9/2021 058 24/9/2024 - 23/9/2026 300,000 - - - 300,000
Mr. Wong Kai Chi, Kenneth 30/9/2019 1.044830/9/2022 - 29/9/2024 204,522 - - (224,522) -
24/9/2021 058 24/9/2024 - 23/9/2026 300,000 - - - 300,000
Directors’ associates
ES/HEA
Mr. Wong Kai Chun, Keith® 24/9/2021 058 24/9/2024 - 23/9/2026 300,000 - - - 300,000
BB LD
Employees
&8
In aggregate 30/9/2019 1,044 30/9/2022 - 29/9/2024 1,436,937 - - (1,436,937) -
Az
An
24/9/2021 058 24/9/2024 - 23/9/2026 11,000,000 - - - 11,000,000
Total 13,785,981 - - (1,885,981) 11,900,000
@t
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SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)
The Old Share Option Scheme (continued)

Notes:

(1) The closing prices of the Shares immediately before the share options
granted on 30 September 2019 and 24 September 2021 were HK$1.15
and HK$0.58 respectively.

(2 Upon the completion of the Rights Issue on 19 February 2021, the exercise
price of the outstanding share options granted on 30 September 2019 was
adjusted from HK$1.172 per share to HK$1.044 per share. Details of which
was set out in the Company’s announcement dated 18 February 2021.

©)) Mr. Wong Kai Chun, Keith, is the younger brother of Mr. Wong Kai Chung,
Kevin and Mr. Wong Kai Chi, Kenneth.

All the above outstanding share options shall be vested on the
third anniversary of the respective date of grant. Except for the
vesting period, there is no minimum holding period before the
exercise of the share options.

Further details of the accounting standards and policy adopted
for calculation of fair value of the share options are set out in
note 2(j) and note 23 to the consolidated financial statements
respectively.

The New Share Option Scheme

The Company adopted a new share option scheme on 16
November 2021 (the “New Share Option Scheme”) and will
remain in force for a period of 10 years. The purpose of the
New Share Option Scheme is for the Group to attract, retain
and motivate high-calibre employees to strive towards long term
strategy and goals of the Group and to enable the Company
to grant share options to eligible participants (the “Eligible
Participants”) as incentives and rewards for their contribution to
the Group. A summary of the principal terms of the New Share
Option Scheme is set out below:

()  Eligible Participants shall include (i) any employees,
executives, officers or directors holding salaried office or
employment with the Company or any of its subsidiaries,
and any directors (including executive, non-executive and
independent non-executive directors) of the Company,
who as considered by the Board have contributed to the
Company or any of its subsidiaries; and (ii) any consultants
or advisers who will or have provided services to the
Company or any of its subsidiaries.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)
The New Share Option Scheme (continued)

(i

(i)

(iv)

(vi)

(v

Subject to earlier termination by the Company’s
shareholders in general meeting or by the Board, the New
Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a
period of 10 years commencing from the adoption date.

The maximum number of Shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all share options to be granted under
the New Share Option Scheme is 30,105,267 Shares,
representing 10% of the total issued share capital of the
Company (excluding treasury shares) as at the date of this
annual report.

The number of shares in respect of which share options
may be granted to any individual in any 12-month period is
not permitted to exceed 1% of the shares of the Company
in issue at any point in time, without prior approval from
the Company’s shareholders. Share options granted to
substantial shareholders or independent non-executive
directors in any 12-month period in excess of 0.1% of the
Company’s issued share capital and with a value in excess
of HK$5 million on the date of offer must be approved in
advance by the Company’s independent shareholders.

The option period shall be the period commencing after
the second anniversary of the date upon which the share
option is deemed to be granted and accepted or such
period as the Board may in its absolute discretion to
determine, save that such period shall not exceed 10 years
from the offer date.

An offer of the grant of share options may be accepted
within 14 days from the date of offer. A consideration of
HK$1.00 is payable by the grantee on acceptance of the
grant of an option.

The subscription price of a share in respect of an option
granted under the New Share Option Scheme shall be a
price determined by the Board and shall be at least the
highest of (a) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the
daily quotation sheets of the Stock Exchange on the offer
date; (b) the average closing price of the Shares as stated
in the daily quotation sheets of the Stock Exchange for the
five Business Days immediately preceding the offer date;
and (c) the nominal value of the Shares.

During the year ended 30 June 2025, no share options were
granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed under the New Share
Option Scheme.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)

The New Share Option Scheme (continued)

As at 1 July 2024 and 30 June 2025, the number of share
options available for grant under the New Share Option Scheme
was 30,105,267, representing 10% of the total issued share
capital of the Company as at the date of this annual report. As
at 30 June 2025, the number of shares may be issued in respect
of share options granted under the New Share Option Scheme
was nil.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Share Option
Scheme”, no equity-linked agreements were entered into by the
Company during the year ended 30 June 2025.

DIRECTORS’ OR CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS

As at 30 June 2025, the interests and short positions of
the Directors or the chief executives of the Company in the
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or
its associated corporations within the meaning of Part XV of
the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFQ”), which were
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests
and short positions which they have taken or deemed to have
under such provisions of the SFO), or which were required to be
entered in the register maintained by the Company pursuant to
Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code, were as
follows:
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DIRECTORS’ OR CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS (continued)

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

&

SwE

EETSRITRAEZER ®

Long positions: THA
Ordinary shares of HK$0.50 each of the Company KRG &R EEO0.60;% T2 & E R
1 ] | | |
Number of Percentage
Number of  share options of the issued
issued ordinary held share capital
shares held (note 1) Total Interests of the Company
Name of Director Capacity FEERT FEERES EARTERT
BEspg &% EEREA (B&E1) Y- REEA
1 ] | | |
Mr. Wong Chung Chong Beneficial owner and interests held by spouse and 89,603,680 - 89,503,680 29.73%
ENALE a controlled corporation and persons acting in
concert (note 2)
ERRAARARBRREEERA ERR
—HTBAT (i)
Mr. Wong Kai Chung, Kevin Interests held by a controlled corporation and 89,203,680 - 89,503,680 29.73%
BRELE persons acting in concert (note 3)
BREHEERE R R-FIBAT (H5E3)
Beneficial owner - 300,000
EREAA
Mr. Wong Kai Chi, Kenneth Persons acting in concert (note 4) 89,203,680 - 89,503,680 29.73%
BRERE —HaPAL (W)
Beneficial owner - 300,000
ExEAA
Mr. Herman Van de Velde Interests held by a controlled corporation (note 5) 77,258,590 - 77,258,590 25.66%
Herman Van de VeldeZt = AR B EESE 2 Ex (155)
Mr. Leung Ying Wah, Lambert  Beneficial owner 112,000 - 112,000 0.04%
REFERE ExBEAA
Ms. Leung Churk Yin, Jeanny ~ Beneficial owner 19,745 - 19,745 0.01%
2 NE ERERA
EENERERAR | ZZEHFFRHR e 35 00O
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DIRECTORS’ OR CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS (continued)

Notes:

1. Details of the share options granted to the Directors by the Company are set
out in the section headed “Share Option Scheme” of this report.

2. 6,474,304 shares were beneficially owned by Mr. Wong Chung Chong
(“Mr. Wong”) whereas 308,000 shares were held by Ms. Chen He Lin, the
spouse of Mr. Wong and 73,245,645 shares were registered in the name
of High Union Holdings Inc. (“High Union”), the shares of which were held
by Mr. Wong. 8,575,731 shares were registered in the name of Triple
Gains Ventures Limited (“TGV”), 41.36% equity interest of which was held
by Mr. Wong Kai Chung, Kevin (“Mr. Kevin Wong”), and 9,475,731 shares
were deemed to be interested by Mr. Wong who was a party to certain
agreements to which sections 317(1)(a) and/or (b) of the SFO (Cap. 571)
apply.

3. 8,575,731 shares were held by TGV, 41.36% equity interest of which
was held by Mr. Kevin Wong, and 80,627,949 shares were deemed to be
interested by Mr. Kevin Wong who was a party to certain agreements to
which sections 317(1)(a) and/or (b) of the SFO (Cap. 571) apply.

4. 89,203,680 shares were deemed to be interested by Mr. Kenneth Wong
who was a party to certain agreements to which sections 317(1)(a) and/or
(b) of the SFO (Cap. 571) apply.

5. 77,258,590 shares were held by VdV. Mr. Herman Van de Velde held an
indirect equity interest in Van de Velde Holding N.V. which in turn directly
held 56.26% of the equity interest of VdV.

Certain nominee shares in the Company’s subsidiaries were
held by Mr. Wong in trust for the Company’s subsidiaries as at
30 June 2025.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors nor his/her
associates had any interests or short positions in any shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS

As at 30 June 2025, the register of substantial shareholders
maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the
SFO and as far as was known to the Directors of the Company,
persons (other than the Directors) who had interests or short
positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company
which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO were as
follows:

Long positions:
Ordinary shares of HK$0.50 each of the Company

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
BEEEHE

FTERRES

RZZB-ZRAFANA=ZTH REARBZERE
H R HIEGHIEIBEREF 2 T MR ERLMAC
8 MBARBESZAMA AT AL (EERIN)
REARB ZBHIBBAEOPHEEREIE SR
H G HRPIEXVER FE2 R F37 B Z R AR AR
AIWECBEIIXE

R
A2\ r] R E](B0.50;E .2 B R

Name of Shareholder Capacity
BREEE EB 55

Percentage of
Number of the issued share

issued ordinary capital of the
shares held Company
FFE®T EERATACRT
ZEREE BAEBDE

High Union Beneficial owner and persons acting in 89,503,680 29.73%

concert (note 1)

BEalEE AR —BITBA L (FIE1)

TGV Beneficial owner and persons acting in 89,503,680 29.73%

concert (note 2)

BESBAAR—BITE AL (HE2)

VadVv Beneficial owner 77,258,590 25.66%
EnEA A
Mr. David Michael Webb and Interests held by controlled corporations 27,664,000 9.19%
Ms. Karen Anne Webb (note 3)

David Michael Webb4t 4 & X sEEFE 2w (M)

Karen Anne Webb#Z =

Notes:

1. 73,245,645 shares were beneficially owned by High Union whereas
16,258,035 shares were deemed to be interested by High Union which was
a party to certain agreements to which sections 317(1)(a) and/or (b) of the
SFO (Cap. 571) apply.

2. 8,575,731 shares were beneficially owned by TGV whereas 80,927,949
shares were deemed to be interested by TGV which was a party to certain
agreements to which sections 317(1)(a) and/or (b) of the SFO (Cap. 571)
apply.

3. 13,124,920 shares were held by Preferable Situation Assets Limited and
14,539,080 shares were held by Member One Limited, the shares of which
were jointly wholly-owned by Mr. David Michael Webb and Ms. Karen Anne
Webb.

SEBNERERAT | ZE-HFEFH o

GEE

1. 73,245,6450% I {5 fAHigh UnionE 25 # & - MHigh
UniontE B & B AR E57T1E B H LB E KA E317(1)
@k /sb)ffEBERZETHiE 2 85 & AR
16,258,035 iz i) R H#E B gz ©

2. 8,575,731 BN EBTGVEZH A - MTGVIEAE B A
BISEE7T1E B H R EE G 55317(1) (@)K =k(b)i5iE A
2 & T 2 5] 8975 i #18 A 7280,927,9498% ik 1) #
RS -

3.  Preferable Situation Assets Limited ##& 13,124,920
A& B% 17 ™ Member One Limited ¥4 14,539,080 %
B fn - Eathg{n B David Michael Webb %t 4 K Karen
Anne Webb Z t R & &#HH -
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company’s shares during the year
ended 30 June 2025.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s Bye-laws although there are no restrictions against
such rights under the laws in Bermuda which would oblige the
Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
Shareholders.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The respective percentages of the Group’s purchases from
major suppliers and revenue attributable to major customers for
the year ended 30 June 2025, were as follows:

—  Percentage of purchases attributable to the 17%
Group’s largest supplier

—  Percentage of purchases attributable to the 36%
Group’s five largest suppliers

—  Percentage of revenue attributable to the Group’s 49%
largest customer

—  Percentage of revenue attributable to the Group’s 83%

five largest customers

During the year, Mr. Herman Van de Velde, a non-executive
Director of the Company, has a beneficial interest in VdV, which
is one of the Group’s five largest customers.

All transactions between the Group and the customers
concerned were carried out on normal commercial terms.

CHARITABLE DONATION
During the year, the Group made charitable donations
amounting to HK$797,000 (2024: HK$65,000).
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EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emoluments of the Directors are determined by the Board,
as authorized by the Shareholders at the general meetings, with
reference to Directors’ duties, responsibilities and performance
and the results of the Group. Details of remuneration of Directors
on an individual basis are disclosed in this report.

The Group established a Compensation Committee in 2001 and
its functions and duties are, inter alia, to review and recommend
to the Board the overall remuneration policy of the Group as well
as the remuneration packages for executive Directors.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

Information on the Group’s retirement benefit schemes is set out
in note 24 to the consolidated financial statements.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, the
Company has maintained sufficient public float throughout the
year ended 30 June 2025 as required under the Listing Rules of
the Stock Exchange.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining high standards
of corporate governance principles and practices and has
throughout the year, except for the deviations stated and
explained in the Corporate Governance Report set out on pages
41 to 60 of this report, complied with the code provisions as
set out in the Corporate Governance Code, Appendix C1 to the
Listing Rules of the Stock Exchange.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in
Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules of the Stock Exchange as
its own code for dealing in securities of the Company by the
Directors. Based on specific enquiry made with all Directors,
the Company considers that the Directors complied with the
required standard as set out in the Model Code throughout the
year under review.

Employees who are likely to be in possession of inside
information of the Company are also subject to compliance with
guidelines on no less exacting terms than the Model Code.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee, together with the management and the
Company’s external auditors, have reviewed the accounting
principles and practices adopted by the Group and discussed
risk management and internal controls systems and financial
reporting matters, and reviewed the financial results for the year
ended 30 June 2025.

AUDITOR

KPMG has resigned as the auditor of the Company and
SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited (“ShineWing”) was then
appointed as auditor of the Company on 5 May 2023 to fill the
casual vacancy following the resignation of KPMG. Save as
disclosed above, there has been no change in auditor in the
preceding three years.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 30
June 2025 have been audited by ShineWing who will retire and,
being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment. A resolution
for the re-appointment of ShineWing as the Company’s auditors
will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Wong Chung Chong
Chairman
Hong Kong

25 September 2025
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Group is committed to maintaining high standards
of corporate governance principles and practices with an
emphasis on enhancing transparency and accountability and
ensuring the application of these principles and practices
throughout the Group, striving to deliver long term values to
shareholders and drive sustainable growth for the stakeholders.

The Company has, throughout the year under review, complied
with the code provisions (the “Code Provisions”) as set out in the
Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”), Appendix C1 to
the Listing Rules of the Stock Exchange, except for the following
deviation:

Code Provision B.2.2 provides that every director, including
those appointed for a specific term, should be subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years. The
Chairman shall not, while holding such office, be subject to
retirement by rotation or be taken into account in determining
the number of Directors to retire each year. In the opinion
of the Board, it is important for the stability and growth of
the Company that there is, and is seen to be, continuity of
leadership in the role of Chairman and, in consequence, the
Board is of the view that the Chairman should not be subject
to retirement by rotation or hold office for a limited term at the
present time.

The Board is pleased to present the key corporate governance
principles and practices followed by the Company during the
year.

BOARD COMPOSITION

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprises
nine Directors, including three executive Directors, two
non-executive Directors and four independent non-executive
Directors. The Company has appointed a sufficient number of
independent non-executive Directors representing at least one
third of the Board, and two of them have appropriate accounting
professional qualifications. The composition of the Board by
category is disclosed in all corporate communications and the
updated biographical details of the Directors are set out in this
annual report under the section headed “Biographical Details of
Directors and Senior Management” and on the website of the
Company.
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BOARD COMPOSITION (continued)

The composition of the Board represents a well-balanced
mixture of skills, knowledge, experience and diversity
appropriate for the requirements of the business of the
Company. Review of the Board composition is made regularly
by the nomination committee of the Company. A list of Directors
and their roles and functions is published on the websites of the
Stock Exchange and the Company.

BOARD RESPONSIBILITIES AND DELEGATION

The Board collectively determines the overall strategies and
monitors the performance of the Group. The roles of the
Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer are clearly segregated.
The Chairman, Mr. Wong Chung Chong focuses on managing
the Board issues and supervising the management team in
adherence to the long term strategic development of the Group.
The Chief Executive Officer, Mr. Wong Kai Chung, Kevin is
responsible for creating and directing the Group’s strategy,
managing overall performance, organization and operations. He
has extensive experience in business development, operations,
supply chain, finance and corporate development. The
Managing Director, Mr. Wong Kai Chi, Kenneth is responsible
for the Group’s business development and marketing functions.
The Chairman plays a key role in driving corporate governance
development and a leading role in the corporate governance
function held by the Board. The Board, with the support of
the Chief Executive Officer, establishes the Group’s vision,
mission and values and develops strategies to foster the
Company’s corporate culture aligned with long-term sustainable
development. Mr. Wong Chung Chong is the father of Mr. Wong
Kai Chi, Kenneth and Mr. Wong Kai Chung, Kevin. Mr. Wong Kai
Chi, Kenneth is the elder brother of Mr. Wong Kai Chung, Kevin.
Mr. Herman Van de Velde is the father of Ms. Lien Van de Velde,
both are non-executive Directors.

The daily management, operation and administration functions
of the Company are delegated to the executive Directors and
senior management. All the significant issues are reported to the
Board on a regular basis.

There is a prescribed list of matters reserved for Board approval,
including:

i.  long-term objectives and strategies;

i. audited financial statements and associated
materials; review and approve interim and final results
announcements and quarterly operational updates;
convening general meetings;
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BOARD RESPONSIBILITIES AND DELEGATION
(continued)

iii. recommendations as to dividend;

iv. appointment, removal or re-designation of Directors;

v. remuneration of non-executive Directors and changes
in terms and conditions of employment of executive
Directors;

vi. material connected transactions;

vii. material acquisitions, disposals or joint-venture
arrangements;

vii. “material raising of external finance;
ix. appointment and removal of external auditors;
X. annual capital expenditure budget;

xi. matters involving a conflict of interest for a substantial
shareholder or Director; and

xii. create, issue, purchase, redeem or otherwise reorganize
the Company’s share capital.

For any matters that involve a conflict of interest for a substantial
shareholder or Director, such matters are considered and
approved by the full Board except those Directors who have
conflict of interests in such matters.

Directors are provided at quarterly Board meetings with
comprehensive reports on the management’s strategic plans,
updates on business, financial objectives, plans and actions.

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF
DIRECTORS

The non-executive Directors are not appointed for a specific
term and the Company’s Bye-laws provided that at each
annual general meeting one-third of the Directors for the time
being or, if the number is not three or a multiple of three, the
number nearest to but not less than one-third shall retire from
office. All Directors, except for the Chairman, shall be subject
to retirement by rotation and re-election at least once every
three years in accordance with the Company’s Bye-laws. The
Chairman shall not, whilst holding such office, be subject to
retirement by rotation or be taken into account in determining
the number of Directors to retire in each year.
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APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF
DIRECTORS (continued)

In the opinion of the Board, it is important for the stability
and growth of the Company that there is, and is seen to
be, continuity of leadership in the role of Chairman and, in
consequence, the Board is of the view that the Chairman should
not be subject to retirement by rotation or hold office for a limited
term at the present time.

In accordance with the Company’s Bye-laws, any Director
appointed to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the Board
shall hold office until the first annual general meeting of the
Company after his/her appointment and shall then be eligible for
re-election at such meeting.

BOARD, BOARD COMMITTEE AND
SHAREHOLDERS’ MEETINGS

The Board held four regular meetings during the year ended
30 June 2025. Regular Board meetings are scheduled at least
three months in advance to give Directors the opportunity to
include matters in the agenda and at least 14 days formal notice
is given before each regular Board meeting. The Board papers
and related materials are circulated to Directors three days prior
to Board meetings and Board committee meetings.

The Directors are given an opportunity to comment on draft
Board minutes and minutes of Board committee meetings which
are sent to Directors within a reasonable time frame of the
relevant meeting. The signed minutes are placed on record after
the same have been reviewed and agreed amongst the Board
members and are open for inspection at any time by Directors.

The Company established mechanism to ensure independent
views and input are available to the Board. The Directors
participate in Board meetings with open discussions, the
independent non-executive Directors are encouraged to bring
independent judgments and provide impartial advice to the
Board. They perform their duties as independent non-executive
Directors by actively participating the Board meetings,
committees meetings and general meetings. The Directors at
all times have full and timely access to all the information of
the Group. In addition, the Directors can obtain independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the
expense of the Company for discharging their duties. The Board
reviewed the implementation of the mechanism and considered
that such mechanism is effective.
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BOARD, BOARD COMMITTEE AND

SHAREHOLDERS’ MEETINGS (continued)

The attendance of the Directors at Board meetings, committee
meetings and the general meetings of the Company during the

year ended 30 June 2025 were as follows:

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TLEERHmS

Exg EZgZEggeRRRRAE
(&)

REBEE-_ZT_RFA=+tHILFE REF
HEEEEEE ZBESERABRRAGZH
[BRCERFFIBH AT -

I
Number of meetings attended/eligible to attend

EELRRY RERERERNY

Audit Compensation  Nomination General
Board  Committee Committee ~ Committee Meeting*
Exe EnZEg ¥MZEEE REZEE RRAE

Executive Directors BiTEE
Mr. Wong Chung Chong "R EE(EE)

(Chairman) 4/4 - - - 11
Mr. Wong Kai Chung, Kevin BERBREE(EEHTTE)

(Chief Executive Officer) 4/4 - - - 1/1
Mr. Wong Kai Chi, Kenneth BERB S E (EFLHE)

(Managing Director) 4/4 - - 11 11
Non-executive Directors FHTES
Mr. Herman Van de Velde Herman Van de Velde’t £ 4/4 - 2/2 11 1/1
Ms. Lien Van de Velde Lien Van de VeldeZ £ 4/4 - - - 11
Independent Non-executive BIFHTES

Directors
Ms. Leung Churk Yin, Jeanny 2% A/)ME 4/4 3/3 2/2 1/1 11
Mr. Leung Ying Wah, Lambert ~ R4 4/4 3/3 212 1/1 1/1
Mr. Wang Man Hon, Sidney IXHEE 4/4 3/3 212 1/1 1/1
Mr. Tai Lun, Paul HETE

(appointed on 28 November (R=ZF=-pFE+—H

2024) ZT/NHEZF) 3/3 2/2 171 - -
* An annual general meeting was held on 28 November 2024 (the “AGM”) * RAFE BREBFAE((RREAFREH)ER_-Z

during the year.

Board Committees

The Board has delegated some of its function to the Board
committees, namely Audit Committee, Compensation
Committee and Nomination Committee. All the Committees
have been established with clear and specific terms of reference
in accordance with the requirements of the Code and the terms
of reference are available for review on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company. Each Board committees reports to
the Board their respective decisions and recommendations after
the relevant meetings.
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BOARD, BOARD COMMITTEE AND
SHAREHOLDERS’ MEETINGS (continued)

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee currently consists of four members,
including Mr. Leung Ying Wah, Lambert (chairman of Audit
Committee), Ms. Leung Churk Yin, Jeanny, Mr. Wang Man
Hon, Sidney and Mr. Tai Lun, Paul, all being independent
non-executive Directors.

Under its terms of reference, the Audit Committee reviews
the Group’s financial information and oversees the financial
reporting system, risk management and internal control
systems. The Committee also approves the scope of work of
the internal audit function and oversees the relationship with the
external auditors.

Three meetings have been held during the year ended 30 June
2025. The principal work performed by the Committee during
the year ended 30 June 2025 are summarized below:

— reviewed the Group’s interim and annual results in
accordance with the accounting principles and practices
and the applicable accounting standards;

—  reviewed the external auditor’s audit plan and their relevant
scope of works;

— discussed with the external auditors and reported to the
Board any significant matters arising from the annual audit;

—  considered and reviewed the internal audit planning;

— reviewed the internal audit reports prepared by internal
audit function regarding the risk management and internal
control, and the management’s responses to the findings
by the internal audit function;

—  reviewed the Group’s continuing connected transactions;
and

- recommended to the Board on the re-appointment of
the Company’s external auditors at the annual general
meeting.

The Committee was satisfied as to the overall effectiveness of
the internal controls and risk management process during the
year under review.
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BOARD, BOARD COMMITTEE AND
SHAREHOLDERS’ MEETINGS (continued)

Compensation Committee

The Compensation Committee currently consists of five
members, including the non-executive Director, Mr. Herman
Van de Velde and four independent non-executive Directors,
Mr. Wang Man Hon, Sidney (chairman of Compensation
Committee), Ms. Leung Churk Yin, Jeanny, Mr. Leung Ying Wah,
Lambert and Mr. Tai Lun, Paul.

The Compensation Committee has the responsibility delegated
by the Board to review and make recommendations to the
Board the remuneration packages of individual executive
Directors and senior management, the policy and structure
for all directors’ and senior management’s remuneration and
the establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for
developing remuneration policy.

The Compensation Committee reviews compensation policies
of the Group on a regular basis. The compensation policy of
the Group is designed to reflect performance, complexity and
responsibility with a view to attracting, motivating and retaining
high performing individuals. The Committee ensures that no
individual Director is involved in deciding his own remuneration.

The details of remuneration of Directors are disclosed on
an individual basis in note 7(a) to the consolidated financial
statements. In addition, pursuant to code provision E.1.5 of the
CG Code, the remuneration paid to the members of the senior
management by band for the year ended 30 June 2025 is set
out below:
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Remuneration by bands

Number of person(s)

AE

HK$1,000,001 — HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7T — 1,500,000% 7T 1
HK$1,500,001 - HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7T —2,000,000/% 7T 1
HK$2,000,001 - HK$2,500,000 2,000,0017% 7t —2,500,000/% 7T 4

The Compensation Committee held two meetings during the
year ended 30 June 2025. During the year, the Compensation
Committee has reviewed the remuneration packages of
executive Directors and non-executive Directors, including the
newly appointed Director, and made recommendations to the
Board for approval.
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BOARD, BOARD COMMITTEE AND
SHAREHOLDERS’ MEETINGS (continued)

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee currently comprises six members,
including the executive Director, Mr. Wong Kai Chi, Kenneth,
the non-executive Director, Mr. Herman Van de Velde and four
independent non-executive Directors, Mr. Leung Ying Wah,
Lambert, Ms. Leung Churk Yin, Jeanny (chairman of Nomination
Committee), Mr. Wang Man Hon, Sidney and Mr. Tai Lun, Paul,
representing a majority of independent non-executive Directors.

The Nomination Committee is mainly responsible for reviewing
the structure, size and composition of the Board, assessing
the independence of independent non-executive Directors,
identifying and nominating individuals suitably qualified to
become board members and making recommendations to the
board on the appointment or re-appointment of Directors and
succession planning for Directors. The Committee is authorized
by the Board to seek external legal or other independent
professional advice where necessary.

The Nomination Committee held one meeting during the
year ended 30 June 2025. The principal work performed
by the Committee during the year ended 30 June 2025 are
summarized below:

— assessed the independence of all independent
non-executive directors;

—  reviewed the structure, size and composition of the Board;

— considered and recommended to the Board on the
re-election of directors at the annual general meeting; and

— considered and recommended to the Board on the
appointment of a new independent non-executive Director.

The Board has received from each independent non-executive
Director a written confirmation of their independence pursuant
to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules of the Stock Exchange.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board adopted a Board diversity policy (the “Board
Diversity Policy”) in August 2013 and had reviewed the policy
during the year ended 30 June 2025. The Board Diversity
Policy aims to set out approaches to achieve diversity on the
Company’s Board to improve the Board effectiveness and
better decision making that ultimately leads to better business
success and sustainability. The main objective of the policy
is to provide a guideline to the Nomination Committee in
selecting candidates in terms of their merits and business and
professional backgrounds to the Board with reference to the
Company’s existing and future business development needs.
The Committee considers the benefits of all aspects of diversity,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, professional and business experiences, skKills,
knowledge and length of service (the “Diversity Perspectives”),
in order to maintain an appropriate balance of skills, experience
and diversity perspectives of the Board.

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprises of
seven male Directors and two female Directors with different
age, ethnicity, length of service, professional expertise, business
experiences and knowledge which demonstrate diversity among
the members of the Board. With regards to gender diversity,
the Board has already met the objective of maintaining at least
one female member on its Board. All board appointments
are based on meritocracy, and candidates will be considered
against variety of criteria, having due regard for the benefits of
diversity on the Board. We will also apply similar considerations
as directors when selecting potential candidates for senior
management from time to time.

As at 30 June 2025, the workforce (including senior
management) of the Group comprised 18.3% of male and
81.7% of female. Being in intimate apparel industry, our
workforce is predominantly female. We are aware of the
challenges in increasing the male workforce due to the nature
of our business operations, therefore we do not set a specific
gender ratio to achieve. Nevertheless, we are committed to
promoting workplace diversity and ensuring that all employees
are treated equally without discrimination.
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NOMINATION POLICY

The Board adopted a nomination policy in May 2019 which set
out the criteria and procedures when considering the candidates
to be appointed or re-appointed as Directors of the Company.
The Nomination Committee will consider the following factors
when proposing a candidate for nomination as a Director of the
Company or a Director for re-election:

— Diversity in all aspects, including but not limited the
Diversity Perspectives as described above;

—  The candidate or the re-elected Director is able to commit
and devote sufficient time to carry out his/her duties;

—  The potential or actual conflicts of interest of the candidate
or the re-elected Director;

— In case of the appointment of an independent
non-executive Director, compliance with the independence
criteria set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules; and

— Other relevant factors considered by Nomination
Committee on a case by case basis.

The nomination policy set out the nomination procedures
for appointing a new Director. The Nomination Committee
shall identify candidates pursuant to the criteria set out in the
nomination policy, evaluate the candidates and recommend to
the Board the appointment of Director. The Board is provided
with the profiles of candidates and shall decide the appointment
based upon the recommendation of the Nomination Committee.
Regarding the re-election of the retiring Directors at the general
meeting, the Nomination Committee shall review and assess if
the retiring Directors meet the criteria set out in the policy and
make recommendation to the Board in respect of the proposed
re-appointment of Directors.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROLS

The Board, with the support of Audit Committee and internal
audit function, has overall responsibility for establishing and
maintaining appropriate risk management and internal control
systems of the Group and reviewing their effectiveness.

The Group has in place the risk management and internal
control systems which are designed in light of the nature of
business as well as the organization structure. The Group
has established a risk management policy and it has adopted
a holistic approach to identify, assess, mitigate, report and
monitor the risks, including ESG risks. The management
assessed the likelihood of risk occurrence, provide mitigation
plans and monitor the risk management progress. Findings and
recommendations are reported regularly to the Audit Committee
and the Board.

The Group’s internal control system includes a defined
management structure with limits of authority and is designed
to further the achievement of business objectives. The Group
also formulated a set of internal company policies to establish
standards in areas including finance, human resources,
operations, health and safety and information technology. These
policies aim to safeguard assets against unauthorized use
or disposition, ensure the maintenance of proper accounting
records for the provision of reliable financial information for
internal use or publication, promote efficient and effective
operations and ensure compliance with relevant legislation and
regulations.

The risk management and internal control systems are designed
to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against
material misstatement or loss and to manage rather than
eliminate risks of failure in operational systems and achievement
of the Group’s objectives. The management adopts a hands-on
approach to the operations of the business and delegation of
authority is clearly defined.

SEENBERARAT | —E-RHEFR e

TLEERHmS

[ B R e X AR B 4

EEREENERERABERBERHT -
FHARATEERTRAREE AR ED
BAEEERG - W ER -

AEBREEAREERABEZRG  ZESR
TEEBHE RABRBMERL - AEED
R E IR BR R SRR RS T S AR - ARG
W - HmEREZRR  BRERR - HEkER
k- EREEFEEERR AN  RER
RAIAMERRAREERF HEERRER
ERETHERERZBEENESFS -

AEEZABEERREREENERBZETE
EERE BNAE—TEINXKERE LK
BAHE-—ENBRAERE  AEFBE - AD
BR -2E& RBEMZEZREMAMKEIER
URE - ZERREEREEERWIDEER
HRE BMARZLEFEGCHEURHRTEM
BERERERE M T - e S RME R
BEANRERNTEBENEIER -

FERERELRAMEERGEER TS HEEANR
MRS BRIFL A EMIFRE 2 RE - AR
EEMFEREZERRRARNELERNAEE
EfRzEABRMKR BEEEHEBLERNER
FE - MELEDBABEBRE

51

ceoO



OeO 52

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
TREBRE

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROLS (continued)

The Company has engaged a professional consulting firm to
conduct the internal audit function, which is responsible for
performing regular, systematic and independent reviews of
the Group’s risk management and internal control systems;
developing internal audit plans and reporting the internal audit
results to the management and the Audit Committee annually.
To maintain independence, the internal audit function reports
directly to the Audit Committee and the internal audit plan was
reviewed and approved by the Audit Committee. During the
year ended 30 June 2025, the professional consulting firm
conducted reviews on certain operation cycles of the Group,
reported the results of the reviews and made recommendations
to the Audit Committee. The Group will follow up with the
recommendations and take appropriate measures on internal
controls.

The Board, through the Audit Committee, has reviewed the
annual review on risk management and internal control systems
of the Group and were satisfied with the effectiveness and
adequacy of the risk management and internal control systems
of the Group during the year under review.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT
OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors are responsible for overseeing the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the
Group as at the end of the financial year and of their respective
profit or loss for the year then ended and are in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards published by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and
requirements of the Companies Ordinance. The Directors
annually acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements of the Group.

In preparing the financial statements, the Directors are required
to:

e  select suitable accounting policies and apply them on a
consistent basis, making judgments and estimates that are
prudent, fair and reasonable;

e state the reasons for any significant departure from
accounting standards; and

e prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis,
unless it is not appropriate to assume that the Company
and the Group will continue in business for the foreseeable
future.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT
OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

The Directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting
records, for safeguarding the assets of the Company and the
Group and for taking reasonable steps for the prevention of
fraud and other irregularities. The Directors are not aware of any
matters and uncertainties that may cast significant doubt upon
the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The management provides the Directors with monthly updates
giving a balanced and understandable assessment of the
Group’s performance, position and prospect in sufficient detail
to enable the Directors to discharge their duties.

The statement by the external auditor of the Company regarding
their responsibilities on the financial statements of the Group is
set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 61 to 68
of this annual report.

ACCOUNTING, INTERNAL AUDIT AND
FINANCIAL REPORTING FUNCTIONS

There have been sufficient resources put in place within the
Group to perform the accounting, internal audit and financial
reporting functions. The finance team, led by the Chief Financial
Officer, with the support of a group of accounting professionals,
is responsible for the oversight of the Group’s finance and
control functions.

Adequate training is provided to the finance team and relevant
staffs. In addition to the “On-the-job” and internal training, senior
staff will regularly attend seminars with topics of relevance to
them in discharging their duties, updating their professional
knowledge as well as coaching their subordinates.

The Board has reviewed the adequacy of resources,
qualifications and experience of staff of the Group’s accounting,
internal audit and financial reporting functions, and their training
programmes and budget during the year under review and
considered that the Group has adequate of resources with
staff qualifications and experience necessary for the effective
performance of the Group’s accounting, internal audit and
financial reporting functions.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board adopted a dividend policy in February 2019
pursuant to which the Board has the discretion to determine
the declaration and payment of dividends to the Shareholders.
The Board will take into account the following factors when
considering the declaration and payment of dividends to the
Shareholders:

the Group’s actual and expected financial performance;

— retained earnings and distributable reserves of the
Company and each of the members of Group;

— the current and future operations, liquidity position and
capital requirements of the Group;

— economic conditions and other internal or external factors
that may have an impact on the business or financial
performance and position of the Group;

— the Group’s business strategies, including future cash
commitments and investment needs to sustain the
long-term growth aspect of the business;

—  contractual restrictions on the payment of dividends by the
Company to the Shareholders or by the subsidiaries to the
Company, if any; and

- other factors that the Board deems relevant.

CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

On appointment to the Board, each Director receives a
comprehensive induction package to ensure sufficient
awareness of director’s duties, responsibilities and obligations
under the Listing Rules and other relevant regulatory
requirements. The induction package shall cover the statutory
and regulatory obligations as a director and the Group’s
business and operations.

Pursuant to the CG Code, all Directors should participate in
continuous professional development to develop and refresh
their knowledge and skills. During the year, all Directors have
complied with the code provision in relation to continuous
professional development. The Directors’ knowledge and skills
are continuously developed and refreshed by reading materials,
webcast and guidelines on subjects relating to the updates on
Listing Rules, applicable regulatory requirements and corporate
governance practices. The Company Secretary from time to
time provided all Directors with relevant Directors’ guides for
their discharge of duties and updates on changes of relevant
rules and regulations.
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CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL BFEEXZRRE W@

DEVELOPMENT (continued)

The records of the Directors’ training during the year ended 30 REZ T -_AFENA=1THLEFERN E=
June 2025 are as follows: BRI T

Type of Training

S5 3
1 |

Executive Directors HTES

Mr. Wong Chung Chong (Chairman) |INARLE (FE) A

Mr. Wong Kai Chung, Kevin (Chief Executive Officer) — &RUBR%E 4 (B /EH7TE) A

Mr. Wong Kai Chi, Kenneth (Managing Director) EMERE (EFLLE) A

Non-executive Directors FHITES

Mr. Herman Van de Velde Herman Van de Veldest &= A

Ms. Lien Van de Velde Lien Van de VeldeZZ &= A

Independent Non-executive Directors BIYFHTES

Ms. Leung Churk Yin, Jeanny Rigoh/NB A

Mr. Leung Ying Wah, Lambert RELEFE A

Mr. Wang Man Hon, Sidney T AL A

Mr. Tai Lun, Paul (appointed on 28 November 2024) &% & A&B
(R=ZFZpF+—A=+/VHEZF) AKB

A:  Attending training sessions, reading materials, Webcast and/or Guidelines A 2EEYIEE  BEME BT ek SiES
B:  Induction training on director’s appointment B:  EEAREY

Mr. Tai Lun, Paul, who was appointed during the year, had RERNEEZETHNEBLEER ST _NFE+ A
obtained the legal advice referred to in Rule 3.09D of the Listing J\ HEX{8 1 # B FE3.09DIE Tl A2 = R, »
Rules and he has confirmed he understood his obligations as a W EBZHBEESRA AT EENET -
director of the Company on 8 October 2024.

AUDITOR = EEm
The auditors’ remuneration in respect of the audit services HE_-_ZET-_AEXA=THIFEESTHEBAY

related to the audit for the year ended 30 June 2025 paid or FE#ZR&E M E N ER T AD T INEZ S ED -
payable to the external auditor, ShineWing and its network firms, (kS ML EBE K E 2 S8 S 95 7 5
amounted to HK$1,315,000 and HK$248,000 respectively. 1,315,000/ T &2 248,000/8 JT °

INSURANCE FOR DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS’ E=ENK B ESERE
LIABILITY

There is in place appropriate insurance coverage on directors’ REIEEERN AR A CAESE LSRN ER
and officers’ liability in respect of legal action against Directors Bi#E & 2 & (1R -
and officers of the Company.
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in
Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules (the “Model Code”) as its own
code for Directors’ dealings in securities of the Company.

Having made specific enquiries, the Company confirmed that
each of the Directors has complied with the required standards
during the year.

Employees who are likely to be in possession of inside
information of the Company are also subject to compliance with
guidelines on no less exacting terms than the Model Code.

INTERNAL PROCEDURES AND CONTROLS
FOR DISSEMINATION OF INSIDE
INFORMATION

The Company has developed a policy which set out internal
procedures and controls for the handling and dissemination of
inside information. The Group discloses inside information to the
public as soon as reasonably practicable unless the information
falls within any of the safe harbors as provided in the Securities
and Futures Ordinance. Before the information is fully disclosed
to the public, the Group ensures the information is kept strictly
confidential. If the Group believes that the necessary degree of
confidentiality cannot be maintained or that confidentiality may
have been breached, the Group would immediately disclose the
information to the public. The Group is committed to ensure that
information contained in announcement or circulars are not false
or misleading as to a material fact, or false or misleading through
the omission of a material fact in view of presenting information
in a clear and balanced way, which requires equal disclosure of
both positive and negative facts.

The Board is aware of the requirements under the Listing
Rules about timely disclosure of inside information regarding
the Company and will arrange to issue and publish such
announcements as and when the occasions arise. The
Company Secretary will consult and seek legal advice on the
materiality and sensitivity of certain material and connected
transactions and advise the Board accordingly.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Yim Wing Sze is the company secretary of the Company.
The company secretary is an employee of the Company and
reports to the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer. The
company secretary is responsible for ensuring that Board
procedures are complied with and advises the Board on
corporate governance and compliance matters. The Directors
have direct access to the Company Secretary. The selection,
appointment or dismissal of the Company Secretary is approved
by the Board. The company secretary has taken no less than 15
hours of relevant professional training during the year.

BUSINESS INTEGRITY

Maintaining the highest professional and ethical standards is
central to the Group’s core operating philosophy. The Group
has formally adopted a code of conduct (the “Code of Conduct”)
addressing guiding principles governing conduct of Directors,
management and employees. The Code is intended to establish
standards of conduct encompassing the areas in which the
business operates.

In summary, executives and employees of the Group are
expected to:

e conduct business of the Group in full compliance with both
the letter and spirit of the Law and of the Code of Conduct;

° maintain the highest possible standards in the way we
operate and the way we treat our employees in order to
satisfy the expectations of both the business and social
communities;

° use confidential information properly;

° recognize and avoid conflicts of interest;

° protect the ownership of property of the Group, including
information, products, rights and services; and

e conduct outside activities in a way which does not
compromise the individual or the Group.

There is a reporting system for any code violations. The
Board reviews the Code of Conduct and monitors its effective
implementation periodically. There are also systems in place
for risk assessment, risk identification and management, and
timely corrective measures for sustainability and to nourish
improvement for the business of the Group.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
AND SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

The Company considers that effective communication with
Shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and
investor understanding of the Group’s business performance,
operations and strategies. The Company has adopted a
Shareholders Communication Policy, which is available on
the Company’s website (www.topform.group), setting out the
Company’s procedures in providing the Shareholders and
the potential investors with ready, equal and timely access to
balanced and understandable information about the Company,
with a view to enabling the Shareholders to exercise their rights
in an informed manner and to allow the Shareholders and the
investment community to engage actively with the Company.

Information is communicated to the Shareholders mainly
through the Company’s financial reports (interim and annual
reports), quarterly operational updates, annual general meetings
and other general meetings that may be convened, by making
available all the disclosures published on the website of the
Stock Exchange and its corporate communications and other
corporate publications on the Company’s website.

During the year, an annual general meeting was held at which,
the Chairman of the Board, the Chief Executive Officer, the
Managing Director and the chairman or the members of
respective Board committees attended the said meeting and
were available to answer questions from Shareholders.

The Shareholders should direct their questions about their
shareholdings to the Company’s Branch Share Registrar in
Hong Kong. The Shareholders may at any time make a request
for the Company’s information to the extent such information is
publicly available.

The Board has reviewed the Shareholders Communication
Policy during the year and considered that its existing
communication channels with the Shareholders and investors
are effective in facilitating ongoing communication and dialogue
between the Shareholders and the Company.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
AND SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS (continued)

Under the Company’s Bye-laws and the relevant policies and
procedures of the Group, the Shareholders have, among others,
the following rights:

Procedures for shareholders to convene a special
general meeting (“SGM”)

Shareholders holding not less than one-tenth of the paid-up
capital of the Company can deposit a written request to the
Board at both the principal office and registered office, for the
attention of the Company Secretary, to convene a SGM.

The written request by shareholders must state the purposes of
the meeting, signed by the Shareholders concerned and may
consist of several documents in like form, each signed by one or
more of those Shareholders.

The request will be verified with the Company’s Branch Share
Registrar and upon their confirmation that the request is proper
and in order, the Company Secretary will ask the Board of
Directors to convene a SGM by serving sufficient notice in
accordance with the statutory requirements to all the registered
Shareholders. On the contrary, if the request has been verified
as not in order, the Shareholders concerned will be advised of
this outcome and accordingly, a SGM will not be convened as
requested.

The notice period to be given to all the registered Shareholders
for consideration of the proposal raised by the Shareholders
concerned at a SGM varies according to the nature of the
proposal. Details of procedures are set out in the Company’s
website.

Procedures for sending enquiries to the Board

The enquiries must be in writing with the detailed contact
information of the requisitionists and deposited with the Board
or the Company Secretary at the Company’s principal place
of business in Hong Kong at 7/F, Port 33, 33 Tseuk Luk
Street, San Po Kong, Kowloon, Hong Kong, or by email to
cosec@topform.group.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
TREBRE

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
AND SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS (continued)

Procedures for shareholders to put forward
proposals at general meetings

Shareholders holding not less than one-twentieth of the total
voting rights of all Shareholders having the right to vote at the
general meeting; or not less than 100 Shareholders holding
shares in the Company, can submit a written request to move a
resolution at the meeting.

The request will be verified with the Company’s Branch
Share Registrar and upon their confirmation that the request
is proper and in order, the Company Secretary will ask the
Board of Directors to include the resolution in the agenda for
the meeting provided that the Shareholders concerned have
deposited a sum of money reasonably sufficient to meet the
Company’s expenses in serving the notice of the resolution
and circulating the statement submitted by the Shareholders
concerned in accordance with the statutory requirements to all
the registered Shareholders. Details of procedures are set out in
the Company’s website.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENT

There was no change in the Memorandum of Association and
Bye-laws of the Company during the year ended 30 June
2025. The latest version of constitutional document is available
on the website of the Company and the website of the Stock
Exchange.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

L] L]
L] L] L]
[ ] °
.-.0.0' SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited
..0.. 17/F, Chubb Tower, Windsor House,

311 Gloucester Road,

W

To the Shareholders of Top Form International Limited
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Top
Form International Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(hereinafter collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on
pages 69 to 176, which comprise the consolidated statement
of financial position as at 30 June 2025, the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement
of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 30 June 2025 and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the
“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (“the Code”) and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B AZBEN RS

KEY AUDIT MATTER

Key audit matter is the matter that, in our professional
judgement, was of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. This
matter was addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on

this matter.

Impairment of property, plant and equipment

BRRESEE

REBERZM B EHE
AR S A
EEREE

A=

BitEE W+

MREtEERRME
MBHRERPHZERZFIE - LM
MBREMRNLERERGERE
SR EREBRRER -

Y%~ BB R RERNRE

Refer to note 11 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in note 2(m) to the

consolidated financial statements.
IR S BEIREMF 11 REGE M HEREZN d2(m).e S5 H R
The Key Audit Matter

BREETEER

In view of the Group’s current year performance, management’s
expectations for the market development and the uncertain
economic environment, management assesses property, plant
and equipment for potential impairment. As at 30 June 2025,
the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment amounted
to approximately HK$151,612,000.

N EEECAFERR  BREHMISEE CTEHRTH
BIMKEERE EEERGTEYE BRELAREBEZEER
B-RZEZRAFA=1TH 9% BELARBIEEDELY
#%151,612,0007% 7T °

In order to determine the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit (“CGU”) for which indicators of impairment
was identified, management prepared a value in use calculation
using a discounted cash flow forecast.

RETHNINERETFRREELEM (REEEEM]) W
AlEEsE  BERECHERAMRRERERANGREAEET
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How the matter was addressed in our audit

BANMARESTFEERERAER

Our audit procedures to assess the potential
impairment of property, plant and equipment
included the following:

B EYE - BB NG
ERREFBE TSR

XEH B REETZ

e  obtaining the discounted cash flow analysis
of the CGU prepared by the management
and checking its mathematical accuracy;

e KERERERENBCELABUURES
MEDN - WinE HEBEEM
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
BB EN RS

KEY AUDIT MATTER (continued) HREEE &)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment

Y%~ BB R RERNRE

Refer to note 11 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in note 2(m) to the
consolidated financial statements.
IR IR EN 11 R A7 E B FIREN it2(m) < S5 ©

The Key Audit Matter How the matter was addressed in our audit
BRETTSEE EMuAREFPEEERASERE

The discounted cash flow forecasts used to assess impairment e involving our internal valuation specialists

were based on a number of assumptions which required the to assist us in assessing the methodology
exercise of significant management judgement, in particular in applied by management in its discounted
estimating future revenue, cost of direct materials, staff costs cash flow forecasts with reference to the
and the discount rate applied. requirements of the prevailing accounting

RAEFEBREMNMBRReRERANNIERE TRE  EFEE standards and whether the discount rate
BETEEAME  LEHEMGEETARKKA - BEMEIRA - B adopted in the discounted cash flow forecast
TR R FTRBEIRE - was comparable with those of companies in
the same industry and external market data;
e FBERMOHNIHEERBHEM 22F
A EAMER  FTHERETHEINR
ReEmEBAPMERNTE - UREIE
RenEEAPMEANREXETEE

RATZEH R R RIMET 5 BUE AL

e challenging the key assumptions adopted
by management in the preparation of
the discounted cash flow forecasts by
comparing the most significant inputs in the
discounted cash flow forecasts, including
future revenue, cost of direct materials and
staff costs, with the historical performance
and future strategic plans of the Group;

e BMBEBMEReREEANFIREENHA
B (BREAREKA - BEEM BN LB IK
R)EEERBR BERERKEKRTEE
TR EREEEEREUBRESRE
TR R FTER B B R AR
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B AZBEN RS

KEY AUDIT MATTER (continued) EREEE )

Impairment of property, plant and equipment

M BERRBRREE

Refer to note 11 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in note 2(m) to the
consolidated financial statements.
DI BRI 11 Rb7E B BEIREN it2(m) < S5 ©

The Key Audit Matter How the matter was addressed in our audit

HEETER BANMARESTFREERBAER

We identified assessing potential impairment of property, plant e comparing the key assumptions included in

and equipment as a key audit matter because of the potential the discounted cash flow forecast prepared
significance of any impairment charge to the results of the by management in the prior year with
Group for the year. In addition, forecasting future cash flows the current year’s performance, making
can be inherently subjective and require significant management enquiries of management as to the reasons
judgement and estimation which increase the risk of error or for any significant variations identified and
potential management bias. considering if there was any indication of

BT EME - BERESBENETRERNABRETSE management bias; and
B WHERTAREZERY BXEAFEEENBLTEEZ « BEREEREATFRENURBESTERA

Mo dtdh ARFBARKBREGREFEEENIENLE T2 FEEMEIERRERNFENRRLET

REEEHE LAt EEHHEEEEER T ORBIEM - & MERBERETAMBEREAEZR
MEh TEBEEAFETANEERERE
MR - &

° performing a sensitivity analysis of
the discount rate and gross profit and
considering the resulting impact on the
impairment charge for the year and whether
there were any indicators of management
bias.

o HHREXNEMETHERESNT  UKLE
BHEUEFEREEREENTEURESR
FEEEERANEFMIR -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND AUDITOR’S
REPORT THEREON

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the
information included in the annual report, but does not include
the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work
we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS OF THE
COMPANY AND AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give
a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRS Accounting
Standards issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for
such internal control as the directors of the Company determine
is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going concern
basis of accounting unless the directors of the Company either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B AZBEN RS

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Qur objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion, solely
to you, as a body, in accordance with section 90 of the Bermuda
Companies Act and our agreed terms of engagement, and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

e |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations or the override of internal control.

e  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s
internal control.

e  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors of the Company.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the Company’s
directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a
material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention
in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business units within the
Group as a basis for forming an opinion on the Group
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and review of the audit work performed for
purpose of the group audit. We remain solely responsible
for our audit opinion.
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We communicate with Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B AZBEN RS

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

We also provide Audit Committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence and communicate with them all relationships and
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence and, where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Pang Wai Hang.

SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Pang Wai Hang

Practising Certificate Number: PO5044

Hong Kong
25 September 2025
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

SRERE@mR

for the year ended 30 June 2025 BHE T A F A AA=THILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7R~ )

2025 2024
—E_RHEF T FE
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Bt 5 FET FHET
I I I
Revenue WA 4 1,215,731 1,130,164
Cost of sales $H & B AN (973,757) (874,674)
Gross profit ER 241,974 255,490
Other net income H AUk AE R 5 15,920 21,820
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHAL (44,164) (37,067)
General and administrative expenses —MRITHHAX (222,042) (220,969)
(Loss)/profit from operations s (R, BR (8,312) 19,274
Finance costs VBER 6(a) (21,455) (19,040)
Share of profit of a joint venture Fri&—f& & 2 alE 7 3,739 3,543
Share of profits of associates P& Bt &8 A 505 630 361
(Loss)/profit before taxation BRELAT (B51E) R F 6 (25,398) 4,138
Income tax expense Frisfif 8 (2,590) (2,638)
(Loss)/profit for the year Fr(ER) R (27,988) 1,500
Attributable to: AL -
Equity shareholders of the Company KARERRE (32,609) (2,207)
Non-controlling interests FEERR B 4,621 3,707
(Loss)/profit for the year FR(EBE)RF (27,988) 1,500
Loss per share BRER 10
Basic and diluted ERK#E HK$(0.108)& 7t  HK$(0.007)7% 7T

EEHEBRERLR | CEHFFER
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
melEEkEMAZEIRER

for the year ended 30 June 2025 HEZ T A F A=+ HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7~ )

2025 2024
—E_RE —EZIMF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5 FHET FAT
I I I
(Loss)/profit for the year FR(ER) RR (27,988) 1,500
Other comprehensive HizmksE (Bx)
income/(expense)
Items that will not be subsequently BT 8B 2
reclassified to profit or loss: EmHE -
Actuarial gain on long service payment RERBERENBE
obligations W = 24 - 130
Deferred tax liability arising on actuarial RERBEAENRE
gain on long service payment Wezs BT/ A IR IE B I8
obligations BiE o5 - (26)
- 104
Item that may be subsequently HEAEE D8 m
reclassified to profit or loss: HE -
Exchange differences arising on MERBIBINEBELE Y
translation of operations outside P 3 =58
Hong Kong
— subsidiaries L) NG]! 16,938 (7,233)
— ajoint venture ——RH&aEAQH 17 335
— associates —HE AT 99 (82)
17,054 (6,980)
Other comprehensive FREMEEKRE(BAX)
income/(expense) for the year, (MBRETBHL)
net of income tax 17,054 (6,876)
Total comprehensive expense FREZEHBEZEAE
for the year (10,934) (5,376)
Attributable to: PEAL -
Equity shareholders of the Company A E RS IR (18,154) (8,148)
Non-controlling interests FE 12 AR 4 2 7,220 2,772
Total comprehensive expense FRATHRERHE
for the year (10,934) (5,376)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
e BRI R

at30June 2025 R —ZE-_HFNA=+H
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7R~ )

2025 2024
—E-REE T NF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
M5 FET FAET
. ! |
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment W - BB k& 11 151,612 161,879
Investment properties "EYE 12 149,530 149,121
Interest in a joint venture I LI NC Eay 13 30,042 27,981
Interests in associates R NR) 2 14 6,308 5,579
Financial asset at fair value through RATEEFAERDY
profit or loss TREE 15 6,192 -
Other financial assets EtemEE 16 2,838 2,838
Deferred tax assets EEBIEEE 25 503 452
Deposits e 1,671 4,328
348,696 352,178
Current assets REBEE
Inventories 58 17(a) 162,523 170,384
Trade and other receivables B 5 I H A e YR 51 18 170,055 178,531
Bank balances and cash WITHBRIRS 19(a) 90,541 102,263
423,119 451,178
Current liabilities REBAE
Trade and other payables B 5 R HAMERIRK 20 207,387 223,542
Unsecured bank loans mIKIIRITE R 21 99,855 91,951
Lease liabilities HEARE 22 12,108 13,878
Current tax payable FEAS AN HAFR T8 6,286 6,303
325,636 335,674
Net current assets REBEEFRE 97,483 115,504
Total assets less current liabilities BEERTBER 446,179 467,682
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
kR a MR R

at30June 2025 W —ZE-HFEANA=1H
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7~ )

2025 2024
—E-FE —EOF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’'000
B 5 FHET FAT
. ! |
Non-current liabilities ERBERE
Lease liabilities HEaE 22 8,249 11,405
Retirement benefit obligations RARTE FI A E 24 10,163 8,373
Deferred tax liabilities RIERIEAER 25 33,167 32,870
Other payable H b RS BR SR 20 9,500 19,000
61,079 71,648
Net assets EEFE 385,100 396,034
Capital and reserves BAR #E
Share capital &N 27 147,940 147,940
Reserves f# % 208,530 226,684
Equity attributable to equity shareholders 7K 72 71 #E %5 i% 30 B (H #E o8
of the Company 356,470 374,624
Non-controlling interests JEIE = 28,630 21,410
Total equity B AR 385,100 396,034

The consolidated financial statements on pages 69 to 176 were ~ # X F698 £ H£176H 2 76 M B WK B &
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directorson HEZEEeR _Z_RAFHLA-_THBE#ER

25 September 2025 and are signed on its behalf by: BETE  THIUTEEREREE
Wong Kai Chung, Kevin Wong Kai Chi, Kenneth
ERE =HE
Chief Executive Officer Managing Director
BEE#ITE EFpE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
mEERBER

for the year ended 30 June 2025 BHE T A F A AA=THILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7R~ )

Attributable to owners of the Company
ALIREAEL
Investment
revaluation
Capital Share  reserve Asset
Share Share redemption  Special option (non- revaluation Translation  Retained
capital  premium reserve  reserve  reseve recycling)  reserve  reserve profits Total
REEHR
g o] i BEER
R RiEE fE  HHEE BRREGE (T7HE) fE  EXGE REEA g
HK$000  HKS000  HKS000  HK$'000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HK000  HKS000  HKS'000
Tér  TEx  TEn  TEn  TEm  TEn  TEr TEr TEr TiEn
(note)
(h3)

! |
Non-
controlling

interests Total
FER

Es 1]
HK$'000  HKS'000
Tt Thn

At 1 July 2023 RZZZZELA-R 147940 1,499 233 7139 2,346 (6,883 107,149 (18.250) 130826 372,999 46823 419,82
(Loss)iprofitfor theyear £ (&) /&7 - - - - - - - - p2m R 3107 1,500
Exchange differences REFHANER

afising on tranlation (BEREAT

of operations outside -HaERAR

Hong Kong (including BN ELL

subsidiaries, ajoint ventwe R EH

and associates) - - - - - - - 6,045) - (6,045) (935) (6,980)
Actuarial gain on long senice & R £ AR

payment obligations HEENE - - - - - - - - 130 130 - 130
Deferred tax liabilties RERHEAENRE

on actuarial gain on WEMELHELH

long senvice payment BB

obligations - - - - - - - - 26) (28) - %)
Total comprehensive ERRE(EY)/

(expense)/income h&8%

for the year - - - - - - - (6,045) 2,103 8,148) 2,112 (5,376)
Change in ownership inferest 50— W%ﬁ%ﬁ ]

nasisdaypoted)  EEZEH(HED) - S - - - - S pBie (1900
Eauity-settled share-based Mﬁm%%tﬂxﬁ

transactions REBNRA - - - - 588 - - - - 588 - 588
At 30 June 2024 i3

~A=tHH 147,940 1,499 233 16,324 2,934 (5,883 107,149 (24295 128723 374,624 20410 396,034
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
AR EB%

for the year ended 30 June 2025 HEZ T -_HAF A=+ HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7~ )

' J !/ /' !/ '/ ] |
Attributable to owners of the Company

ARAREAEL
Investment
revaluation
Capital Share  reserve Asset Non-
Share Share redemption  Special option (non- revaluation Translation  Retained controlling
capital  premium reseve  reserve  reseve recycling)  reserve  reserve profits Total interests Total
REEf
4R i HEER FER

R RiiEE i WHEE BRRGE (T7HE) R EXGE REEA aE B& L
HKS000  HKS000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS$'000
TRn TEn  TEn TErn  TEn  TEn TEr  TEn  TEn  TEr  TEm  TEn
(note)
(i)
| J I J  J | J 1 | | | |

At 1 July 2024 RIZZRECA-B 147,40 1,499 23 16,324 2,934 (5,883 107,149 (24295 128728 374,624 24,40 396,034

(Loss)fprofitfor theyear £ (&) /&7 - - - - - - - - (32609  (32,609) 4601 (27,989)

Exchange differences HERBANER
afising on translation (BEREAT
of operations outside -HaERAR

Hong Kong including BENAELEZ
subsidiares, ajoint ventwe B ER
and associates) - - - - - - - 14,455 - 14,455 2,599 17,054

Total compreensive EnRENE/ (Bx)
income/(expense) %
for the year - - - - - - - 14,455 (32,609) (18,154 7,220 (10,934

Transfer fromshare option. - IR B BAE
resenve to retaned profts  REEF) - - - - 1) - - - 1,287 - - -

At 30 June 2025 Rz
n 147,940 1499 283 16,324 1,647 (5,883 107,149 (9840) 97401 356,470 28630 385,100

Note:  Special reserve represents (i) the difference between the nominal  Ffst : S BIHEHEROIARATNE — AN —FEBEEHET

amount of the share capital issued by the Company and the ZERAEEEAEBETZARZRAMELRE
aggregate of the nominal amount of share capital of the companies MzZ8: MR8 E-_Z_NFA=1+THL
forming the Group, pursuant to the group reorganisation in 1991 G [E PR R B A0 S 2 AR A R TED B R R — R O
and (i) difference between the carrying amount of non-controlling BAREIIMERFTEREZMRZ5E -

interests acquired and the consideration paid for acquisition of
additional interest in a subsidiary for the year ended 30 June 2024.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
HERERER

for the year ended 30 June 2025 BHE T A F A AA=THILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7R~ )

2025 2024
—E-HE —ET__NF
Notes HK$000 HK$'000
B 5 FET T T
I I I
Operating activities REER
(Loss)/profit before taxation B AT (E518) i 7 (25,398) 4,138
Adjustments for: BATIEEELAE -
Interest income from banks RITH BULA 5 (263) (1,062)
(Gain)/loss on disposal of property, plant  HEWE HERZEZ
and equipment (=) BE 5/6(c) 2 42
Fair value loss on investment properties &M ¥ A FEEEIE 5 2,126 -
Fair value loss on financial asset at fair EAFEEFAEZN
value through profit or loss TREENATFEESE 5 1,578 -
Finance costs % E A 6(a) 21,455 19,040
Depreciation charges WEEHR 40,308 42 593
Write-off of other payables i 8 EL th 1< BR 3K 5 - (1,924)
Share of profit of a joint venture Fiid—M& & R alaF (3,739) (3,543)
Share of profits of associates Pk B = A 8 A (630) (361)
Provision for impairment loss on trade S RWERFOREEBRE
receivables 6(c) 666 55
Reversal of allowance for obsolete BREFERERD
inventories 6(c) (6,888) (3,806)
Provision for retirement benefits RURAE R R RS
obligations 6(b) 1,790 1,280
Equity-settled share-based payment AR EE IR BERE
expenses SANEbR 6(b) - 588
Impairment loss of interests in BN RIS 2 R E R 18
associates 6(c) - 3,108
Operating cash flows before changes Rt &EESBFHAT 2
in working capital BREHERE 31,003 60,148
Decrease in deposits wmemd 2,657 107
Decrease/(increase) in inventories FERL(Em) 17,239 (62,984)
Decrease in trade and other receivables B 5 K& H b & Ug BR 2R 4 8,571 21,151
(Decrease)/increase in trade and other g5 Nk HEMERNRR
payables G A) /o (26,411) 44,201
Cash generated from operations REXEBREECEHS 33,059 62,623
Hong Kong Profits Tax paid B EBRIEH — (862)
Tax paid in other jurisdictions BT EA BDERE R TIE (3,127) (1,051)
Net cash from operating activities REERELECESFE 29,932 60,710

EENERERAR
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
,\71 ix/m i‘%

for the year ended 30 June 2025 HEZE T -—AF NA=Z+HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7~ )

OeO 76

2025 2024
—E-REE T NF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 FET T T
. ! |
Investing activities REFEH
Purchase of property, plant and equipment B A% - BE K& H (13,037) (12,752)
Purchase of financial asset at fair value BARAFEESAEBEDN
through profit or loss SRIEE (7,770)
Interest received B U F B 263 1,062
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant HEWE « ME R&RE
and equipment Fri5 508 1,236 2,127
Dividend received from a joint venture I B & &N a AR 1,695 4,351
Net cash used in investing activities REXBHEAZRESFE (17,613) (5,212)
Financing activities mEER
Capital element of lease rentals paid BENEERSZEXRILS 19(b) (13,726) (13,358)
Interest element of lease rentals paid BENAERSZFBES 19(b) (1,116) (1,838)
Interest paid ERFE 19(b) (6,727) (8,246)
Other bank charges HAaiR1TE M (13,612) (8,956)
Proceed from new bank loans REFILIRITE R
FriS A 19(b) 351,539 346,875
Repayment of bank loans BERITER 19(b) (343,635) (378,728)
Net cash used in financing activities BEXBEAZRESTE (27,277) (64,251)
Net decrease in cash and ReRBESEHEEAZ
cash equivalents WA FEE (14,958) (8,753)
Cash and cash equivalents REJZzRERBELEHE
at the beginning of the year EHE 102,263 112,130
Effect of foreign exchange rate EREgH &
changes 3,236 (1,114)
Cash and cash equivalents RERZEERESEH
at the end of the year HH 90,541 102,263
Analysis of the balances of cashand R&RRESSHEIER £k
cash equivalents il
Bank balances and cash WITHBRRIRS 90,541 102,263
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR R MR

for the year ended 30 June 2025 BHE T A F A AA=THILFE

GENERAL

Top Form International Limited (the “Company”) is
incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted company with
limited liability and its shares are listed on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Hong Kong Stock
Exchange”). The addresses of the registered office and
principal place of business of the Company are disclosed in
the section of corporate information of the annual report.

The Company is an investment holding company.
Its principal subsidiaries are engaged in the design,
manufacture and distribution of ladies’ intimate apparel,
principally brassieres.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”), which is different from the
functional currency of the Company, being United States
dollars (“USD”). As the Company is a public company with
shares listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange and most
of its investors are located in Hong Kong, the directors
consider that HK$ is preferable in presenting the operating
results and financial position of the Group.

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
30 June 2025 comprise the Company and its subsidiaries
(together referred to as the “Group”) and the Group’s
interest(s) in associates and a joint venture.

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable HKFRS Accounting
Standards, which collective term includes all applicable
individual HKFRS Accounting Standards, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”), accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. The financial
statements also comply with the applicable disclosure
provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing
Rules”). Material accounting policies adopted by the Group
are disclosed below.

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7R~ )

—REE

EBHFBABRERAR (ARA]D B —RR
BREFMRIZERRBRAT - K
MNEBEEBERZIMERRA ([BEBR
Frl) Em - RRAEMBEER R EEE?
Mo BE 2 AR FRAR R ER —ERE -

ARBR/—REERRAF - ARAZE
EMBRARNRELEAR (LAWEAT)
ZRRET  EERDHER

RAEMBHRRNETZEN  BARRZY
EEREXTTR - HRARREFT BB
PrEMRERBOBREEGUNEE -
HEERA/BTEERBERIAKEZ
REZE RO

REEEREASHHRER

BE-T-RGAA=+ALFERAHN
BmEDEADARAMB DA (HBIA
S£H)URAEERBERAR—HEE
DR 2 A -

ZEVHBRREREMAERE LV H R
SREAGHEA (L ENRBELGIMHAE
BB ERENEEYHRELLE
FHER - BEEGREREREZAE) &
ABARERAUAREBRAGH ZHE
RERB - MBBRRATEEEHARS
FAERRAEZ EMARM T ERRA Z
ERBBEGE - AREMRMERNG K
RO -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB SRR AT

for the year ended 30 June 2025 HEZ T -_HAF A=+ HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7~ )

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL 2. RBEEEREARSTHEER 5

OeO 78

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)
The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRS

Accounting Standards that are first effective or available
for early adoption for the current accounting period of the
Group. Note 2(a) provides information on any changes
in accounting policies resulting from initial application of
these developments to the extent that they are relevant
to the Group for the current and prior accounting periods
reflected in these consolidated financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on the historical cost basis except for certain properties
and financial instruments that are measured at revalued
amounts or fair values, at the end of each reporting period.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
HKFRS Accounting Standards requires management
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that
affect the application of policies and reported amounts of
assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on historical experience
and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances, the results of which form the
basis of making the judgements about carrying values of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised
if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of
the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application of
HKFRS Accounting Standards that have significant effect
on the financial statements and major sources of estimation
uncertainty are discussed in note 3.

BRGRMAGEREME TREEANES

HIM B R AR A IR R IR 2 78T ] 8
EFTRBMBREEA T ER - fiiE2(a)
FIZEREMBHRRARREIMALE
A BEEtHRERARAZEEANEE
BRZERMEMZI ST BRRESHER -

BRREREARE TELGHHREAATFEE
AEZWERSRMIAIN  BEMBH®RE
B AR EEGR

MENTAETEMHHRE LR S LR 2R
BHREAFEEEEFLAIZEBRERIN
REE B BARRAXZEHEHELZ
HIE - EFFRREZ AT RAEBRERILE
RBELREZEBERBABELTES
BrHEMAZ MEGRR/AGZSTERX
EZEEMENKRESLHZEERAER
HEREEE BEREGERIUEANNZSE
st

et RERRRDEFELERN - Mg
AHERTZBRTER BRI At 2B - Bl
EReF et 2B SN B RER 3k
B B FHEET 2 BT F EARHM MR EK
Hif - BB st fh st 2 BRI BB AT
FEI?&;R%/H\HF&EEE% °

EEENEREEVKRSE
PREL BB HMRAEERFE ZHE - U
R AEE N HEE M 2 £ B AR M E3FT 7

RN el
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR e PR R AR MY &

for the year ended 30 June 2025 B Z —Z_HAF NA=ZF+HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7R~ )

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

(a)

(b)

EENERERAR

Changes in accounting policies

The HKICPA has issued a number of amendments to
HKFRS Accounting Standards that are first effective
for the current accounting period of the Group.

None of these developments have had a material
effect on how the Group’s results and financial
position for current or prior periods have been
prepared or presented. The Group has not applied
any amendments and new standards that are not yet
effective for the current accounting period.

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The
Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with
the entity and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the entity. When assessing
whether the Group has power, only substantive rights
(held by the Group and other parties) are considered.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the
consolidated financial statements from the date that
control commences until the date that control ceases.
Intra-group balances, transactions and cash flows
and any unrealised profits arising from intra-group
transactions are eliminated in full in preparing the
consolidated financial statements. Unrealised losses
resulting from intra-group transactions are eliminated
in the same way as unrealised gains but only to the
extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a
subsidiary not attributable directly or indirectly to the
Company, and in respect of which the Group has not
agreed any additional terms with the holders of those
interests which would result in the Group as a whole
having a contractual obligation in respect of those
interests that meets the definition of a financial liability.
For each business combination, the Group can elect
to measure any non-controlling interests either at fair
value or at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate
share of the subsidiary’s net identifiable assets.

| CE-REEH e

(a)

(b)

2. RREEREASHERER @)

S BREH
EREFMASERBELETEAY
BmEEAGERMER - HRA
SEARGE B EREXR -

ZEBRREBAEEEMIGBERREE
AR REEKES T AW E
EAYE AEEYERBEARA
SR HERAREBZERT KA £ -

B AR RFERES
MEARRASEZES 2 EE - A
EEAELAEZE2EARERELMR
SR #EHh R ER - IEEE R
HUZBRBIENZEZFTLRE
AEBEHZERARTEHI®E - B
AEBEEREEZREIE EEZEH
AEEMEMBETRAEZELERERN -

RMBRRZREBRBESE Q&
EREEHEZHILERAGFALS
FMBHmERA - REARQRMEZE S
RGEBAEREANEBARARRRR
FEEZEMNREREN SHERE
HEMBHRRBE2EEE SEARQ
AR B BCRBRER 2 HEETT
EEARERWRAR  ERRNEF
BERREHRREZBD -

FIERESIE W IFR AR R EEALHE
BEEGzZHBARER MASEXR
B Th bt B 5% S R 2R R A A 190 T (AR Y
MGER BeAEERERE EHZSR
SEANAERABEERZIANRE -
AEBAERREHAHER LEE
BERAFEEIFERESZENE
RAEA PR FEEND BT EEIE

AR A -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR e PR R AR BT &

for the year ended 30 June 2025 HEZE T -—AF NA=Z+HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7~ )

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(b) Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

(continued)

Non-controlling interests are represented in the
equity, separately from equity attributable to the
equity shareholders of the Company. Non-controlling
interests in the results of the Group are presented on
the face of the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income as an allocation of the
total profit or loss and total comprehensive income
for the year between non-controlling interests and the
equity shareholders of the Company.

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
an investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less
impairment losses (see note 2(m)(ii)).

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in
existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing
control over the subsidiaries are accounted for as
equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the
Group’s interests and the non-controlling interests
are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative
interests in the subsidiaries. Any difference between
the amount by which the non-controlling interests are
adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or
received is recognised directly in equity and attributed
to owners of the Company.

(c) Associates and joint ventures
An associate is an entity in which the Group has
significant influence, but not control or joint control,
over its management, including participation in the
financial and operating policy decisions.

A joint venture is an arrangement whereby the Group
and other parties contractually agree to share control
of the arrangement, and have rights to the net assets
of the arrangement.

OeO 80

2. RREEREASHEHREN )

(b)

(c)

B AR RIFERES (@)
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R Z 1B TR AR B R E K 1 51 BR
(R sE2(m)(i)) -

ALK B R H B Al R

ey
m 22

MAEBMPRMBRARZESZEH TS
BYAEBERBMB AR 2 EH#
//Ib% ﬂ 7)7_|H/EH§ETE§E%EEEE°K§E<
B RkFERE= FEESE
THE  URBEARMKE QG ZHEEH
o888 R AERSE
B AFEEFECEMHERRE
LENEEgEEAERER LK
BRARRHEBA -

w

7& & NFE
EEASEHEAEARE

EEJ’IET il 2k A [R] 4% )

Eji CEBRZ2EAPH

b:i b

I F TSR ®
H“E\”ﬂﬁl}ﬁfﬂﬂkl}ﬂk
/ﬁia>

S
>3%>

A

AEAREB R Bl A%HE
LB AR NAH RAESEER
FZ EHE - WEBHEEFEZ

ﬁ*%}/ﬁ“ﬁm
i“*‘tﬂi

Rl

Top Form International Limited | Annual Report 2025



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB MR M

for the year ended 30 June 2025 B ZE T A F A=+ HIFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7R~ )

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL 2. RBEEEREARGTHEER 5

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

EENERERAR

(continued)

(c) Associates and joint ventures (continued) (c) BEATREE QT (4)
An investment in an associate or a joint venture REE R REERRIZRENER
is accounted for in the consolidated financial % AR E BB E AR o IBIEE

statements under the equity method. Under the
equity method, the investment is initially recorded at
cost, adjusted for any excess of the Group’s share
of the acquisition-date fair values of the investee’s
identifiable net assets over the cost of the investment
(if any). Thereafter, the investment is adjusted for the
post acquisition change in the Group’s share of the
investee’s net assets and any impairment loss relating
to the investment. Any acquisition-date excess over
cost, the Group’s share of the post-acquisition,
post-tax results of the investees and any impairment
losses for the year are recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, whereas the Group’s share
of the post-acquisition post-tax items of the investees’
other comprehensive income is recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

@E WEMF AR AL HA
SEMEREHRABIFEEZK
BRHRATEBERRREXNAZE
B D (WA FHFAE - pig
FRAREARAKREMEREERF
BEZWERBEREZARERR
ZEFABEBERELAER - EASR
RARZWERREELD  AREE
EREHR ZWBRRREXELF
AERREBESELRRBERAME
BoMAKREEREHR ZEAMER
Yo AR 2 WIB R BR B 1R TR B All4R
EHEGELEMEEKERARER

When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest EREEDEBEARLIEERFZ
in the associate or the joint venture, the Group’s EEEEAEMGERR  KEEFAM

interest is reduced to nil and recognition of further

ERaEeRIET YBETAFMRE

losses is discontinued except to the extent that the RAEBIEBE BENXASEBERITE
Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations FERHEERS  IREEERAFHE
or made payments on behalf of the investee. For BRoNe gt E - AEBEMAGERA

this purpose, the Group’s interest is the carrying
amount of the investment under the equity method
together with the Group’s long-term interests that in
substance form part of the Group’s net investment in
the associate or the joint venture.

Unrealised profits and losses resulting from
transactions between the Group and its associates
and joint venture are eliminated to the extent of
the Group’s interest in the investee, except where
unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment
of the asset transferred, in which case they are

recognised immediately in profit or loss.

| ZZE-hEFFH o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB SRR AT

for the year ended 30 June 2025 HEZ T -_HAF A=+ HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7~ )

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL 2. ‘EEEREASHEEER @
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(d) Property, plant and equipment
The following items of property, plant and equipment

(d) W% - BERRE
UTWE  BFE M&REEB KA
R E T E MO E R B (R M E2(m)

are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and

impairment losses (see note 2(m)): HI{E :
e leasehold land and buildings held for own use; e REAMBAMNHEETHWRET:
e right-of-use assets arising from leases over e FEXAXENEEMENHEEM

EENERAREE MAKEYL
BB E RSO EMEEA

interest; and 54

freehold or leasehold properties where the
Group is not the registered owner of the property

e items of plant and equipment e WEKFZEEE

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal
of an item of property, plant and equipment are
determined as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the item and are
recognised in profit or loss on the date of retirement or
disposal. Any related revaluation surplus is transferred

WEXHEME BEMRBEEAEE
EWEGE M ERMSREFEEZ
HRERESEIANEZRTIARE
WHBERHELZBEBRRTHER -
THHENELREREHERRREE
ERBEMNMAISESBERR -

from the revaluation reserve to retained profits and is
not reclassified to profit or loss.

SEME  WE R R EEIG RS
BE(0E) % RAEREEE G
o] {5 R 4 HA PO R DA 8 KA AR RO 97
ERFE  FRMT -

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items
of property, plant and equipment, less their estimated
residual value, if any, using the straight-line method
over their estimated useful lives as follows:
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR e PR R AR MY &

for the year ended 30 June 2025 B Z —Z_HAF NA=ZF+HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7R~ )

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(d) Property, plant and equipment (continued)

(e)

EENERERAR

o Freehold land is not depreciated.

° Buildings situated on freehold land are
depreciated over their estimated useful life,
being no more than 50 years after the date of
completion.

Over the shorter of
the term of the
lease, or
2% - 6.5%

o Leasehold land and
buildings

e Other properties
leased for own
use/motor vehicles

Over the unexpired
term of leases

Over the shorter of
the term of the
lease, or 20%

e |easehold
improvements

° Furniture, fixtures and 10% — 33%

equipment

o Motor vehicles 20% - 30%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and
equipment have different useful lives, the cost of the
item is allocated on a reasonable basis between the
parts and each part is depreciated separately. Both
the useful life of an asset and its residual value, if any,
are reviewed annually.

Investment properties
Investment properties are properties held to earn
rentals and/or for capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost,
including any directly attributable expenditure.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment
properties are measured at their fair values. Gains
or losses arising from changes in the fair value of
investment properties are included in profit or loss for

the period in which they arise.

| ZZE-hEFFH o

2. RREEREASHERER @)

(d) %% 55 B 5& 4 ()

(e)

KA A ENE o

o MURKARXRBIHWHETREM
AAERAFHEAENE BT
R e B #1504 ©

e MELHME HEHHE2%E
BF 6.5% M &
WEEE
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o FHEWEREE THEHHEI0%M
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B
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4= A

%R I ot

2Ny =

for the year ended 30 June 2025 HEZ T -_HAF A=+ HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7~ )

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(e) Investment properties (continued)

(f)

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal
or when the investment property is permanently
withdrawn from use and no future economic benefits
are expected from its disposals. Any gain or loss
arising on derecognition of the property (calculated
as the difference between the net disposal proceeds
and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in
the profit or loss in the period in which the item is
derecognised.

If an item of property, plant and equipment becomes
an investment property when there is a change in use,
as supported by observable evidence, any difference
between the carrying amount and the fair value of
that item at the date of transfer is recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in asset
revaluation reserve. The asset revaluation reserve
in respect of that item will be transferred directly to
retained profits when it is derecognised.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Costs of inventories are calculated
using the weighted average method and comprises
all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and other
costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their
present location and condition.

Net realisable value represents the estimated selling
price for inventories less all estimated costs of
completion and costs necessary to make the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of
those inventories is recognised as an expense in the
period in which the related revenue is recognised.
The amount of any write-down of inventories to
net realisable value and all losses of inventories
are recognised as an expense in the period the
write-down or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal
of any write-down of inventories is recognised as a
reduction in the amount of inventories recognised as
an expense in the period in which the reversal occurs.

2. RREEREASHEHRER @)

(e) REWZE (8

(f)

EREMENHERREREYEK
ATBEREREMEHEZENETS
BE A R 2R AR B N 25 B BOE HE AR » BUH
HRYEEL 2 M REHEE (R
EMBRAFEAEERMER £
Bt E) Bt ARBEBUBER B 28

HEWE BERXEHRBEEERE
R BREYE L EEAE
REBOIF T ZAEBNERAH
MEEEREQAFEECHNERER
HHMZEE ST TAER  LRE
HEEEMFHET ZEEBWNEESE
HRERENNKIERARERERER

B A o

B
7 8 DA R AT R R (A B 2 B
(A - 77 SR A TY A B M %
SHRERE R - EERA
AR (77 i 5K B A LB AR AR T
Bt HAAA -

AERFEREFEZMEAEERMA
hEt e E R M EMH 2 META -

FE—RKLE EREENERERE
WA Z BB R RFRX - EFE M
BEREREFEZEREMEFER
BRHIRMOR K E IR SRR R
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SR (ERHRBQPEERFFA)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB MR M

for the year ended 30 June 2025 B ZE T A F A=+ HIFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7R~ )

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL 2. FEEEREASHEEE R @
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(g) Leased assets

() HEEE

SEENBERARAT | —E-RHEFR e

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses
whether the contract is, or contains, a lease. A
contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys
the right to control the use of an identified asset for a
period of time in exchange for consideration. Control
is conveyed where the customer has both the right
to direct the use of the identified asset and to obtain
substantially all of the economic benefits from that
use.

As a lessee

At the lease commencement date, the Group
recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability,
except for short-term leases that have a lease term
of 12 months or less and leases of low-value assets
which, for the Group are primarily office equipment.
When the Group enters into a lease in respect of
a low-value asset, the Group decides whether to
capitalise the lease on a lease-by-lease basis. The
lease payments associated with those leases which
are not capitalised are recognised as an expense on a
systematic basis over the lease term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is
initially recognised at the present value of the lease
payments payable over the lease term, discounted
using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that
rate cannot be readily determined, using a relevant
incremental borrowing rate. After initial recognition,
the lease liability is measured at amortised cost and
interest expense is calculated using the effective
interest method.

EEWORGE AKREFEANES
REEXEBEHE - MREHP—
HEETE-EHEAESNZEENE
EEAOEMUABRIRKE: IIZEH
REEXEBEHEE - FEEHEHE
EFTEERIEFEEENER
MEERESHEREEEEMES
MR T 2 BB AR A af

TEAATAA

FHRERKB  BREBHHES (AMHEEE
B12E AU T) A REEBEEE (4
AEERGFEBRRAETRE NAEE
SN AEBRREAEEENHES
BE-AEBEAEITVEREBEENTHE
KIBEGEHENERBRAERES
EXfb - BAERNCEEREANHEE
NERHAERRNRREREEN T AR
REER -

EHEEHWERNLE HEAGYH
mHEHREMNEENRENREETT
MR LB ERSFEIFRA -
HlEZMNETEEZEE - AIAR
FRIS B KA RITIR - RUIAIERR -
HERBBRRBERKATE MAEX
HARAERANRLAE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB SRR AT

for the year ended 30 June 2025 HEZ T -_HAF A=+ HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7~ )

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL 2. FEEEREASHEEEH @
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(g) Leased assets (continued)

(9 HEEE®)

OCeO 86

As a lessee (continued)

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease
is capitalised is initially measured at cost, which
comprises the initial amount of the lease liability
plus any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, and any initial direct costs
incurred. The right-of-use asset is subsequently
stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses (see notes 2(d) and 2(m)), except
for right-of-use assets that meet the definition of
investment property are carried at fair value in
accordance with note 2(e).

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a
change in future lease payments arising from a change
in an index or rate, or there is a change in the Group’s
estimate of the amount expected to be payable under
a residual value guarantee, or there is a change arising
from the reassessment of whether the Group will be
reasonably certain to exercise a purchase, extension
or termination option. When the lease liability is
remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment
is made to the carrying amount of the right-of-use
asset, or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying
amount of the right-of-use asset has been reduced to
zero.

The lease liability is also remeasured when there is a
change in the scope of a lease or the consideration for
a lease that is not originally provided for in the lease
contract (“lease modification”) that is not accounted
for as a separate lease. In this case the lease liability
is remeasured based on the revised lease payments
and lease term using a revised discount rate at the
effective date of the modification.

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not
meet the definition of investment property in ‘property,
plant and equipment’ and presents lease liabilities
separately in the statement of financial position.

TERATAA ()
BEARCHERRNERREELRBRK
RETHRTE  ERLeBEREMR
EAENVBESE  MERHAERAK
ZHIER BT AAEENZTARITMAD
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ENRBELEY AAKEREER
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BHEHEERIRLEHERERNTME
RELEEL AAKEREHNGE
HERE EHHERABETEN
EN AKEHEREECAEEED
REEE EREEEMNREEEDR
HARET BHERBDNRE-FH
HEY - NE B R RS AR

ERVNAEGOTRENEERE
FHERELRZE ((HEENRD -
AZEITERIESERBHEEAR B
ERENFEENAE - EERRBN
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T RGHRAREERERB HHER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR e PR R AR MY &

for the year ended 30 June 2025 B ZE T A F A=+ HIFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7R~ )

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

(9)

(h)

EENERERAR

Leased assets (continued)

As a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it determines at
lease inception whether each lease is a finance lease
or an operating lease. A lease is classified as a finance
lease if it transfers substantially all the risks and
rewards incidental to the ownership of an underlying
assets to the lessee. If this is not the case, the lease is
classified as an operating lease.

When a contract contains lease and non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration
in the contract to each component on a relative
stand-alone selling price basis. The rental income from
operating leases is recognised in accordance with
note 2(s).

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies)
are recorded in the respective functional currency (i.e.
the currency of the primary economic environment in
which the entity operates) at the rates of exchange
prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the end
of the reporting period, monetary items denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at
fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date
when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary
items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currency are not retranslated.

| ZZE-hEFFH o

(9)

(h)

2. RREEREASHERER @)

HEEE W)

1ER 4 A

AEBERHBEAR EHEMKB S
HESE 7 ﬁfmﬂ:éffﬂ &ﬂ“*éfﬂ °

TE*EF'*EEI’J% Bﬂﬁﬂﬁﬂ#&@ﬂﬁ%%%%%ﬁ
A BEZEHEERSBANENRE -
mEER AIZBEHERDBAKE

HE -

rE'+

BEKBERHEMIEESEKE
FoOASERANRERBHERS
BoB#EXEAKBD - KRELE
0 & e 2 AR M E2(s)fERR -

™

%Hﬂ&ﬂ&
W@

Ihk
REEZENREEE VB HREE -
INZE BRI B M LN B (BHNE)
ETZRS DEXRS5E8ZERE
EPEHERSACEEY (IZRE
BEEEBMECIERLBERECE
&) R BR o ﬁ’\\#ﬁiﬁﬂﬂi AN DB 2
f%lﬁﬁi’ﬂ H 2 & A& & E ik
°Tﬁ/&$fﬁ@1«/ﬁﬁ|\¢%§éfiz3?fﬁg
HENEREETATFEBEERCEAE
KENRE - RBELKRUINERE
ZIHEMIBERBASHHRE

87 OO



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB SRR AT

for the year ended 30 June 2025 HEZ T -_HAF A=+ HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7~ )

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL 2. FEEEREASHEEE R @
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(h) Foreign currencies (continued)

(h) bk (@)

OeO 88

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated
financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the
Group’s foreign operations are translated into the
presentation currency of the Group (i.e. Hong Kong
dollars) using exchange rate prevailing at the end of
the reporting period. Income and expenses items
are translated at the average exchange rates for the
year, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly
during the period, in which case, the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of transactions are used.

Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in equity under the heading of translation reserve
(attributed to non-controlling interests as appropriate).
On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative
amount of exchange differences relating to that
foreign operation is reclassified from equity to profit or
loss.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of an asset
which necessarily takes a substantial period of time to
get ready for its intended use or sale are capitalised as
part of the cost of that asset. Other borrowing costs
are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.

Employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits and contributions to
defined contribution retirement plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leaves,
contributions to defined contribution retirement plans
are accrued in the year in which the associated
services are rendered by employees. Where payment
or settlement is deferred and the effect would be
material, these amounts are stated at their present
values.

RENGAMBREAMS  AKEE
SNEBZEERABNRESRERR
ZEREXBRESAEBZZ2REE
(AET) - WA RFRAXIER ARZF
RBZFPOERBE  BRIFEZRZH
A A ER K IR R B RIME R - AEUE1B
AT HAXFEAZEMERKRE -

PREEZERZRE (WE)REMEE
Yook P RERR - 0O B 3L R (SRR AR
mEG (WER)) BN 2 mARE »
HEBINEHE - BZBINEBER
ZEHEZHRAFHEEaEN I

£ e

EREH

TEERBRRAREZLEAERK
6 % 1 7 RE3E 2 78 5E AT (€ A o & 7 88
EREMNEENRE BENLEEW
tERER BERMERZEENLD
PR o Bl A8 R B A A H O A R A
RR/F

EEEA

x5 B 18 8 75 I R SRE R EMKE E)
Z H

¥ FREA -BFFR AEH
RRWF 8 2 RO R BIRHEER
Rz FERRE - WEEX &
HEeBNEAFE ALASBEAR
HBEIIR -

Top Form International Limited | Annual Report 2025



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR e PR R AR MY &

for the year ended 30 June 2025 B ZE T A F A=+ HIFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

)]

SEENBERARAT | —E-RHEFR e

Employee benefits (continued)

Long service payments

The Group’s net obligations in respect of long service
payments are the amounts of future benefits that
employees have earned in return for their services
in the current and prior periods, calculated in
accordance with the relevant laws.

Share-based payments

The fair value of share options granted to employees is
recognised as an employee cost with a corresponding
increase in share option reserve within equity.
The fair value is measured at grant date using the
Black-Scholes Option Pricing model, taking into
account the terms and conditions upon which
the options were granted. Where the employees
have to meet vesting conditions before becoming
unconditionally entitled to the options, the total
estimated fair value of the options is spread over the
vesting period, taking into account the probability that
the options will vest.

During the vesting period, the number of share options
that is expected to vest is reviewed. Any resulting
adjustment to the cumulative fair value recognised
in prior years is charged/credited to the profit or
loss for the year of the review with a corresponding
adjustment to the share option reserve. On vesting
date, the amount recognised as an expense is
adjusted to reflect the actual number of options that
vest (with a corresponding adjustment to the share
option reserve) except where forfeiture is only due
to not achieving vesting conditions that relate to the
market price of the Company’s shares. The equity
amount is recognised in the share option reserve until
either the option is exercised (when it is included in
the amount recognised in share capital for the shares
issued) or the option expires (when it is released
directly to retained profits).

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7R~ )
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB SRR AT

for the year ended 30 June 2025 HEZ T -_HAF A=+ HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7~ )

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL 2. RBEEEREARSTHEER 5
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

(k) Taxation (k) ®1E

OeO 90

Income tax for the year comprises current tax payable
and movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the
taxable income for the year. Taxable income differs
from “profit/loss before taxation” as reported in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss because
it excludes items of income or expense that are
taxable or deductible in other years and it further
excludes items that are permanently non-taxable or
non-deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax
is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect
of previous years.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax base used in the computation of
taxable income. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all
deductible temporary differences and unusual tax
losses and tax credits to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profits will be available against which
those deductible temporary differences and unusual
tax losses and tax credits can be utilised. Such assets
and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from the initial recognition of assets
and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the
taxable profit nor the accounting profit and at the time
of the transaction does not give rise to equal taxable
and deductible temporary differences.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is
reviewed at the end of each reporting period and is
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that
sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow the
related tax benefit to be utilised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB MR M

for the year ended 30 June 2025 B ZE T A F A=+ HIFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7R~ )

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL 2. RBEEEREARGTHEER 5

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(k) Taxation (continued) (k) BIE (%)

SEENBERARAT | —E-RHEFR e

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at
the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period
in which the liability is settled or the asset is realised,
based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from
the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of
the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying
amount of its assets and liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions
are attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group
applies HKAS 12 requirements to the lease liabilities
and the related assets separately. The Group
recognises a deferred tax asset related to lease
liabilities to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary difference can be utilised and a deferred
tax liability for all taxable temporary differences.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity,
in which case, the current and deferred tax are also
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4= A

%R I ot

2Ny =

for the year ended 30 June 2025 HEZ T -_HAF A=+ HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7~ )

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(k) Taxation (continued)

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities
or deferred tax assets for investment properties
that are measured using the fair value model, the
carrying amounts of such properties are presumed
to be recovered entirely through sale, unless the
presumption is rebutted. The presumption is rebutted
when the investment property is depreciable and is
held within a business model whose objective is to
consume substantially all of the economic benefits
embodied in the investment property over time, rather
than through sale. If the presumption is rebutted,
deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets for such
investment properties are measured in accordance
with the above general principles based on the
expected manner as to how the properties will be
recovered. The Group has rebutted the presumption
for all its investment properties.

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and
movements therein, are presented separately from
each other and are not offset. Current tax assets are
offset against current tax liabilities, and deferred tax
assets against deferred tax liabilities, if the Company
or the Group has the legally enforceable right to set off
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the
following additional conditions are met:

e in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the
Company or the Group intends either to settle on
a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the
liability simultaneously; or

° in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities,
if they relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority on either:

—  the same taxable entity; or

— different taxable entities, which, in each
future period in which significant amounts of
deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected
to be settled or recovered, intend to realise
the current tax assets and settle the current
tax liabilities on a net basis or realise and
settle simultaneously.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR e PR R AR MY &

for the year ended 30 June 2025 B Z —Z_HAF NA=ZF+HILFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

0

EENERERAR

Investments in equity securities and
unlisted investments

The Group’s policies for investments in equity
securities, other than investments in subsidiaries and
joint ventures and unlisted investments, are set out
below:

Investments in equity securities and unlisted
investments, are recognised/derecognised on
the date the Group commits to purchase/sell the
investment. The investments are initially stated at
fair value plus directly attributable transaction costs,
except for those investments measured at fair value
through profit or loss (“FVPL”) for which transaction
costs are recognised directly in profit or loss. For
an explanation of how the Group determines fair
value of financial instruments, see note 26(c). These
investments are subsequently accounted for as
follows, depending on their classification.

An investment in equity securities and unlisted
investments are classified as FVPL unless the equity
investment and unlisted investments are not held
for trading purposes and on initial recognition of
the investment the Group makes an election to
designate the investment at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVOCI”) (non-recycling) such
that subsequent changes in fair value are recognised
in other comprehensive income. Such elections are
made on an instrument-by-instrument basis, but may
only be made if the investment meets the definition of
equity from the issuer’s perspective. Where such an
election is made, the amount accumulated in other
comprehensive income remains in the investment
revaluation reserve (non-recycling).

| CE-REEH e

U]

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7R~ )
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB SRR AT

for the year ended 30 June 2025 HEZ T -_HAF A=+ HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7~ )

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

(m) Credit losses and impairment of assets

U

Credit losses from financial instruments

The Group recognises a loss allowance for
expected credit losses (“ECLs”) on financial
assets measured at amortised cost (including
cash and cash equivalents and trade and other
receivables) or at FVOCI.

Financial assets measured at fair value, including
other financial assets, are not subject to the ECL
assessment.

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of
credit losses. Credit losses are measured as the
present value of all expected cash shortfalls (i.e.
the difference between the cash flows due to the
Group in accordance with the contract and the
cash flows that the Group expects to receive).

The expected cash shortfalls are discounted
using the following discount rates where the
effect of discounting is material:

e fixed-rate financial assets, trade and
other receivables: effective interest rate
determined at initial recognition or an
approximation thereof; and

° variable-rate financial assets: current
effective interest rate.

The maximum period considered when
estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual
period over which the Group is exposed to credit
risk. In measuring ECLs, the Group takes into
account reasonable and supportable information
that is available without undue cost or effort. This
includes information about past events, current
conditions and forecasts of future economic
conditions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB MR M

for the year ended 30 June 2025 B ZE T A F A=+ HIFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7R~ )

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL 2. RBEEEREARGTHEER 5

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

(m) Credit losses and impairment of assets (m) ERBLXREERE®)
(continued)
() Credit losses from financial instruments () ETETAREHFEXE)

SEENBERARAT | —E-RHEFR e

(continued)

Measurement of ECLSs (continued)

ECLs are measured on either of the following
bases:

e 12-month ECLs: these are losses that are
expected to result from possible default
events within the 12 months after the
reporting date; and

° lifetime ECLs: these are losses that are
expected to result from all possible default
events over the expected lives of the items
to which the ECL model applies.

Loss allowances for trade receivables are always
measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs.
ECLs on these financial assets are estimated
using a provision matrix based on the Group’s
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for
factors that are specific to the debtors and an
assessment of both the current and forecast
general economic conditions at the reporting
date.

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date with
any changes recognised as an impairment gain
or loss in profit or loss. The Group recognises
an impairment gain or loss with a corresponding
adjustment to the carrying amount of trade
and other receivables through a loss allowance
account.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB SRR AT

for the year ended 30 June 2025 HEZ T -_HAF A=+ HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7~ )

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

(m) Credit losses and impairment of assets

(conti

U

nued)

Credit losses from financial instruments
(continued)

Measurement of ECLs (continued)

Except for trade receivables that are measured
at FVOCI, the Group recognises an impairment
gain or loss in profit or loss for all financial
instruments by adjusting their carrying amount,
with the exception of trade receivables where the
corresponding adjustment is recognised through
a loss allowance account. For trade receivables
that are measured at FVOCI, the loss allowance
is recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in FVOCI reserve without
reducing the carrying amount of the receivables.
Such amount represents the changes in the
FVOCI reserve in relation to accumulated loss
allowance.

For all other financial instruments, the Group
recognises a loss allowance equal to 12-month
ECLs unless there has been a significant
increase in credit risk of the financial instrument
since initial recognition, in which case the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs.

Significant increases in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk of a
financial instrument has increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of default occurring on the financial
instrument assessed at the reporting date with
that assessed at the date of initial recognition. In
making this reassessment, the Group considers
that a default event occurs when (i) the debtor
is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the
Group in full, without recourse by the Group
to actions such as realising security (if any is
held); or (i) the financial asset is 90 days past
due. The Group considers both quantitative
and qualitative information that is reasonable
and supportable, including historical experience
and forward-looking information that is available
without undue cost or effort.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB MR M

for the year ended 30 June 2025 B ZE T A F A=+ HIFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7R~ )

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(m) Credit losses and impairment of assets

2. RREEREASHERER @)

(m) ERELARREERE @)

(continued)

(i)

SEENBERARAT | —E-RHEFR e

Credit losses from financial instruments
(continued)

Significant increases in credit risk (continued)

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition:

e failure to make payments of principal or
interest on their contractually due dates;

e an actual or expected significant deterioration
in a financial instrument’s external or internal
credit rating (if available);

e an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the operating results of the debtor; and

e  existing or forecast changes in the technological,
market, economic or legal environment that
have a significant adverse effect on the
debtor’s ability to meet its obligation to the
Group.

Depending on the nature of the financial
instruments, the assessment of a significant
increase in credit risk is performed on either an
individual basis or a collective basis. When the
assessment is performed on a collective basis,
the financial instruments are grouped based on
shared credit risk characteristics, such as past
due status and credit risk ratings.

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date to
reflect changes in the financial instrument’s credit
risk since initial recognition. Any change in the
ECL amount is recognised as an impairment gain
or loss in profit or loss. The Group recognises
an impairment gain or loss for all financial
instruments with a corresponding adjustment to
their carrying amount through a loss allowance
account.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB SRR AT

for the year ended 30 June 2025 HEZ T -_HAF A=+ HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7~ )

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL 2. RBEEEREARSTHEER 5
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)
(m) Credit losses and impairment of assets (m) ERBLXREERE®)
(continued)
(i) Credit losses from financial instruments () ETETAREHFEXE)
(continued)
Write-off policy b gl e
The gross carrying amount of a financial asset FEHEERAAERE @&
is written off (either partially or in full) to the ENEREAES (B 5 k2 30) M
extent that there is no realistic prospect of H TAKERBEFALEE
recovery. This is generally the case when the EFIBRARRAIEEZHESR
Group determines that the debtor does not have ENEEMESERE K TU
assets or sources of income that could generate W SH o

sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts
subject to the write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was &R YE 2 Bl E MSE R E E
previously written off are recognised as a reversal RURE B E BB EE E £
of impairment in profit or loss in the period in ATER o

which the recovery occurs.

On derecognition of trade receivables at RUARAFEEHEAEZESHTA
FVOCI, the cumulative gain or loss previously HEt2EKENE S E BRI
accumulated in the FVOCI reserve is classified to IEERE - ZERENAFEAES
profit or loss. EREEHFTAEMEAKER

BARGHWRFRARNEREE
DIEERR -

(i) Impairment of non-current assets (i) FEREBNEEHEE

Internal and external sources of information are EEREREHR AEEEEZ

reviewed at the end of each reporting period to NEBRAINGBER - UBRIRE T

identify indications that the following assets may EHREKAUNTEERIREEET

be impaired or an impairment loss previously BEIUNERANREBETE

recognised no longer exists or may have GRS E &R L

decreased:

e property, plant and equipment, including o UE - -HELEZE(BEFER
right-of-use assets (other than property HEE) (HEHESEIED
carried at revalued amounts); and YIZEBRIN) + &

e investments in associates and joint ventures o ARRNBYFBMIAKXAAEZ
in the Company’s statement of financial RAIREERAIREA »
position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR e PR R AR MY &

for the year ended 30 June 2025 B ZE T A F A=+ HIFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

(m) Credit losses and impairment of assets

(continued)

(i) Impairment of non-current assets (continued)
If any such indication exists, the asset’s

recoverable amount is estimated.

EENERERAR

Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the
greater of its fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. In assessing value in
use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset.
Where an asset does not generate cash
inflows largely independent of those from
other assets, the recoverable amount is
determined for the smallest group of assets
that generates cash inflows independently
(i.e. a cash-generating unit).

Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit
or loss if the carrying amount of an asset,
or the cash-generating unit to which it
belongs, exceeds its recoverable amount.
Impairment losses recognised in respect
of cash-generating units are allocated to
reduce the carrying amount of the assets
in the unit (or group of units) on a pro
rata basis, except that the carrying value
of an asset will not be reduced below its
individual fair value less costs of disposal (if
measurable) or value in use (if determinable).

| CE-REEH e

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7R~ )
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR e PR R AR BT &

for the year ended 30 June 2025 HEZ T -_HAF A=+ HILFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7~ )

OeO 100

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

(m) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(continued)

(i) Impairment of non-current assets (continued)

° Reversals of impairment losses

An impairment loss is reversed if there has
been a favourable change in the estimates
used to determine the recoverable amount.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to
the asset’s carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss
been recognised in prior years. Reversals
of impairment losses are credited to profit
or loss in the year in which the reversals are

recognised.

(n) Trade and other receivables at amortised

cost
Trade and other receivables at amortised cost

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an

unconditional right to receive consideration.

Receivables are stated at amortised cost using the
effective interest method less allowance for credit

losses (see note 2(m)(i)).

Trade receivables at F\VOCI (recycling)

Trade receivables at FVOCI (recycling) are stated
at fair value. Subsequent changes in the carrying
amounts for trade receivables classified as at FVOCI
(recycling) as a result of interest income calculated
using the effective interest method, and foreign
exchange gains and losses are recognised in profit
or loss. All other changes in the carrying amount
of these trade receivables are recognised in other
comprehensive income (“OCI”) and accumulated
under the heading of FVOCI reserve. Impairment
allowances are recognised in profit or loss with
corresponding adjustment to OCI without reducing
the carrying amounts of these trade receivables.
When these trade receivables are derecognised, the
cumulative gains or losses previously recognised in

OCI are reclassified to profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR e PR R AR MY &

for the year ended 30 June 2025 B Z —Z_HAF NA=ZF+HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7R~ )

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

(o)

(p)

(q)

(r)

EENERERAR

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are measured initially at
fair value less transaction costs. Subsequent to initial
recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are stated
at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
Interest expense is recognised in accordance with the
Group’s accounting policy for borrowing costs (see
note 2(i)).

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank
and on hand, demand deposits with banks and
other financial institutions, and short-term, highly
liquid investments that are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash and which are subject to
an insignificant risk of changes in value, having
been within three months of maturity at acquisition.
Cash and cash equivalents are assessed for ECL in
accordance with the policy set out in note 2(m)(i).

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair
value and are subsequently stated at amortised cost
unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial,
in which case they are stated at cost.

Provisions and contingent liabilities
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a
legal or constructive obligation arising as a result of a
past event, it is probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a
reliable estimate can be made. Where the time value
of money is material, provisions are stated at the
present value of the expenditure expected to settle the
obligation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB SRR AT

for the year ended 30 June 2025 HEZ T -_HAF A=+ HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7~ )

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL 2. RBEEEREARSTHEER 5

OeO 102

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

(r)

(s)

Provisions and contingent liabilities
(continued)

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow
of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations,
whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future
events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities
unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits
is remote.

Revenue and other income

Income is classified by the Group as revenue when it
arises from the sale of goods in the ordinary course of
the Group’s business.

Revenue is recognised when control over a product
is transferred to the customer, at the amount of
promised consideration to which the Group is
expected to be entitled, excluding those amounts
collected on behalf of third parties. Revenue excludes
value added tax or other sales taxes and is after
deduction of any trade discounts.

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other
income recognition policies are as follows:

Sale of goods

Revenue arising from the sale of ladies’ intimate
apparel is recognised when the goods are delivered
and titles have passed, which is taken to be the point
in time when the customer has accepted the goods
and obtained the control of the goods. Revenue
excludes value added tax or other sales taxes and is
after deduction of any trade discounts.

(r)

(s)

BERSIAREEH®

fisd ™R P RE GBS B A 25 5N+ R\
EHERBBEELAEZME AlE
HZEEIRBELSLAAE BEERN
g SN Z AT B 1 AR MK R BR S o 11 AT B8
FEEEABIRFRUAZRAREN
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BEME MK RIBRSD

WA R E AWK A
EARGENBEXBEFETHESER
FIEENKRA AEEKESBER/K
AO

ERmNEHNREREEPE AR
B EBENARESNAZRESZR
BREA - BTEERE =7 KIS
ZERR - WATBERERKE M
HEN  WEMBREAESTM-

B NONER N T4 ¢
Mg —SHBMT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR e PR R AR MY &

for the year ended 30 June 2025 B ZE T A F A=+ HIFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7R~ )

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(s) Revenue and other income (continued)

®

EENERERAR

Rental income from operating leases

Rental income receivable under operating leases is
recognised in profit or loss in equal instalments over
the periods covered by the lease term, except where
an alternative basis is more representative of the
pattern of benefits to be derived from the use of the
leased asset. Lease incentives granted are recognised
in profit or loss as an integral part of the aggregate net
lease payments receivable.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues under the
effective interest method using the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts through
the expected life of the financial asset to the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised in the statement
of financial position initially when there is reasonable
assurance that they will be received and that the
Group will comply with the conditions attaching
to them. Grants that compensate the Group for
expenses incurred are recognised as income in profit
or loss on a systematic basis in the same periods in
which the expenses are incurred.

Related parties

(@) A person, or a close member of that person’s
family, is related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management

personnel of the Group or the Group’s
parent.

| CE-REEH e

(s)

®
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

= A
N

RIS R Mot

for the year ended 30 June 2025 HEZE T -—AF NA=Z+HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7~ )

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

OeO 104

(continued)

(t) Related parties (continued)

(b)

An entity is related to the Group if any of the

following conditions applies:

0

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

The entity and the Group are members of
the same group (which means that each
parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is
related to the others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which the
other entity is a member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same
third party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the
Group or an entity related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled
by a person identified in (a).

A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of
the key management personnel of the entity
(or of a parent of the entity).

The entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the
Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those

family members who may be expected to influence, or

be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the

entity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR e PR R AR MY &

for the year ended 30 June 2025 B Z —Z_HAF NA=ZF+HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

(u) Segment reporting
An operating segment reported in the financial
statements is identified from the financial information
provided regularly to the Group’s most senior
executive management for the purposes of allocating
resources to, and assessing the performance of, the
Group’s line of business and geographical locations.

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

The following are the key assumptions concerning the
future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at
the end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities in the next financial year.

Impairment of property, plant and equipment

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment to
determine whether there is any indication that those assets
have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication
exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated
in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss, if
any. The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less
costs of disposal and its value in use. The management
determines the recoverable amount of the relevant cash
generating unit (“CGU”) based on the basis of the value
in use calculation. Where the future cash flows are less
or more than expected, or there are changes in facts and
circumstances which result in revisions of the estimated
future cash flows, below their respective carrying amounts,
impairment loss or reversal of impairment loss may
arise. As at 30 June 2025, the Group’s property, plant
and equipment amounted to HK$151,612,000 (2024:
HK$161,879,000).

| CE-REEH e

2.

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7R~ )

RREEREASTHHRRES @)

(u) PEHES
B IRR T2 R — S 5 R
EHRATASERSTREEAR
BT AR B R A R 2
BRBESENRBABNZHBGA
AT RS ©

HEFTREE ZEERR

TXHEEREAKRZTERKXLBERR
B THEERZ2EMEERF FHE
KER AEEH N —EMRFREZEE
LEEREEAFLHENHE -

NE-BERZRERE

RBEHR  AEEEHENE BEK
REEEE UAETZEEEEGERR
EEEOEMTR - WEREMZETR
A EEMAI KBS EEL G UEE
BEBEE (WA HMEE -AfkEBEAR
TEERLERAREFERAEEMSE 2H
BeE EEERBEREETEETH
BIRSEABEM((REEEEM]) 2ak
Bl &5 - WARRESRED R NEBIBTERR -
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HERRESAEMNEESSE  ATEEES
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“EEANAZTH - ALEEZUE BE
N %€ % 5151,612,0008 70 (ZF = IY
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB SRR AT

for the year ended 30 June 2025 HEZE T -—AF NA=Z+HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7~ )

3. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION 3. A THEMZEERIRE)
UNCERTAINTY (continued)
Fair value of investment properties REMEZAFEE
The investment properties are stated at estimated WEMENGHHAFEEYER  AFER
fair value, determined by the directors, based on an REFRIEB LI HEMET -

independent external valuer.

In estimating the fair value of the investment properties, AEBEFHAESH —I&ﬁm M % 85 i &
the Group uses market-observable data to the extent it is HEMENRAFEE BEAEEREZ
available. Whilst the Group considers these valuations are EEEDRE 15 uf BRELBERREE L
the best estimates, any market violation, policy, geopolitical Lr B ERTIHER - BURK - &R BUAR

and social changes or other unexpected incidents as a e R EMmENEGAE— PP
result of change in macroeconomic environment may $'§ BT WEE R AT K
cause further disruptions to the Group’s business. Where SEeZBEE= A EARMEMETHE -

Level 1 inputs are not available, the Group engages third
party qualified valuers to perform the valuation.

The Group uses valuation techniques that include AEBHEBABRBRIIEUTERMISHIEA
inputs not based on observable market data to estimate B e & A BIRTE R E R A
the fair value of properties. Note 12 provided detailed MAFEE -MF28aEBETHER
information about the valuation techniques, inputs and key FEEMAMNGERT @ASBELETE
assumptions used in the determination of the fair value BRENFHER -WABBRREEZHA
of the properties. Changes in inputs and assumptions RRERMERNTEBENERFE -

could result in material adjustments to the fair value of the

properties.

As at 30 June 2025, the Group’s investment properties RZZE-_AHAFNA=Z1+H AEENKE
amounted to HK$149,530,000 (2024: HK$149,121,000). ) % & %8 /5149,530,000/8 7T (= F Z 94 :

149,121,000/ 7T ) °

Loss allowance on trade receivables EZRWERRZEBERE

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate the ECL AEBFERBEEERTEEZ ZRBER®
for trade receivables. The provision rates are based on FEHEREX BEXTIBEBERNBEERF
internal credit ratings and days past due as groupings BERBTEE>BELAEBHEUBERN 2
of various debtors that have similar loss patterns. The ZHEWER BEEEVNSREREAEER
provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s historical FEELBEENEX - NEBE R E E R IAH
observed default rates. The Group will calibrate the matrix BREAEUEN 2 BELR REREH
to adjust the historical experience with forward-looking R AEBEENBAENERSENR UER
information. At the end of each reporting period, the FIEHEERNEE ZERELEFTED
historical observed default rates are updated and changes SEHITHERBRNERTE &iﬁ%\
in the forward-looking information are considered. Changes THGEGERRELHBEINHRES

in these assumptions and estimates could materially affect
the result of the assessment and it may be necessary to
make additional impairment charge to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.

As at 30 June 2025, the Group’s trade receivables at E/\_7 ZHERNA=ZTH  AEEZEIEK
amortised cost amounted to HK$126,973,000 (2024: R ERE S E WS 5 /5126,973,000
HK$132,453,000) net of allowance for impairment loss of B (ZE M F : 132,453,000/ 70) + #
HK$758,000 (2024: HK$92,000). KRB 5 1B B 5 758,0008 7T (= — I & ¢

92,000/ 7T) °
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EENERERAR

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR e PR R AR MY &

for the year ended 30 June 2025 B ZE T A F A=+ HIFE

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

Revenue represents the sale value of goods and is within
the scope of HKFRS 15, Revenue from contracts with
customers. The Group manages its business as a single
unit and, accordingly, the manufacturing and sale of ladies’
intimate apparel is the only reportable segment and virtually
all of the revenue and operating profits is derived from this
business segment. The consolidated financial statements
are already presented in a manner consistent with the way
in which information is reported internally to the Company’s
executive directors, being the chief operating decision
maker, for the purposes of resources allocation and
operating performance review.

The chief operating decision maker regularly assesses
available production capacity on a plant by plant basis,
however, no discrete financial information is available for
each plant for the purpose of resources allocation and
operating performance review. The chief operating decision
maker reviews financial information on a consolidated
basis. Accordingly, no separate business segment
information is disclosed.

The accounting policies adopted for the preparation of the
financial information reviewed by the executive directors
are the same as those adopted in preparing the Group’s
financial statements. Segment revenue is the consolidated
revenue of the Group. Segment profit or loss is the
consolidated profit or loss after taxation.

All the Group’s segment assets and liabilities are under the
only reportable segment as at 30 June 2025 and 2024.

The Group has applied practical expedient in paragraph
121 of HKFRS 15 to exempt the disclosure of revenue
expected to be recognised in the future arising from
contracts with customers in existence at the reporting date
to its revenue from sales of goods as the performance
obligation is part of a contract that has an original expected
duration of one year or less.

| CE-REEH e

4.

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7R~ )

BWAR D EER

WARNERHEEEE LERNBEMHR
SEAEIGRIRETFLFANZWAINEG
BR -AKERE-BEULEERE B
WEERBEXRAXRBEE A RED
B-MEREMBRAREZENEIRA
HEBDE -FAPBHRR 2257 HE
RO ERNEHZERRALRANT
EFMEERLRRAN)ABE2RERZ
TAER—E -

BOBEEREBHEERR  TEEER
RATHFAEERE 2 RBER  HALE
EMEZEIMBER - TBRLERRA
BEABBERERENMBEEN - Bt
WEBIRBEREDEBER -

IRHEANTEFTEN M BERAERAS
AARRERNEER R BRI IRAE
HE e D ERARKEE ZHZGE WA - M
D MR BER A RBE S M A -

AEBR -_ZE-_RAFER_ZTE_-_NFEXA
ZtHBEZOBEENGBBEE2HRE M
HMEDHE -

BEENBHRELF1FFE121IRANER
BENEHREBEANREAAFENE
BF 2 HBE L E £ 8BS &0 R RE
REPA - AEECEREEAREREF
HEERMHWBA RERBHEBEHNERS
RIERARA—FRATHANN—FD -

107 O e O



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB SRR AT

for the year ended 30 June 2025 HEZ T -_HAF A=+ HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7~ )

4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. WARDEER®

(continued)

(a) Geographical information (a) iEEF
The following table sets out information about the TR IEHEBELESR DB BIEAE
geographical location of (i) the Group’s revenue from EREHIMNEEREP WA RIAE
external customers and (i) the Group’s property, plant Z2E - -BELZE REWME -
and equipment, investment properties, interest(s) in REgE R AR —HeaER R ([FF
associates and a joint venture (“specified non-current EFERBEE]) 2EFR - 2k 8 H MY
assets”). The geographical location of revenue from ERXFZWAZHIBANENIZREY 2
external customers is based on the location to which EXEMMMmESD -

the goods are delivered.

Revenue from Specified
external customers non-current assets
REHMIEEFEZWA BEXRBEE

2025 2024 2025 2024

—E_EHE —E-mE —E_FHE —EmE

HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000

TET THET THER FET
I N S B S

USA x 905,062 848,492 - -

Belgium il 89,958 87,200 - -

The People’s Republic 2 A R LA

of China (“PRC”) (T E)) 55,212 32,722 202,681 199,838

Sri Lanka HEBE 42,802 27,666 19,345 20,928

The Netherlands far B 41,261 36,077 - -

Australia SEIM 14,683 15,912 - -

Canada mnex 14,313 12,241 - -

Mexico =P 12,566 21,001 - -

Germany = 12,101 9,599 - -

France % 7,967 9,269 - -

Indonesia e 5,246 - 17,751 21,266

Hong Kong 5% 864 199 9,279 14,127

Thailand EoS - - 76,159 75,348

Myanmar e - - 12,277 13,053

Others Hit 13,696 29,786 - -

1,215,731 1,130,164 337,492 344,560
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB MR M

for the year ended 30 June 2025 B Z —Z_HAF NA=ZF+HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7R~ )

4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. WARDEER®

(continued)

(b) Information about major customers (b) EEEFZER
Revenue from customers contributing over 10% of the REGEAEBEHESEREI0NA LR
total sales of the Group are as follows: P2WAWT -

2025 2024
—EBE-REF =gt S
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAET
. J | |
Customer A ZFEA 592,220 481,565
Customer B % B N/A* T8 f* 310,187
Customer C ®FC 187,220 N/A*AN 3 A *
* The corresponding revenue did not contribute over 10% of * FERE WA #8855 oA 7 S B 48 T A /91 0% JA
the total revenue of the Group. e
5. OTHER NET INCOME 5. HK A FHE
I I
2025 2024
—E_RHE —EPF
HK$°000 HK$’000
FHET FAT
I I
Gross rental income from investment WEWEEBLSIA
properties 12,600 12,189
Government grants (note) BT 4 B (BT E) 1,196 2,521
Write-off of other payables T 88 B b S BR SR - 1,924
Sample income 15 mm WA 992 1,354
Interest income from banks IRITH B UL A 263 1,062
Gain on disposal of property, plant and HEME BmMELRRHBZWE
equipment 2 -
Fair value loss on investment properties ~ &Y% AN FEEEE (2,126) -
Fair value loss on financial asset at FVPL  1Z A EBEFF ABTZH
TREEATEEEE (1,578) -
Others Hh 4,571 2,770
15,920 21,820
Note: 5T -
During the year ended 30 June 2025, the Group received government REBEE_Z-_AFA=ZTHLEFE  KAEERKE
grants of HK$1,196,000 (2024: HK$2,521,000) from Mainland China. FR O K B H R 4 B1,196,00058 7T (— & — PO 4F -
2,521,000/ 70) ©
There are no unfulfilled conditions and other contingencies attached to MEEWRZERMEEEANRTHAOGRERE

the receipts of these government subsidies. ek B EIE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB SRR AT

for the year ended 30 June 2025 HEZE T -—AF NA=Z+HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7~ )

6.

OeoO 110

(LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION

(Loss)/profit before taxation has been arrived at after

charging/(crediting):

6. BRBIAT(BE) EA
MEiE (1R SZME MR GEA) T

&R

2025 2024
—E-RF ZEZF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHT T T
I I
(a) Finance costs (a) MEKEHR
Interest expense on bank borrowings WITEEZFBRY 6,727 8,246
Interest on lease liabilities HEaBEMHE 1,116 1,838
Other bank charges HiR1TE R 13,612 8,956
21,455 19,040
(b) Staff costs (b) BIRA&
Staff costs, including directors’ BIXNA(BEEEME)
emoluments (note (i)) (PR 3EG) 442,195 417,833
Equity-settled share-based payment LA#E 22 45 & LA B {9
expenses BERNINRAX - 588
Provision for retirement benefits IR URAE FI A R
obligations (note 24) (Pt 3E24) 1,790 1,280
443,985 419,701
(c) Otheritems (c) HfER
Auditors’ remuneration ZE A&
- Audit services — B IR 1,563 1,548
Depreciation charges HEER
— property, plant and equipment —W% - BEKZE 25,306 27,088
— right-of-use assets —FREEE 15,002 15,505
Provision for impairment loss on trade B 5 R ER R E
receivables EiE A 666 55
Impairment loss of interests in REERRER 2
associates REEE - 3,108
Loss on disposal of property, LEWE  BE X
plant and equipment B2 BE - 42
Reversal of allowance for obsolete REFERERRD
inventories (included in cost of (BEFAEERA)
sales) (note 17) (FF&E17) (6,888) (3,806)
Cost of inventories recognised BERRAEHAZZ
as an expense (note 17) FERAR (ME17) 980,645 878,480
Net exchange (gain)/loss bE N (es) BiEFE (5,367) 1,667
Note: G

(i) Details of directors’ emoluments included in staff costs are (i)

disclosed in note 7.

Staff costs included amounts in respect of defined contribution
retirement benefit schemes contributions of HK$23,344,000

(2024: HK$22,479,000).

BITRAREEIE 2 FHIENMETHE -

BIXAREASBERTHIRKENE
fHFRH) $ 5823,344,0008 7T (— T — P 4 -

22,479,000/ 7T) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR e PR R AR MY &

for the year ended 30 June 2025 B Z —Z_HAF NA=ZF+HILFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7R~ )

7. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ 7. EEREEMS
EMOLUMENTS
(a) Directors (a) E=

Details of emoluments paid or payable by the Group
to the Directors (including Non-executive Directors)
disclosed pursuant to section 383 of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies
(Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors)
Regulation are as follows:

RIBEEE D A& E38316% Kk~ 7] (3
BEENEER KOS EEAS
BENSKENES (BEIFNTES)
ZBEFBMT

2025 2024
—EBE-REF =gt S
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET T T
. J | |
Fees to non-executive directors IERTEE2HEE 1,118 1,000
Remuneration to executive directors: HITESMS
— Salaries and other benefits —Fe EMEF 9,622 9,622
— Discretionary bonus — BB AL = 2,064
— Share-based payments — A& B E A S - 28
— Retirement benefit scheme —RIR@E A2
contributions 54 54
10,794 12,768

For the year ended 30 June 2025
HZ-B-RFAACTRLER

Retirement
Salaries  Discretionary Share- henefit
and other bonus based scheme
Fees benefits (Note) payments  contributions Total
ek BiEwd BB A BHEN
Name of director o He HpER (W)  EBHXH ER st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TR TR TR TR TR
| | _J | | |
Wong Chung Chong Bl - 3,412 - - 18 3,430
Wong Kai Chung, Kevin EHE - 3,105 - - 18 3,128
Wong Kai Chi, Kenneth EHE - 3,105 - - 18 3,128
Herman Van de Velde Herman Van de Velde 200 - - - - 200
Lien Van de Velde Lien Van de Velde 200 - - - - 200
Leung Churk Yin, Jeanny 2ER 200 - - - - 200
Leung Ying Wah, Lambert 2% 200 - - - - 200
Wang Man Hon, Sidney IH 200 - - - - 200
Tai Lun, Paul (Appointed on Exf 10 3
28 November 2024) T-AZT/\REZf) 118 - - - - 118
1,118 9,622 - - 54 10,794
EENERERAT | —E-HEFHR o 111
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB SRR AT

for the year ended 30 June 2025 HEZ T -_HAF A=+ HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7~ )

7. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ 7. EEREEME @
EMOLUMENTS (continued)
(a) Directors (continued) (a) E= ()

For the year ended 30 June 2024
HEZZ-ME A-THLER

Salaries  Discretionary Share- Retirement
and other bonus based  benefit scheme
Fees benefits (Note) payments  contributions Total
N BERL PUGE RIET)
Name of director EEd ez we EEH (W) Emms TERR @i

HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL TEL TEL TEL TEL TAL
I S S N N N N R

Wong Chung Chong &iha - 3412 - - 18 3430
Wong Kai Chung, Kevin ENE - 3,105 1,032 14 18 4,169
Wong Kai Chi, Kenneth EGS - 3,105 1,082 14 18 4,169
Herman Van de Velde Herman Van de Velde 200 - - - - 200
Lien Van de Velde Lien Van de Velde 200 - - - - 200
Leung Churk Yin, Jeanny 2 200 - - - - 200
Leung Ying Wah, Lambert 2z 200 - - - - 200
Lin Sun Mo, Wily (Resigned on 30 #ER (R=F==%
November 2023) t-A=tREH) 8 - - - - 8
WWang Man Hon, Sidney (Appointed  EX# (R-2==%
on 30 November 2023) T-R=TREZfA) 117 - - - - 117
1,000 9,622 2,064 28 54 12,768
Note: The discretionary bonus is recommended by e : BBRARTHNEZESHBYLCES
Compensation Committee and determined by the BERAEERBRBFENURE
Board having regards to the Group’s performance and Al T 50 1 °E e

profitability and the prevailing market conditions.

None of the directors waived any emoluments during RBEE-FT-_AFR-F-_MFRA
the years ended 30 June 2025 and 2024. STHRLEFE BEEFHETAH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR e PR R AR MY &

for the year ended 30 June 2025 B Z —Z_HAF NA=ZF+HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7R~ )

7. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’

EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(b) Employees
Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments
in the Group, three (2024: three) were Directors of
the Company whose emoluments are included in the
disclosure above. The emoluments of the remaining
two (2024: two) individuals were as follows:

7. EEREEMES @

(b)

BE

AEBAUZSHFALH = (=ZF
TFE ) RARARES KRS
MecE EXERE -HBMLZ (=%
“HFE R AL ZBEET

2025 2024

—E-RE —ZE 4

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHBT T
I I

Salaries and other benefits Fe REMERN 3,902 3,757

Discretionary bonus W5 TEAL 335 600

Share-based payments AR 0 B ERER S - 147

Retirement benefit scheme RORAE R ET B 5K
contributions 36 36
4,273 4,540

The emoluments were within the following band:

MegmEMT

Number of individuals

AB
2025 2024
—E_RE —EPF

HK$2,000,001 - HK$2,500,000

2,000,0017% 7t - 2,500,000/ 7T 2 2

No emoluments were paid by the Group to any
director or employee as an inducement to join or
upon joining the Group, or as compensation for loss
of office during the years ended 30 June 2025 and
2024.

SEBHERERAT | ZE-RFFH o

REBEEZT-_AFR-_FNFA
=THEFER AEBBEREMA
EEYREEINHME FAMALRE
B o A& E ) 822 ok E AR
fE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB SRR AT

for the year ended 30 June 2025 HEZE T -—AF NA=Z+HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7~ )

8. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 8. FisHmxX
. ! |
2025 2024
—E-RHEF —T_EF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT FHET
. ! |
Current tax: AEARIR
Hong Kong B 40 40
Other jurisdictions HirERER 3,180 2,784
3,220 2,824
(Over)/under-provision of current BEFEARRKRIE
tax in prior years: (BEBEBETR:
Hong Kong BE (93) -
Other jurisdictions Hib el AR (148) 2
(241) 2
Deferred taxation (note 25) JEFE R 1E (MfzE25)
Origination and reversal of temporary EEREBOERER
differences (389) (188)
Income tax expense PS5 B 2 2,590 2,638
The provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for 2025 is —E-RAFNEBHNG ﬁ%ﬁ‘ﬁ%?ﬁﬂiifg
calculated at 16.5% (2024: 16.5%) of the estimated B b & ERF B FE IA16.6% (—ZF — P04 -
assessable profits for the year, except for one subsidiary 16.5%) BB X E - EAEE KB R
of the Group which is a qualifying corporation under the RAIBRAN  EIRBFSH MR GBS EREE -
two-tiered Profits Tax rate regime.
For this subsidiary, the first HK$2 million of assessable FEZME A RS © 2,000,000 7T fE &7
profits are taxed at 8.25% and the remaining assessable T A 328.25% K Tt K 7 - ﬁﬁﬁﬁ%fqﬁ‘ﬂ
profits are taxed at 16.5%. The provision for Hong Kong FEAIZ16.5%M M EME - R ZF =Y
Profits Tax for this subsidiary was calculated at the same F ZWBRRAIMNBENEH ﬁé‘ 1%75& Uis
basis in 2024. FIEEE -
Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the BEFBECEMGHENEERMA - F
“EIT Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, Bl fff B A Al 2 B & B25% ©
the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25%.
Taxation arising in other jurisdictions is calculated at the Hihalx#R 2 HIBDRBEB DA ER

rates prevailing in the respective jurisdictions. ZRITMEFE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB MR M

for the year ended 30 June 2025 B Z —Z_HAF NA=ZF+HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7R~ )

8. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued) 8. FIs®HipmX
The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to FEMSHRAZEGSEREX ZBREA (8
the (loss)/profit before tax per consolidated statement of 1B) HFEERMT

profit or loss as follows:

2025 2024
—E_RE —ETNF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FiE T
I I
(Loss)/profit before tax B A (E18),a A (25,398) 4,138
Tax at the domestic income tax rate REMWFAEHMETE 2WHIE (4,191) 683
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for  FFLFE T & N AT HE S H 2
tax purpose Hrwe 1,035 1,251
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax ~ FAFLF M 5 B AERHE WA Z
purpose W (2,918) (1,474)
Tax effect of share of results of associates 5B A Bf & N 7] 2 E 48 2 T
e (104) (60)
Tax effect of share of result of a joint FER—HAEERRICEEL
venture Hrwe (617) (585)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RERBMGEIB 2 MG E 11,530 10,105
Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses BALAAERBBBE
previously not recognised Mg e (433) (6,849)
Tax effect of temporary differences not RAERYLFER MG E
recognised - 51
(Over)/under-provision in respect of prior  @EEE (BBEEEWE)
years BETE (241) 2
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries 7 E b B) A i & 4L &
operating in other jurisdictions MEARMEIRZZE (1,471) (490)
Income tax expense for the year FANMEHAX 2,590 2,638
9. DIVIDENDS 9. RE
The Board has resolved not to declare a final dividend for EEEEKBARATHREBEE-_ZS-_RAF A
the year ended 30 June 2025 (2024: nil). —THRLEFESEMRERARE (ZZT Y
Fom) o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB SRR AT

for the year ended 30 June 2025 HEZE T -—AF NA=Z+HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7~ )

10.

116

LOSS PER SHARE 10. BIRE5 1B
The calculation of basic and diluted loss per share ARG EmBRRELSRERNREEEIE
attributable to the equity shareholders of the Company is THIRE TR E R E

based on the following data:

2025 2024
—E_RE —E U
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FE T

Loss attributable to equity shareholders ~ FRAZT B G ARE A & #55

of the Company for the purpose of BERzZANE SRR
computing basic and diluted loss per FE(h B 1R
share (32,609) (2,207)

I
Number of shares

B EE
2025 2024
—TE-RE —EPNF

Weighted average number of ordinary AUGTEESREARLEEEIR

shares for the purpose of basic and 2 EmpR NI 8 R

diluted loss per share 301,052,675 301,052,675
The computation of diluted loss per share does not assume HSEREEFEERETBBRITEERAF
the exercise of the Company’s options because the El’] ﬁﬁﬂxﬁé ' 75 F ﬁéﬁiﬁﬁﬁﬂx%mﬁ@if@ =
exercise price of those options was higher than the average REBEEZZE_AGER_T-_NF A=
market price for shares for both years ended 30 June 2025 =] JJ:EFHIiE R FHTE -
and 2024.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB MR M

for the year ended 30 June 2025 B Z —Z_HAF NA=ZF+HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7R~ )

11. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT M. YE- -BERRE
1 ! I ' I J | |
Ownership
interests in
|easehold land Other
and buildings properties Furniture,
Freehold land held for eased for Leasehold fixtures and Motor  Construction
and buildings 0Wn use ownuse improvements  equipment vehicles  in progress Total
BA
fissgh
REL#R BA

KRR g¥RN PARN RENR Bl
thREY  BEERR RN k8 RERRR RE ERIE #
HKS 000 HK§ 000 HK§'000 HKS 000 HK§000 HK§'000 HKS 000 HK$'000
TR TR TER TR TR TER TR Tin
I I S S S S S S

Cost TS

At 1July 2023 NEZZFA-B 27490 64,832 64973 60944 396,867 10,79 4997 630,859
Currency realignment Eing (180) (1,764 (780) (390) 1221) (323 (215) (10873
Addiions 7E - 0 6,33 1718 10842 3,499 - 2464
Write-offfisposals fi5/ne - - - (129) (6,920) (5,239 - (12.287)
Reclassifcation Efip - - - - 4,722 - [472) -
At 30 June 2024 and W-B-RERA=THE

1 Juy 2024 Sl 1 Rl 730 63,138 70528 114 398,310 8,733 - 639,163
Currency realignment ERGE 524 4,545 643 1,42 18,165 244 - 25,542
Additons hE - 655 8,493 708 11,674 - - 21,530
Wrte-offcisposals i/ 0E - - (29,319) - (5,500) (3,887 - (38,706)
At30 June 2025 AE-RERAZTR 27,834 68,338 50,345 73213 422,649 5,000 - 647,529




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB SRR AT

for the year ended 30 June 2025 HEZ T -_HAF A=+ HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7~ )

11. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 1. ¥ BERRE =

(continued)

Ownership
interests in
|easehold land Other
and buildings properties Furniture,
Freehold land held for |eased for Leasehold fixtures and Motor ~ Construction
and buildings own use ownuse improvements  equipment vehicles in progress Total
B
figRM
BELHR BR

AR #¥eN AEEN RENR B
1HRRT  BEERE  AMAR k¢ KERER RE RRIE L1
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK§'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TR TR TR TR TR TR
I I S S S S S S

Depreciation and impairment: FFERHE :

A1 July 2023 N-E-ZELA-R 9917 51,051 31918 5,073 280,337 10559 - 450,855
Curency reagnment EfE - (789 104 (321) (£,055) (17 - (6,046)
Charge for the year TERER - 2,120 12711 5847 21419 696 - 12593
Eiminated on dsposalsfwrite-off  5EE /M BB IR - - - (129 {4,751) (5,239 - (10,119
A1 30 June 2024 and e 1y o

1.y 2024 R-E-mELA-H 9017 52,362 49925 64,271 294,950 5,8% - 477,284
Currency realignment EXGE - 243 488 1,128 11,622 124 - 15,797
Charge for the year FEEER - 2,220 12,260 3,499 21,437 870 - 40,308
Eiminated on disposalshwrie-off  REE /% R R - - (29,319) - (4,266) (3,881) - (3747
£t30 Jung 2025 MECRERACTR 9017 571,097 33376 66,898 303,143 2,046 - 495917
NET BOOK VALUE e

30 Jung 2025 MECRERAZTH 17917 11,301 16,969 4,375 98906 2,144 - 151,612
30 Jung 2024 NZE-mERAZ1R 17303 10,756 20603 6,873 103360 2804 - 161879
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB MR M

for the year ended 30 June 2025 B Z —Z_HAF NA=ZF+HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7R~ )

11. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT M. YE -BERSRE®
(continued)
(a) Right-of-use assets (a) EHAEEE
The analysis of the net book value of right-of-use FTRAREELRABEEERNESOER
assets by class of underlying asset is as follows: HFESTET

2025 2024
—E_FRF —ZEZFE
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET

Ownership interests in leasehold land & B SN - BE B

and buildings held for own use BEMNHEELTH
outside Hong Kong, with remaining ~ Ri&FHh K% G #
lease term of: Em o FAHEESRR
- 50 years or more —50F sk A £ 312 329
— between 10 and 50 years —10&50%F 10,989 10,427
11,301 10,756
Other properties leased for own use A B RAMHE SR E Y% 16,969 20,603
Motor vehicles RE 2,106 2,845
19,075 23,448
30,376 34,204
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB SRR AT

for the year ended 30 June 2025 HEZ T -_HAF A=+ HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7~ )

11. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(continued)
(a) Right-of-use assets (continued)
The analysis of expense items in relation to leases

M. PE - BERRKE®

(a) FAEEE®
FHEAEZANERNBAXER 9
FulNE

recognised in profit or loss is as follows:

2025 2024
—E-RE =~ it ==
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTET FHET
I I
Depreciation charge of right-of-use  EAEEEMITEE A -
assets by class of underlying asset: IR EEDE :
Ownership interests in leasehold land A& + i R EF &)
and buildings EAEEER 2,220 2,120
Other properties leased forown use ABEBAMBEERNEME 12,282 12,711
Motor vehicles A 500 674
15,002 15,505
Interest on lease liabilities (note 6(a)) & & FEHF| & ([ 5E6(a)) 1,116 1,838
Expense relating to short-term leases B @R AR EMNHX 1,743 1,489
Expense relating to leases of EHERBEEEAEHENME
low-value assets - 13

During the year ended 30 June 2025, additions
to right-of-use assets were HK$8,493,000 (2024:
HK$9,712,000). This amount primarily related to
the capitalised lease payments payable under new

R-CE-_RAF~NAZF+HLEFER:
3 B E/IZHNA8,493,000/8 70 (=
T PF 9,712,000 L) c 2 & HE
FESPREMWE(ZE_NE : Bfh
MERAB)RESNHERRENNE
e E R K5 -

tenancy agreements for other properties (2024: other
properties and motor vehicles).

EHRHESER e AL NEEaEE
H 285159 I EF W 5E19(c) 0 BT
5F22 o

Details of total cash outflow for leases and the maturity
analysis of lease liabilities are set out in notes 19(c)
and 22 respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR e PR R AR MY &

for the year ended 30 June 2025 B ZE T A F A=+ HIFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7R~ )

11. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(continued)
(a) Right-of-use assets (continued)

(i)

(i)

(i)

EENERERAR

Ownership interests in leasehold land and
buildings held for own use

The Group hold several industrial buildings as
factories where its manufacturing facilities are
primarily located. The Group is the registered
owner of these property interests, including the
whole or part of undivided share in the underlying
land. Lump sum payments were made upfront
to acquire the right-of-use, and there are no
ongoing payments to be made under the terms
of the land lease, other than payments based on
rateable values set by the relevant government
authorities. These payments vary from time to
time and are payable to the relevant government
authorities.

Other properties leased for own use

The Group has obtained the right to use of
other properties as its warehouses and factories
through tenancy agreements. The lease terms
are generally ranged from two to six years.

Motor vehicles

The Group leases motor vehicles under leases
expiring from one to four years. None of the
leases includes variable lease payments.

| CE-REEH e

M. PE - BERRKE®

(a) FAREE®

()

(i)

(i)

3 B A 15 A /) B 1 i R 1E
FHa A EE
AEBRBEETIEEFTIELIR
HEERBEBMNZFET
AEERZEMFEE O M
BEA BEMEBLIHSD N
MERBXEs - RIRGERESR
EASEES N —EBEFRE
REBE L EE R BRIAB I
FERMEMEREMBERSE
BRI BARBENFK - %
ERBETRHEY WEAXNTH
FARAER -

3 E M E A MY

AEECKREEHEHZNEE
HEWERERBR TR ME
Pt - HEH RN F_ERF -

TE
AEERERP—E=OFHHEE
HARE HEMITREITEME
EfTFREE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB SRR AT

for the year ended 30 June 2025 HEZ T -_HAF A=+ HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7~ )

11. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(continued)
(b) Impairment assessment

M. PE - BERRKE®
(b) BB R

OeO 122

As at 30 June 2025, the directors of the Company
conducted an impairment assessment for the
property, plant and equipment in view of the Group’s
past performance, management’s expectations for
the market development and the uncertain economic
environment. The recoverable amount has been
determined based on a value in use calculation. The
calculation uses cash flow projections based on
financial budgets approved by management covering
a 5-year period, and discount rate of 9.0% (2024:
10.40%). Cash flows beyond the 5-year period are
extrapolated using a steady 2.5% (2024: 1.7%)
growth rate. This growth rate is based on the relevant
industry growth forecasts and does not exceed
the average long-term growth rate for the relevant
industry. Other key assumptions for the value in use
calculations relate to the estimation of cash inflows/
outflows which include budgeted sales and gross
margin, such estimation is based on the Group’s
past performance and management’s expectations
for the market development which are subject to
higher degree to estimation uncertainties. As at 30
June 2025, no impairment is considered necessary.
Management believes that any reasonably possible
change in any of these assumptions would not cause
the carrying amount to exceed the recoverable
amount.

RZE-_RAFAAA=Z+H AQA=E
ERLEEASEBEIRE BEREEY
TS EMTEE R THARRMLERE
HWE BELERZXBHETRENG-
AESEUERAEBEFEMEE
EETERBELERBIERESFH
W BEER AR RE  RUMR
9.0% (ZZEZVHF : 10.4%) 5t & - &
HsFHE R e RERNEA2.5% (=
ToMFE1T7%)IBTEHEREHRR -
ZERERTDBIEAABITRIERERNE
- BTNEBEBTENTFH RN
KX -FRAMBFARESRAREBE
REEFEEZNHEMBREBERREH
EEERENE  BEMTTIERSK
SEMNBARBREEEYMIGEE
WTEE  MEFFERS THEE I -
RZE-_RAFAAA=+H &EEE
WENEELRE EREEHREZS
BEHNAMNEGEEDHBETSFEEREEAE
R E AT B SEE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR e PR R AR MY &

for the year ended 30 June 2025 B Z —Z_HAF NA=ZF+HILFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7R~ )

12. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 12. REWE
I S
2025 2024
—E_RE —E
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FET FAET
I .
Fair value AFEE
At the beginning of the year REA) 149,121 150,027
Currency realignment bE 5 P& 2,535 (906)
Fair value loss on investment properties & W E A FEBEEE (2,126) -
At the end of the year RER 149,530 149,121

The fair values of the Group’s investment properties at 30
June 2025 and 2024 have been arrived at on the basis of
a valuation carried out by Vincorn Consulting and Appraisal
Limited, an independent qualified professional valuer not
connected with the Group. The valuation of investment
properties located in Shenzhen was arrived at using the
income approach by taking into account the current
passing rents of the properties being held under existing
tenancies and the reversionary value upon expiry of the
existing tenancies. The valuation of investment properties
located in Foshan, Longnan and Myanmar was arrived at
using the depreciated replacement cost approach with
reference to its depreciated replacement costs.

All of the Group’s property interests held under operating
leases to earn rentals or for capital appreciation purposes
are measured using the fair value model and are classified
and accounted for as investment properties.

All investment properties of the Group are situated on land
outside Hong Kong.

SEBNERERAT | ZE-HFEFH o

REBREMER T _AFR TN
FRA=ZTHZATFEE  HREEARSE
EvEBE s B EEAERGEERMELS
BARTEERARETZHEEEE - 1
ORI TR R EY M EE T HERB KA ZE
ET  HEREEECREBHAOMED
XM THPZBERTZEMEZRITH
e REBATRENESEE -ALRFHL
MW EEBEAEAEANREMENGHEIE
AT EBRAEEI T ERELZEEN
BREBEMRA

RELEHEFFUARDRE S HIEERE
EZARKEEMENE#RSDEAAFER
BAFE  XDBE/RARINEREDE

AEBRERENMEAMNREFBAINNL
o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB SRR AT

for the year ended 30 June 2025 HEZ T -_HAF A=+ HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7~ )

12. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 12. REW =X 8

Fair value hierarchy AFEEER

The following table presents the fair value of the Group’s THREINNHEMRIZEEFHEELEAEY

properties measured at the end of the reporting period on AEEBMELNFEBE ZELAFEEESE

a recurring basis, categorised into the three-level fair value BB REEFISRIATFEEFZE] R

hierarchy as defined in HKFRS 13, Fair value measurement. EZ-_AFEEERL»E - RFEER

The level into which a fair value measurement is classified EZEREKLEMERINAAE AR

is determined with reference to the observability and BzABRELREZHETHT

significance of the inputs used in the valuation technique as

follows:

— Level 1 valuations:  Fair value measured using only — FREE EUFE R A (A
Level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted BREEXBENGE
quoted prices in active markets HHTEERMISH 2K
for identical assets or liabilities at HERE)FTEZATF
the measurement date BE

— Level 2 valuations:  Fair value measured using Level - BIRMEE: ABZKEABE A
2 inputs i.e. observable inputs THEE—HF2OBE
which fail to meet Level 1, and BMABE) BETERE
not using significant unobservable YNIREE X3 PN 2§
inputs. Unobservable inputs are HEZATEBE A
inputs for which market data are R ASERELE
not available FHEETSEE @A

E1E7
— Level 3 valuations: ~ Fair value measured using — F-RHE: FRAEAMATERE

significant unobservable inputs AR E 2 AT EE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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for the year ended 30 June 2025 B Z —Z_HAF NA=ZF+HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7R~ )

12. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 12. BEWE )
Fair value hierarchy (continued) AFEEER @

Fair value at Fair value measurements
30 June 2025 as at 30 June 2025 categorised into
R=B-h&
ARA=tHZ THER-Z-RFRA=THZ
ATEE AYEEHE
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
E—& Lt} B=R
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
THT FHT FHRL FHR
. J | | | |
Recurring fair value REMATEENE
measurement
Investment properties: BEWE
- Industrial - PRC —IX¥-7FH 127,079 - - 127,079
— Industrial - Myanmar —T¥-ARA 12,277 - - 12,277
- Residential - PRC —fFE-F 10,174 - - 10,174
149,530 - - 149,530

Fair value at Fair value measurements as
30 June 2024 at 30 June 2024 categorised into
R-Z_mE
ANA=Z+AZ THERR ZEZMNFESA=FTHZ
R EE NEEEFE
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
E— E-H E=H
HK$'000 HK$’'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FET FET TET
I I I S R
Recurring fair value REMHLATLEEFGE
measurement
Investment properties: REME
- Industrial - PRC —IX-FH 125,759 - - 125,759
- Industrial - Myanmar ~T¥%-ff 13,053 - - 13,053
- Residential - PRC —fFE-F 10,309 - - 10,309
149,121 - - 149,121
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for the year ended 30 June 2025 HEZ T -_HAF A=+ HILFE
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12. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 12. BEWE @)
Information about Level 3 fair value BEHE=ZQR A ATEEFEZER
measurements

Unobservable input -
Reversionary value

Unobservable input-  (market unit rate per
Capitalisation rate square metre)
FABREABE -
TR BREARE - EREE
BEAR{pt = (BRARENER)
Range Range
HE #E
I |
Investment properties R-E-HFXA=TH
as at 30 June 2025 ZBREM=
— Industrial - Shenzhen, PRC ~ — LE— BRI 1.75% to 2.25% RMB7,397 to
RMB10,664
1.75%%2.25% ARM7,3970 2
AR #10,6647T
- Residential — Shenzhen, PRC  —E%E — BRI 1.75% to 2.25% RMB8,009 to
RMB10,061
1.75%%£2.25% AR #8,0097t &
AR #10,0617T

I e
Unobservable input -
Replacement cost
per square metre
AABERARE -
BYAREERAK
Range
g
I |

- Industrial- Foshan, PRC — ITHE-—HE#LD RMB752 to
RMB888

ARBTIS2TE

AR #8887

- Industrial- Longnan, PRC - I¥-PHEEH RMB715
AR¥T157T

— Industrial - Myanmar - I%-/4@8 USD201 to
UsD273

201EnZE

273% T
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB MR M

for the year ended 30 June 2025 B Z —Z_HAF NA=ZF+HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7R~ )

12. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 12. REWHE (&)
Information about Level 3 fair value ERFE=ZRAFEEFEZ2ER @)

measurements (continued)

Unobservable input -
Reversionary value

Unobservable input - (market unit rate per
Capitalisation rate square metre)
TAEBERASE -
TRBRBABE - BBRERE
BER{p b ® (BEAKREMER)
Range Range
& [

Investment properties R-E-_MEXA=TAH
as at 30 June 2024 ZREME
- Industrial - Shenzhen, PRC ~ — L ¥ —H BRI 1.75% t0 2.25% RMB6,915 to
RMB10,201
1.75%%2.25% AR#6,915702
AR#10,2017T
- Residential - Shenzhen, PRC  — F= — R ELZEYIT 1.5% t0 2.0% RMB8,910 to
RMB10,859
1.5%%2.0% AR#8,910%
AR#10,8597C

I
Unobservable input -
Replacement cost
per square metre
THBERABE -
BYAKREEKAR
Range
&[E
I e

- Industrial- Foshan, PRC — T¥-FhREBLT RMB792 to RMB923
AREI92E
ARBEQ23TT

- Industrial- Longnan, PRC —I¥-PElERE RMB745
AREE7457C

— Industrial - Myanmar - IT¥-ia USD212 to USD284
212% L%
2843 TT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB SRR AT

for the year ended 30 June 2025 HEZ T -_HAF A=+ HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7~ )

12. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 12. REY = 8)
Information about Level 3 fair value ERE=RLAFEEFEZER @)
measurements (continued)
The fair value of investment properties located in Shenzhen URRIITIREDEZAFEEDESR
is determined by discounting and capitalising the current ABERENMCBEEHEEZEHRTHS W
passing rental income over existing tenancy and potential AREBEEEHEE LRBEENRE K=
reversionary value at appropriate investment yields to arrive RELEABEMET HEZEHEBEY
at the capital value. The valuation takes into account the X¥ERAHOCRTESRERNTEXE
current passing rents under the existing tenancies and the WERBE FIEBERNMLLEERET
reversionary values upon expiry of the existing tenancies. BEERNMBEUREFEEERERFAE -
The capitalisation rates used have been adjusted for the AVEEFEEERFEBANELRL  HER
quality and location of the buildings and the tenant credit AR E AR L R -

quality. The fair value measurement is positively correlated
to the reversionary values and negatively correlated to the
risk-adjusted capitalisation rate.

The fair value of investment properties located in Foshan, MREILT REEEERAANKEYERN
Longnan and Myanmar is determined by using the NREFEEDERTHREERRNEETE T
depreciated replacement cost approach which is based on BEENAENRE T HIRE BER NG
an estimate of the value for the existing use of the land, plus BE MEEXEIERNRKEE (ER)
the current gross replacement (reproduction) costs of the FRABRE  BREARERBRERAEHE
improvements, less allowances for physical deterioration FARERELELNEE RLOEE
and all relevant forms of obsolescence and optimisation. ERFHEENAE DETEREKRAT
The application of depreciated replacement cost approach LERRSERMGRABLERI S UK
is mainly due to their lack of active market and comparable HKARAEZRBRZ TP BEE - A FE
transactions for the use of market approach and the lack B 2RBEBFY I RTHREERAZEEE -

of sufficient financial data for income approach for these
assets. The fair value measurement is positively correlated
to the depreciated replacement cost per square meter.

Investment Investment Investment
properties properties properties
- industrial - industrial - residential
- Myanmar -PRC -PRC Total
N -I% %
-ff - - @ct
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
THER TR TR TET
| ! I |
At July 2023 R-ZE-=F+A—H 13,053 126,597 10,377 150,027
Currency realignment i 9% - (838) (68) (906)

At 30 June 2024 and RZZE-WNEAA=ZTHEK

1 July 2024 “Z-mNE+HA—H 13,053 125,759 10,309 149,121
Fair value adjustment NHEERR (776) (1,026) (324) (2,126)
Currency realignment ME 5 A% - 2,346 189 2,535
At 30 June 2025 RZZE-_RFSA=TH 12,277 127,079 10,174 149,530
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR e PR R AR MY &

for the year ended 30 June 2025 B Z —Z_HAF NA=ZF+HILFE

12. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

Information about Level 3 fair value
measurements (continued)

Fair value adjustment of investment properties is
recognised in the line item “other net income” of the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

The Group leases out investment property under operating
leases. The leases run for an initial period of 1 to 15 years,
with an option to renew the lease after that date at which
time all terms are renegotiated.

Undiscounted lease payments under non-cancellable
operating leases in place at the reporting date will be
receivable by the Group in future periods as follows:

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7R~ )

12. REWE )

FRE=RLFEEFEZER @)

BREWMEZATFEEABRGERGRZ
[E A A H 58 R -

AEBRBELEHELEREME-HE
H’]§1.HH|ZEE7:I:+££E C WA R B 1R
EBERER BN MAGRKBEeENER -

2025 2024

—E-REF —ETNEF

HK$°000 HK$’000

FBT FHET
1 I

Within 1 year —&F R 12,299 11,938

After 1 year but within 2 years —FREMFAN 6,438 11,408

After 2 year but within 3 years MFEZRB=FNR 5,634 5,660

After 3 year but within 4 years ZFRENFR 1,526 5,360

After 4 year but within 5 years WMFERERFA 1,526 1,498

After 5 years AFE 10,579 11,882

38,002 47,746

Property rental income earned during the year was
HK$12,600,000 (2024: HK$12,189,000). All of the
properties held have committed tenants for the next 1 to 11
years (2024: 1 to 12 years).

RERNRER 2 ERS KA &12,600,000
BT (ZZE Y4 12,189,000/ JT) ° FT
REZZHYWERRR-—ZE+T—F(ZFT
ZWHEF BT F)DEMEPEME -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR e PR R AR BT &

for the year ended 30 June 2025 HEZE T -—AF NA=Z+HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7~ )

13. INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE

Details of the Group’s interest in a joint venture, which is
accounted for using the equity method in the consolidated
financial statements, are as follows:

13. R—BEELRAzER
AEERAERR s (ERERE
B BHEAR) HBHIET

SRR

Particulars Effective
Place of of issued percentage
incorporation and paid-up of equity Principal
Name of joint venture and business capital interest held Activity
= i B 2 BEITR FrisREZ
BERBER EEME HEREFE BB FEXK
I S I N
Charming Elastic Fabric Company Hong Kong Ordinary — 49% Manufacture
Limited (“Charming”) HK$4,662,396 and sales of
elastic garment
straps
PEERTEEMBERAR(HE]D o R — 49% FERIEE
4,662,396/ 7T XK R AR
The Group entered into a shareholders’ agreement (the RZE—RAF+—HAOA - ASEHEBR

“Shareholders’ Agreement”) with New Horizon International
Investments Limited (“New Horizon”), a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Best Pacific International Holdings Limited,
on 4 November 2015. According to the Shareholders’
Agreement, the substantive operating and financing
decisions related to Charming are under the joint control
by the Group and New Horizon when the Group’s
shareholding in Charming is 20% or above. As a result,
the Group account for its interest in Charming as a joint
venture.

OeO 130

BRZERARARZEZEMB AR EER
BIREBRDR (EZE]) AT BR B ([
Ripagl) - REBRR B HAKERS
BHEB20%H A LRE ERFABZEE
RENBERRABAEE R BZELXRE
B Bt AEBERFABZEE ARG

=
BEAF -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR e PR R AR MY &

for the year ended 30 June 2025 B Z —Z_HAF NA=ZF+HILFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7R~ )

13. INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE (continued) 13. R—EEERAZERE®

Summarised financial information of Charming, adjusted for
any differences in accounting policies, and a reconciliation
to the carrying amount in the consolidated financial
statements, are disclosed below:

FREZUGERN ERETRRCENER
ERHRAR) BB R ERSPBERRAZIRE
EHREENT

2025 2024
—E-HE —ZETNF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTET FHET
I I
Gross amounts of Charming’s THEBER 2 #H
Current assets MBEE 62,267 56,091
Non-current assets IEREBEE 7,887 9,431
Current liabilities mENAE (9,138) (8,712)
Equity R (61,016) (56,810)
Included in the above assets and liabilities: it &E &k BEE G KX
Cash and cash equivalents BeMREERHIAR 35,455 21,837
Current financial liabilities (excluding trade MB TR B E (TEEE S
and other payables and provisions) R 1S B 3R e L At B AT R R
VA K2 5 48) (3,023) (3,252)
Revenue WA 63,322 61,651
Profit after taxation B 0 18 04 7,632 7,231
Other comprehensive income Hmh 2 mE K s 35 684
Total comprehensive income ANz LT 7,667 7,915
Included in the above profit: FHURNEET R
Depreciation and amortisation e kR 1,022 856
Reconciled to the Group’s interest HASEEMEAERR ZHE
in Charming
Gross amounts of Charming’s net assets % 8 2 & & F{E 4 7 61,016 56,810
Group’s effective interest REEZER#ER 49% 49%
Group's share of Charming’s net assets ~ ANEBFTIEAE 2 EEFE 29,898 27,837
Disproportionate share of undistributed 7 3% Eb 71 5515 2 7K 53 & 4 )
profits (Note) (PR &E) 144 144
Carrying amount in the consolidated RirE M Bmk s REE
financial statements 30,042 27,981

Note:

According to the Shareholders’ Agreement, the Group is entitled to
60% of the dividend to be declared for the years ended 30 June 2016
and 2017 irrespective for the change in shareholding as mentioned
above.

During the year ended 30 June 2025, dividend of HK$1,695,000 was
received from joint venture.

SEBNERERAT | ZE-HFEFH o

M3E
RIEBRRGE AREERERABE T —KF

R-Z—tFRNA=TALFEREMEEBSZ
60% - M i bt R AE AL B o

RBE-_Z-_AFAAZ1+BHLEER WEAE
N A K A% B.1,695,000/8 7T °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB SRR AT

for the year ended 30 June 2025 HEZE T -—AF NA=Z+HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7~ )

14.

132

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES 14. R E AT 2R
. ! |
2025 2024
—E-REF —TNEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET AT
. ! |
Group’s share of net assets AEEDLHEEFE 6,308 5,579
Details of the Group’s interests in associates, which are AREBRBENF 2 ERD (FAESENES
accounted for using the equity method in the consolidated EUMBEHREAR)FEEHWOT :

financial statements, are as follows:

Place of Particulars of Effective
incorporation issued and percentage of Principal
Name of associate and business paid-up capital equity interest held activity
MR ERTR FisREZ
BENTER EEH BRRAFE ERAAL TEEHR
2025 2024

—E-RE —E-QE
I I I I I

Techspase (Private) Limited Sri Lanka Ordinary - 25% 25% Moulding and
(‘Techspase”) HEFFR USD2,000,000 laminating business
L@k - BREER
2,000,000% 7 BREB
PT Bintang Abadi Persada (“BAP”) Indonesia Ordinary - 47.4% 47.4% Manufacture of
EJE Rp1,900,000,000 ladies’ underwear
Epil e HEELEAK

1,900,000,000E1E B

As at 30 June 2025 and 2024, the management of the RZE-_RAFER T -_MFA= + =
Group conducted a review on the recoverable amount of f&%;@g% =g ;t 7= ﬁég & /D\; & @ gﬁj
o ) ) . THETRT BHE_ZT-_AF X
its interests |In a3890|at§s. During the year .ended 30 June A=+ B ILEfE - & EBEERE2RE
2025, there is no impairment loss recognised (2024: the BEER(CE-NE: AEERAREEE
Group recognised an impairment loss of HK$3,108,000). 3,108,000/ 7T) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB MR M

for the year ended 30 June 2025 B Z —Z_HAF NA=ZF+HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7R~ )

15. FINANCIAL ASSET AT FAIR VALUE 15. R AFEEFTAEBZENEREE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

2025 2024
—E-EHF —E-EF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHT
I I
Financial asset at FVPL RATEBEAAEGNEREE
Unlisted investment, at fair value FELMIRE  BAFEE 6,192 -
Unlisted investment represents unlisted key management FFLETREEIFLTHTIEEEAESR
insurance contracts. During the year ended 30 June 2025, BEH REE-_ZT-_AFA=+HL
the Group has an investment in life insurance contract FE - AEERER—MHDASRRBRELD
with the initial payment of US$1,000,000 (equivalent to 18 X 1+ & %8 A1,000,000% T (HHE R
HK$7,770,000), and cash surrender value of US$797,000 7,770,000 7T) R _E_AFNA=T
(equivalent to HK$6,192,000) as at 30 June 2025. The loss HMIE$ERREMEBA/TI7T,000E T (HE
in investment in an insurance contract of HK$1,578,000 76,192,000 7T) « R & VIR & K & 18
has been recognised in the consolidated statement of profit 1,578,000 TERBE_ZT_HF X H
or loss for the year ended 30 June 2025. —THEFENGEBRRTER
16. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS 16. Hth & mEE
Equity securities designated at FVOCI EEAUATEEFEEHBZETA
(non-recycling) Htt2EWE (FAEE) WERES
I I
2025 2024
—E-RE ZEYF
HK$°000 HK$’000
FHET FHET
I I
Unlisted equity securities FLMHEEES 2,838 2,838
The Group designated the investment in equity securities AN TRENAEBENMmMES - Bt -
at FVOCI (non-recycling) as the investment is held for AEEBUTHERESFREETAURTE
strategic purposes. BEFEAEZEFH T AEME2EKZE CFA]
) o
The unlisted equity securities are shares in a company T RESESFERXRPRFMEZA
incorporated in the PRC and engaged in trading of NEIRED EEPRETLEARAKES -
ladies’ underwear in the PRC. As at 30 June 2025 and RZE_RAFR-_ZT-_NFA=+H"
2024, the fair value changes on other financial assets are EthemEEN QA FEEZESHTK -
insignificant.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR e PR R AR BT &

for the year ended 30 June 2025 HEZ T -_HAF A=+ HILFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7~ )

17. INVENTORIES

(a) Inventories in the consolidated statement of

financial position comprise:

17. 8
(a) ZFEMBRRRAZEFERRE

2025 2024

—E-REF —E-pUF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FAT
| e I

Raw materials R 92,728 72,008

Work in progress EEE 36,882 52,682

Finished goods BUPK o 32,913 45,694

162,523 170,384

(b) The analysis of the amount of inventories
recognised as an expense and included in

profit or loss is as follows:

(b) BRAEBXIAEFTABLBEZ2EFES
BOFWMT :

2025 2024

—ZE-HF —E_mMF

HK$’000 HK$ 000

FExT FHET

. |

Carrying amount of inventories sold B &HFE 2 RMEE

(note 6) (Fff5E6) 980,645 878,480
Reversal of allowance for obsolete ~ FREGFE & EHE D

inventories (note 6) (Mf5E6) (6,888) (3,806)

973,757 874,674
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR e PR R AR MY &

for the year ended 30 June 2025 B Z —Z_HAF NA=ZF+HILFE

18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7R~ )

18. E 5 R H b B W AR =X

2025 2024
—E_RHE —EFE
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FET

Trade and bills receivables at amortised
cost, net of loss allowance

Trade receivables to be factored
at FVOCI (recycling)

E 5 EINBE K B

WK - MR EIERE 127,823 132,453
NAFEEAELEEFHTA

Hip2mikas (F )

BEEE ZEIERER 7,592 20,704

135,415 153,157

Other receivables H {th e Uk BR 53R 34,640 25,374
170,055 178,531

All of the trade, bills and other receivables are expected to
be recovered within one year.

As part of the Group’s cash flow management, the Group
has the practice of factoring some of the trade receivables
to financial institutions before the trade receivables are due
for repayment and derecognises factored trade receivables
on the basis that the Group has transferred substantially all
risks and rewards to the relevant counterparties.

During the year ended 30 June 2025, the effective interest
rates of the factored trade receivables at FVOCI (recycling)
ranged from 5.66% to 6.88% per annum (2024: 6.70% to
6.98%). Details of the valuation techniques and key inputs
adopted for their fair value measurements are disclosed
in note 26(c). As at 30 June 2025 and 2024, the fair value
changes on trade receivables at FVOCI (recycling) are
insignificant and accordingly, no fair value changes are
recognised in equity.

BEHMAE S RKIESR  BIREEREM
JE U BR B 1 — FE A U (] o

ERASERSREEEN &0 A&
B 18 Pl B0 B 5 e W R SR B B (8 & A
MOEFERBERZETSRME TR
RASECKET 2 RBRMBMER T
BHEXSZHF T HEREE S BERERRK
LEFERR ©

BHE_Z-_AF A A=1THLEFE UA
TEEFEAEEZHT AEMEEYE (7]
EE)NEREBE I EBERNERFF X
N F5.66%%E6.88% (- F U4 : 6.70%%E
6.98%) - AEMERAFEEFEMFAD
i (B BT % = Z 8 A B K &F 15 72 T 7526(0)
NFEE - R_E-_HAFRN T _MNFXA
Z+H NURAFEBEFEBEZHT AR
fhrEmWE(TEE) WEZREBEZRNA
FTEEZH T Al WELEZ AR
RATFEEZE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB SRR AT

for the year ended 30 June 2025 HEZE T -—AF NA=Z+HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7~ )

18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued) 18. B 5 & H b FE W BR FX (&
At the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of RMERR ZREER H;EJEU 32 B 5 IR

Rk EKRRE (CHREBERE) 2Rk

net of loss allowance, is as follows: DWTEHWOT -

trade and bills receivables, based on the invoice date and

2025 2024

—E-RE —E oA

HK$°000 HK$’'000

FET FAT
| e I

1 - 90 days 1-90H 129,229 151,662

91 - 180 days 91-180H 6,186 1,495

135,415 153,157

B RYRA R EWRENFE A RERT
1OE|:I:90E| NEH - EEAKEEERR

Trade and bills receivables are due within 10 days to 90
days from the date of billing. Details on the Group’s credit

policy are set out in note 26(b)(ii). RIFFIE - BT EE26(0)() A ©
19. BANK BALANCES AND CASH 10. RITEREES
(a) Bank balances and cash (a) RITHEHRRERS
Bank balances and cash comprise cash held by the RITEBLBEEEASEMEA

Group and short-term bank deposits with an original ZHe MRERETR =@ A =k A R EH

136

maturity of three months or less. The bank balances
carry interest at market rates which range from
0.001% to 0.35% (2024: 0.001% to 2%) per annum.

(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from

financing activities

The table below details changes in the Group’s
liabilities from financing activities, including both
cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from
financing activities are liabilities for which cash flows
were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the
Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows as cash
flows from financing activities.

ZREHRITIE R o SRITRBRTIRN T
0.001%20.35% (—ZF 94 : 0.001%
E2%) 2 MHFMEEE °

MEXBRELEREZHER

TRAJNAEERREXBHELR
B2 BREASNIESE

@Eﬁ%ﬁkﬁﬁﬁiéﬁﬁiﬁﬁméaﬂ
IRKBEREFNAEEBLEAR S
MERDPBERBREXKREREZRA

f& o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB MR M

for the year ended 30 June 2025 B Z —Z_HAF NA=ZF+HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7R~ )

19. BANK BALANCES AND CASH (continued)
(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from

financing activities (continued)

10. BITERBRERE &)

(b) MEXBRELEEB/ZHER W)

Unsecured Lease
bank loans liabilities Total
®IEH
RITER HEER Hm
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
THET THET TR
(Note 21) (Note 22)
(KHreE21) (HtzE22)
. J | | |
At 1 July 2024 R-ZZB-ME+A-H 91,951 25,283 117,234
Changes from financing cash flows: BEREFELE
Proceeds from new bank loans REFEETERN
g3 351,539 - 351,539
Repayment of bank loans BEFTER (343,635) - (343,635)
Interest paid BRFE (6,727) - (6,727)
Capital element of lease rentals paid ERNEERE  ERS D - (13,726) (13,726)
Interest element of lease rentals paid EREEREZFIERS - (1,116) (1,116)
Total changes from financing cash flows BB B4R EEFEE 1,177 (14,842) (13,665)
Exchange adjustments ERAE - 307 307
Other changes: Htg#5:
Interest expenses (note 6(a)) M2 % (H5E6() 6,727 1,116 7,843
Increase in lease liabilities from entering A 3T 37 & E £ £
into new leases during the year HEBBEEM - 8,493 8,493
Total other changes Hin 2 iasE 6,727 9,609 16,336
At 30 June 2025 R-ZE-HEEAA=TH 99,855 20,357 120,212
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB SRR AT

for the year ended 30 June 2025 HEZE T -—AF NA=Z+HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7~ )

19. BANK BALANCES AND CASH (continued) 10. BITERREREE &)
(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from (b) MEXKFIELEEBZHERE®

financing activities (continued)

Unsecured Lease
bank loans liabilities Total
E i
BITER HEBE B
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET FAT FTAT
(Note 21) (Note 22)
(HzE21) (H3E22)

At 1 July 2023 R-ZE-=f+tA-A8 123,804 29,1562 152,956

Changes from financing cash flows: B&ER &R EE

Proceeds from new bank loans REFIERITERH
PSR 346,875 - 346,875

Repayment of bank loans BRRTER (378,728) - (378,728)
Interest paid BERFE (8,246) - (8,246)
Capital element of lease rentals paid B HERE 2 EAH S - (13,358) (13,358)
Interest element of lease rentals paid E M ER L 2 7 B85 - (1,838) (1,838)
Total changes from financing RERERELHEHE

cash flows (40,099 (15,196) (55,295)
Exchange adjustments EHAE - (223) (223)
Other changes: Hitt# g :
Interest expenses (note 6(a)) F B X (M 6(a) 8,246 1,838 10,084
Increase in lease liabilities from AEEIUMMEEELL

entering into new leases HEBEEM

during the year - 9,712 9,712
Total other changes HimEs)Ea 8,246 11,550 19,796
At 30 June 2024 R-ZE-WMEXA=TH 91,951 25,283 117,234
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR e PR R AR MY &

for the year ended 30 June 2025 B Z —Z_HAF NA=ZF+HILFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7R~ )

19. BANK BALANCES AND CASH (continued) 10. BITERBRERE &)

(c) Total cash outflow for leases
Amounts included in the consolidated statement of
cash flows for leases comprise the following:

(c) *ﬂﬁ%@ Iﬁﬁuluﬁ
%KIE@%TEIJ%IE :

2025 2024

—E_FRE —EF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FET
I I

Within operating cash flows RELEHEREN 1,743 1,502

Within financing cash flows RREREREN 14,842 15,196

16,585 16,698

20. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 20. ES R HMEMERM

I .

2025 2024

—E-REF —E

HK$’000 HK$'000

FE T AT
I .

Trade payables B ZENER 120,570 152,486

Other payables and accrued charges HEEMARRREER 96,317 90,056

216,887 242,542

Less: amounts due after one year B RFAERBAE IE—I—
included under non-current —F & 5 Hf 2 KT
liabilities (note 32) (Ff¥ 5£32) (9,500) (19,000)
207,387 223,542

As at 30 June 2025, trade and other payables of
HK$207,387,000 (2024: HK$223,542,000) are expected to
be settled within one year or are repayable on demand.

SEENBERARAT | —E-RHEFR e

RZE_RAFENA=1+H B RkHM
JE 1< B 7207,387,000/ 7T (=T — P04 :
223,542,000 7T) TE EA A — F W 19 2l i%
ZRMFE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB SRR AT

for the year ended 30 June 2025 HEZ T -_HAF A=+ HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7~ )

20. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (continued) 20 ES R HMENERR®
An ageing analysis of trade payables based on the payment RI|BEBMR BSRNERIIRNREHA
due date at the end of the reporting period is as follows: B2 REDTESNAT -

2025 2024
—E-HE —EF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FAT
. ! |
Current REIHA 66,787 87,811
1 - 30 days past due # Hi1-30H 16,518 38,438
31 - 60 days past due # HI31-60H 22,465 13,199
Over 60 days past due # #8860 H 14,800 13,038
120,570 152,486
As the average credit period on purchases of goods is mRBEEM FHEEHA30E60A -
ranged from 30 to 60 days, a majority of the balances EXFEERT S EHR AREE AR
which as disclosed above are within 90 days from the 5F90B A °
invoice date.
Other payables and accrued charges mainly represented Hi R R ETER T ERENES
accrued freight charges, salaries and other operating EH FeREMEERE -
expenses.
21. UNSECURED BANK LOANS 21. BEEHFRITER
At 30 June 2025 and 2024, the unsecured bank loans R-ZZE-_RAFER-_ZE_NFEA=1+H"
were repayable as follows: EEFRITERNERBARAT

2025 2024

—E_RE == it E< S

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHE T FHET
. ! |

Within one year or on demand —FRFIFEK 99,855 91,951
At 30 June 2025, the Company provided guarantee for R-ZEBE-_AFNA=+H ARQ2FTRET
bank loans of certain subsidiaries. Such banking facilities B ARMBITERIBHER - EHERT
amounted to HK$161,035,000 (2024: HK$95,000,000). A& © % A161,035,0008 7T (Z T Z U F :
The facilities were utilised to the extent of HK$99,855,000 95,000,000 L) - FARMEC KA HS
(2024: HK$91,951,000). 99,855,000/ jT (= = M 4 : 91,951,000

EIT) °
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22.

23.

EENERERAR

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR e PR R AR MY &

for the year ended 30 June 2025 B Z —Z_HAF NA=ZF+HILFE

UNSECURED BANK LOANS (continued)

All of the Group’s facilities are subject to covenant clauses,
whereby the Group is required to meet certain key financial
ratios and covenants.

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7R~ )

1. BEFRITER =

ZIKE@F)’TE@%%X;QEM%?&Z%EIEE A
REBEMEE TEEM B R RRE -

At 30 June 2025, the effective interest rate of the Group’s RZBE-_RFANA=+8" K% BiRITE

bank loans was 6.38% (2024: 6.73%) per annum. FTHEBRERNEE6.38% (ZF M F
6.73%) °

LEASE LIABILITIES 22. HEAE

The following table shows the remaining contractual
maturities of the Group’s lease liabilities at the end of the
reporting period:

TRAJEZEAEEREMRANEEREGER
BRE HHIR ¢

2025 2024
—E-RE —E oA
HK$°000 HK$’'000
FET FAT
| e I
Within 1 year —F R 12,108 13,878
After 1 year but within 2 years —FEEMFR 7,194 8,036
After 2 years but within 5 years MEBREBRFA 1,055 3,369
20,357 25,283
Less: Amounts classified as current B DB AR A BRI
liabilities (12,108) (13,878)
8,249 11,405

EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED 3. UREREEUARODBERNRS

TRANSACTIONS

The Company adopted a share option scheme on 3
November 2011 (the “Old Share Option Scheme”) for a
period of 10 years for the purpose to enable the Company
to grant share options to eligible participants as incentives
or rewards for their contribution to the Group. The Board
could grant options to eligible employees, including
directors, executives or officers of the Company and its
subsidiaries and any other persons at the discretion of
the Board to subscribe for shares in the Company (the
“Shares”). The Old Share Option Scheme expired on 2
November 2021.

| ZZ-hFFH o

ARNRRZE——F+—HA=ZHEMNER
e (EERETE] - A+ H
B AEARRAR AR L BRENRES &S
2HERCEHASEENER - EFE7

MERAAARREMBARZERNEER
BE BEEE TRAEBXEBEART
MEMAT (BEFEHBERAT) BEHAR
BANRRG ([RH]) 2BlRkE- - EER
EHEER_ZE-_—F+—A-HE®R-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB SRR AT

for the year ended 30 June 2025 HEZ T -_HAF A=+ HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7~ )

23. EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED 23. UEREEURGAERNRS @)

Oe0O 142

TRANSACTIONS (continued)
On 30 September 2019, 5,920,000 share options

were granted for HK$1 consideration to directors and
employees of the Company under the Old Share Option
Scheme. Upon completion of HK$0.50 per rights share
(the “Rights Issue”) on 19 February 2021, the number of
total outstanding options granted under the Old Share
Option Scheme was adjusted from 5,920,000 to 6,645,836
shares of which 4,759,855 share options had lapsed
subsequently; and the exercise price of the outstanding
share options was adjusted from HK$1.172 per share to
HK$1.044 per share. At 30 June 2024, the outstanding
1,885,981 options which were vested on 30 September
2022, and then be exercisable until September 2024.
During the year ended 30 June 2025, 1,885,981 share
options lapsed.

On 24 September 2021, 16,600,000 share options were
granted for HK$1 consideration to directors, the directors’
associate and employees of the Company under the Old
Share Option Scheme, 4,700,000 of which had lapsed
subsequently. These share options have been vested
on 24 September 2024, and then be exercisable until
September 2026. The exercise price is HK$0.58, being the
closing price of the Company’s shares on the date of grant.

As at 30 June 2025, the total number of outstanding
share options was 11,900,000 (2024: 13,785,981) and
all outstanding options will continue to be valid and
exercisable in accordance with the terms of Old Share
Option Scheme. No options granted under the Old Share
Option Scheme were exercised during the year ended 30
June 2025 (2024 Nil).

The Company adopted a new share option scheme on 16
November 2021 (the “New Share Option Scheme”). The
purpose of the New Share Option Scheme is for the Group
to attract, retain and motivate high-calibre employees
to strive towards long term strategy and goals of the
Group and to enable the Company to grant share options
to eligible participants (the “Eligible Participants”) as
incentives and rewards for their contribution to the Group.

RZZE-—AFELA=Z1+H8 X2FRE
ERREFEAARANESEREERT
5,920,000 B figtE - BERARERIE T -
RZEZ—F A+ BERHRKRRKH.5
BT ([ERR]) B E - RIBERBKRER S
T AR 1T & i AR A 48 21 35,920,000
19 ¥ % 56,645,8361) © & #4,759,8551)
IR E B D R M ARTT (MR
MITEEBABRSRIAT2ETHAERABETR
10448 - R-_ZE-_WMEA=1+H -
1,885,981 M ARTTHEEREZAR T ==
FANA=Z+HEEBE YA IFEE-_T /N
FARA - RBE_Z-_RFAA=+81
F[Z - 1,885,98117 BAHED Kk -

—E-—FNAAZ+WA AARIRE
BREAZEMNARAIES EENHE
A K & B % $16,600,00017 & fs 1 - & B
REAB1E T - HH4,700,00017 88 f& 1 H
R ZEEREER-_ZT-_WFNA
“tHERE ERUOFEE_ZZRF
LA - 17 (E B0.58 7T + BIZAR R B 5 R
B BHEKRTE -

B

RZE_RAFANAZ+H BWERTHEE
A% 4 42 28 511,900,000/ (= ZF — P 4F :
13,785,98117) - IRIBE B R E S 80K
HoFERMKRITEERESESS B RA
FIFE -BE_E_RAFAA=+HILF
E - UEEWBREBEEEREFEER THOE
PRIEEITE (T U ') o

ARBR T _—F+— AT XBRAH
BT 8 (T3 BRERT3)) - B IE
ArEIEEEAKERERS - RERABS
FEREE  RAKRENREREMEIZRM
B UEARAEAAEER2RE (A
ERSEEDETERE FRESFHX
SEFHHER 2 2B R @ o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR e PR R AR MY &

for the year ended 30 June 2025 B ZE T A F A=+ HIFE

23. EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED

TRANSACTIONS (continued)

The maximum number of Shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all share options to be granted under
the New Share Option Scheme is 30,105,267 Shares,
representing 10% of the total issued share capital of the
Company as at the date of this annual report.

The number of shares in respect of which share options
may be granted under the New Share Option Scheme to
any individual in any 12-month period is not permitted to
exceed 1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any
point in time, without prior approval from the Company’s
shareholders. Share options granted to substantial
shareholders or independent non-executive directors in
any 12-month period in excess of 0.1% of the Company’s
issued share capital and with a value in excess of HK$5
million on the date of offer must be approved in advance by
the Company’s independent shareholders.

Options granted must be taken up within 14 days of
the date of offer, upon payment of HK$1 per grant.
Options may generally be exercised at any time from
the second anniversary of the date of acceptance to the
tenth anniversary of the date of acceptance or may at the
Board’s discretion determine the specific exercise period.
The exercise price is determined by the Board, and will
not be less than the highest of the closing price of the
Company’s shares on the date of offer and the average
closing price of the shares for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of offer and the nominal
value of the Company’s shares. No option was granted
under the New Share Option Scheme since adoption.

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7R~ )

23. LEREEURDR/ERNR S (@)

BEFERETE AT TFTRENME BR
BETERATTEINROGEE LR A
30,105,267/ " {EMAFERBBMARF 2
EEITIRMBEAI10% o

REBEFBRESS ERFIARARE
BRIEZBRT  REM12(E A HE R
A E B A T 2 B 8 &z i fn
HETSBERARIREETRNZ1% °
il PMER121E A BIE A A = ZRIREB L
FROTEERL 2BRES R 2RO EE
BEAXARABDHETRAZOABENREHNH
Hi ~ (B {B 8 185,000,000/8 7T * RIZRTE £ 15
BIARRRIE LA RALAE o

ERTZBEREANZHBERE14ER
B BREMKBAIMIBETZRE B
BRE—RARNEABERE _BFREEEN
HHE T EFIEEMERNEAKRE HES
EMEEEZHEETES T AITE 176
BLIHEESET HEIAGLRAQAMR
MRBHRPZKHE RORERED
BHAAEE XA 2 FHRTERAKRAT
BOhEECAEEERE) - BRMNURL
BRI E B AT 81X R o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB SRR AT

for the year ended 30 June 2025 HEZ T -_HAF A=+ HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7~ )

23. EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED 23. UEREEURODRERNR S (1)
TRANSACTIONS (continued)
(a) The terms and conditions of the grants are (a) ATREFHEBRENRRAEMYS :
as follows:

Number of Vesting Contractual
instruments conditions life of options
BRESK

IAHA FERS HABR

Options granted to directors:

RTEESHNBERE
—on 30 September 2019 400,000* Three years from 5 years
the date of grant
RZZE-—NFENA=T+H ML AR =4 5%
—on 24 September 2021 600,000 Three years from 5 years
the date of grant
RZEBEZ—FAAZ+IMA B H B BB =F 5%
Options granted to employees:
BTFEENBRE :
—on 30 September 2019 5,520,000 Three years from 5 years
the date of grant
RZE-NFAA=1H B AR =4 5%
—on 24 September 2021 16,000,000 Three years from 5 years
the date of grant
RZEZ—FAA=+mWmA MR H BB =F 54
Total share options granted 22,520,000
KT ERERAR
* Before the adjustment due to the Right Issue. * AR VEH T EE AT ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR e PR R AR MY &

for the year ended 30 June 2025 B Z —Z_HAF NA=ZF+HILFE

23. EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED
TRANSACTIONS (continued)
(b) The number and weighted average exercise

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7R~ )

23. LEREEURDR/ERNR S (@)

(b) BRENEBMMEFIITEE

prices of share options are as follows: mE
! [ |
Weighted
average Number of
exercise price options
INREFEY
TEE BREHE
HK$
BT
! [ |
Outstanding at 1 July 2023 RZZEZ=F+H—BERTHE 0.683 21,314,952
Lapsed during the year ended REEZZT-_NFA=+HIE
30 June 2024 FEARK 0.754 (7,528,971)
Outstanding at 30 June 2024 and RZEZMNFEARA=THRE
1 July 2025 —E-AFEA—RAEKRTE 0.643 13,785,981
Lapsed during the year ended REBEE-_ZE-_RFA=+HIt
30 June 2025 FEAKN 1.044 (1,885,981)
Outstanding at 30 June 2025 RZEZRAFNA=T+H
i ARAIT R 0.580 11,900,000
Exercisable at 30 June 2025 RZEZRAFANA=T+H
A AT 11,900,000
Exercisable at 30 June 2024 RZE-_WFENA=+H
AT 1,885,981

The options outstanding at 30 June 2025 had
an exercise price of HK$0.58 (2024: HK$1.044
or HK$0.58) and a weighted average remaining
contractual life of 1 year (2024: 2 years).

SEBNERERAT | ZE-HFEFH o

R-E_RHFERNA=THREKITED
BRENITEEARCLSE L (ZE N
F :1.0448 70 (0.58 L) - N F
HHTANHRAIFE(ZZT_MF 2
F) e
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR e PR R AR BT &

for the year ended 30 June 2025 HEZ T -_HAF A=+ HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7~ )

24. RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS

24, RIKBE R AR

2025 2024
—E-RF —E oA
HK$’000 HK$’000
TET FHET
. ! |
At the beginning of the year REH] 8,373 7,223
Provision recognised in profit or loss RIBRANEREE
(note 6) (P =E6) 1,790 1,280
Actuarial gain recognised in other 7 E At 2 U A AR SR Y
comprehensive income BE W= = (130)
At the end of the year RER 10,163 8,373

A provision has been made by the Company based on
the best estimate of the long service payments that are
required to be made to employees in respect of their
service to date, less any amounts that would be expected
to be met out of the Company’s contributions to its defined
contribution retirement scheme and mandatory provident
fund.

(a) Provision for long service payments

Under the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance,
Indonesia Labour Law and Thailand Labour
Protection Act, the Group is required to make long
service payments to its employees in Hong Kong,
Indonesia and Thailand upon the termination of their
employment or retirement when the employees
fulfill certain conditions and the termination meets
the required circumstances. However, where an
employee is simultaneously entitled to a long service
payment (“LSP”) and to a retirement scheme payment
(e.g. from the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the
“MPF Scheme”)) in Hong Kong, the amount of the long
service payment will be reduced by the benefits arising
from the retirement scheme including investment
return/(loss) accumulated in the scheme under certain
conditions.

O®O 146

ARRCEREREE LS RFEANGRE
B RERBENREMRT  RBEBHSKE
AR B SE HFGRRET 8 S5 B QTS
SERP XN ER SRR

(a) RERBERE
REBBRERBIED - EDES TENS
BETREZ EXAEEZ2FE
EE=HEESBRBIRKE  5EE
MEETIREMBRTEMBER -
AIREEARAREXNRARSEE -
A EBEREREZAERURS
& BRGNS R (gl E R TE S
el (TREEtE])) - IREREE
BRI S TR TRERKFEIFMEF
ZETERN(BREAIMAFZRER
] (E8R)) R -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB MR M

for the year ended 30 June 2025 B ZE T A F A=+ HIFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7R~ )

24. RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS

(continued)
(a) Provision for long service payments

24. RIKEFAE &)

(a) REBRBESEBE®

SEENBERARAT | —E-RHEFR e

(continued)

Obligation to long service payment (“LSP”) under
Hong Kong Employment Ordinance

Pursuant to the Employment Ordinance, Chapter 57,
the Group has the obligation to pay LSP to employees
in Hong Kong under certain circumstances, subject to
a minimum of 5 years employment period, based on
this formula: Last monthly wages (before termination
of employment) x 2/3 x Years of service. Last monthly
wages are capped at HK$22,500 while the amount of
long service payment shall not exceed HK$390,000.
This obligation is accounted for as a post-employment
defined benefit plan.

Furthermore, the MPF Schemes Ordinance passed
in 1995 permits the Group to utilise the Group’s
MPF contributions, plus/minus any positive/negative
returns thereof (collectively, the “Eligible Offset
Amount”), for the purpose of offsetting LSP payable to
an employee (the “Offsetting Arrangement”).

The Employment and Retirement Schemes Legislation
(Offsetting Arrangement) (Amendment) Ordinance
2022 (the “Amendment Ordinance”) was gazetted
on 17 June 2022, which eventually abolish the
Offsetting Arrangement. The Amendment Ordinance
came into effect prospectively from 1 May 2025 (the
“Transition Date”). Under the Amendment Ordinance,
the Eligible Offset Amount after the Transition Date
can only be applied to offset the pre-Transition Date
LSP obligation but no longer eligible to offset the
post-Transition Date LSP obligation. Furthermore,
the LSP obligations before the Transition Date will
be grandfathered and calculated based on the last
monthly wages immediately preceding the Transition
Date.

The impact of abolishment of the Offsetting
Arrangements is considered to be insignificant during
the year and as at 30 June 2025.

REBEZEEBIEI G RBRE 2
g2

RIBEAIEOE7E  AEBBEEMT
REFTHERTRESEE XN RER
Ko AREEREBHSZLAEAF IR
BATARGE : &A% (BAKL
Al) X2/3XMBEFH -ZEAHF LR
/22,5008 7T - M & B AR 7% & BB T
1SR 3#8390,000/8 7T - ;Z & X ABR A B
BixATRAGE -

N R—NANEFBENRHER
BEAaGI AT ASEERAEER
MBIt AES MK ML RER
EIE/BER (GHE A EREHX
Bl UEHEN TREENRIRG
& ([HEELH]) -

(B FEERERRETEDAA (K
R ) (BE]) GBI ERY(TEET KA ])
ERZFZ_FAAATEREMR %
18 0 B 42 BB #1022 HF © 5218 5T 15
PR -—Z—_RAFRA—HB ([EHHBH])
AR - BBIETHRO - EEH AR
MEBRE PEE EURELHE
HH AN ERARGE2ER MTH
AEREPEEHBENRBRE
B oM EHBHNRBARSE 2
ERBEERR  YAZEEH B A
MEESATENE -

EFFRARRZ-ZZT-_RAFA=+AH"
BUBB R 2 FERRARMTRE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB SRR AT

for the year ended 30 June 2025 HEZ T -_HAF A=+ HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7~ )

24. RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS
(continued)
(b) Defined contribution schemes

24. RIKEFAE )

(b) REMRRETE

OeO 148

The Group has joined the MPF Scheme for all
employees in Hong Kong who have registered with the
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme Authority under
the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance.
The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately
from those of the Group in funds under the control of
an independent trustee. Under the rules of the MPF
Scheme, the employer and its employees are each
required to make contributions to the scheme at rates
specified in the rules. The only obligation of the Group
in respect of the MPF Scheme is to make the required
contributions under the MPF Scheme. No forfeited
contributions are available to reduce the contributions
payable in the future years.

The eligible employees of the Company’s subsidiaries
in the PRC are members of pension schemes
operated by the PRC local governments. The
subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain
percentage of the relevant part of the payroll of
these employees to the pension schemes to fund
the benefits. The assets of the schemes are held
separately from those of the Group in funds under the
control of the Chinese local government.

The Group registers its employees in Thailand
with Workmen’s Compensation Fund and Social
Security Fund as required by laws in Thailand. The
Group is required to make annual contributions to
the Workmen’s Compensation Fund and monthly
contributions to the Social Security Fund, and the only
obligation of the Group with respect to these funds is
to make the required contributions.

The participants in an employee social security
programme in Indonesia, providing compensation in
the event of working accidents, death, old age, and
in case of sickness and hospitalisation, the employer
is required to contribute a fixed percentage of the
employee’s salaries every month.

AEBEEMARERESNAES
A ZERECRERGIEAESR
AEGEHMATIEAESFEERRB
Eft - RESFAICEEFHA B —
FEUERAENZES  BAKE
ZEEDHRABAE REBEDFER
A B X REB A RS LA Al
FRaT L R - AR BER BE S5 &
- EERRBRESEBELM
FERR - ARERRKFRELEDZ
o g R m] AR AR O A B AN AR R o

ARARHEMNBRARZAERERER
TREEMBNREEZRAEEZ
RE-MBARARIEERE ZIAH
BriW o X AE B D BRRK S BIHK -
Bl BEFNR BB E BT
HleEe BAREZESORRS -

AEERBERBEIZENER  BEF
HEEETAHEESRHESREER
TETEL AEEEASFHIAH
EESHFULEAHLEREES
HHR - AEEEEAZTESHE—=
BRI TE K -

AEBE2HENENREETSREE
RIBER G ZFARERR
ERBERTREME - RFEDEHER
e BEEXEEBRREEFHMNEE
FE B R -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR e PR R AR MY &

for the year ended 30 June 2025 B Z —Z_HAF NA=ZF+HILFE

24. RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS
(continued)
(b) Defined contribution schemes (continued)
The total cost charged to consolidated statement of
profit or loss of HK$23,344,000 (2024: HK$22,479,000)
represents contributions payable to these schemes by
the Group in respect of the current year.

During the year ended 30 June 2025 and 2024,
the Group had no forfeited contribution under the
retirement benefit schemes utilised to reduce future
contributions.

25. DEFERRED TAXATION

The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for
financial reporting purposes:

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7R~ )

24. RIKEFAE &)

(b) REMREE (@
$¢E$%IJ§HEZ%§+%M&?X
#%823,344,0008 T (ZFE Z Y F -
22,479,000 7T) EREREBm AR H
5{%0

HEZ-_AFE_ZT_MF A
=+tHIEFEAR  REBERKEN
8T #OR ey R | AR A R
REYHLFR

25, IEFERL 18
M BHREEN T ECHBELERITNOT -

2025 2024
—E_RE —E U
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FiE T

Net deferred tax asset recognised in the

i v?é-\ B RS AR R MR

consolidated statement of financial RIERRIBEEFE
position 503 452
Net deferred tax liability recognised in RERE ISR R i eR
the consolidated statement of financial RERH BB EFE
position (33,167) (82,870)
(32,664) (32,418)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR e PR R AR BT &

for the year ended 30 June 2025 HEZ T -_HAF A=+ HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7~ )

25. DEFERRED TAXATION (continued)

The movement in deferred tax (assets)/liabilities (prior to
offsetting balances within the same taxation jurisdiction)
during the year is as follows:

25, EER IE ()

FPEERIR (BE) /AE EHERE
BRVERB A Z 8RR 2 ZEMT

Unrealised

Revaluation of loss on
properties inventories
FHZ

NRER  KREER
HK$'000 HK$'000

Actuarial gain

Right-of-use Lease on retirement
assets liabilities benefits Total
BIKEN
RABEE HEAE RERE ot

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

T TER TiEn TR FEL T
| I ! ' | |
At 1 July 2023 i ——a

+B—H 33,071 (264) 5,260 (5,260) - 32,807
(Credited)/chargedto (3t A) /HBEIEH
profit or loss - (188) (549) 549 - (188)
Charged to other NEEMZEYE
comprehensive income - - - - 26 26
Currency realignment ERAE (227) - - - - (227)
At30June 2024and  MZZZRF
1 July 2024 NAZTAERK
“E-mE
+B-H 32,844 (452) 4711 (4711) % 32,418
(Credited)/charged to GtA)/MNERE
profit or loss (338) (51) (1,041) 1,041 - (389)
Currency realignment ERBE 635 - - - - 635
At 30 June 2025 R-Z-RF
~NAZTH 33,141 (503) 3,670 (3,670) 26 32,664

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused
tax losses of HK$364,143,000 (2024: HK$308,153,000)
available for offset against future profits which no deferred
tax asset has been recognised due to the unpredictability
of future profit streams. Included in unrecognised tax
losses of HK$176,946,000 (2024: HK$130,830,000)
that will gradually expire up to 2030. The unrecognised
tax losses relating to subsidiaries in Hong Kong were
HK$187,197,000 (2024: HK$177,323,000) and do not
expire under current tax legislation.
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RBEEBHR AEBAERYABB
®518364,143,0008 . (Z T = 4 F :
308,153,000/% 7)) - A it A fE# 35 R K
i F o m R N BE TE ORI R PR E BB R 0w
WEFADAVEEEEREEHEE
B BIEARER 2B EE176,946,000
Bt (Z =& P94 : 130,830,000/ 7T) °
BRZZE=ZTF2AE P E M RERTT
MEEG BFEEMNBRARBEZ KAER
5 7% B 18187,197,000/ 7T (— T — PO 4F :
177,323,000/ 7T ) I & [ i B B ©
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iR e PR R AR MY &

for the year ended 30 June 2025 B Z —Z_HAF NA=ZF+HILFE

25. DEFERRED TAXATION (continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the aggregate amount
of temporary differences associated with undistributed
earnings of subsidiaries for which deferred tax liabilities
have not been recognised was HK$36,666,000 (2024:
HK$39,741,000). No liabilities have been recognised in
respect of these differences because the Group is in a
position to control the timing of reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that such differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.

26. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(a) Categories of financial instruments

25.

26.

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7R~ )

EEBE @

RBREBR BWNBRAAADKEFNE
BEYABERECHREEBBECERETE
42 %8 /36,666,000 T (ZF — /0 F -
39,741,000 7T) ° AR A& B B gt 1 =
BOEREZ2E BB RZSERAETS
R R AR AT ERZE R

REIE -

EWMIA
(a) €M T EER

2025 2024
—E_RE —E
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET TAET
I I
Financial assets TRMEE
Financial assets at FVPL AT EBEFABENEREE 6,192 -
Financial assets at amortised cost B AT EN S MEE 235,016 250,205
Financial assets at FVOCI AT EEFEBEEZEETA
HEtErEKENE/mEE 10,430 23,542
Financial liabilities THEE
Financial liabilities at amortised cost LA# RN AFTEN SR EE 302,001 358,692

SEBNERERAT | ZE-HFEFH o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB SRR AT

for the year ended 30 June 2025 HEZ T -_HAF A=+ HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7~ )

26. €@t T B )
(b) HBEAMREEEEEBE

26. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and

OeO 152

policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include
financial assets at FVPL, other financial assets, certain
deposits, trade receivables at amortised cost, trade
receivables at FVOCI (recycling), other receivables,
unsecured bank loans, lease liabilities, trade and other
payables, bank balances and cash. Details of these
financial instruments are disclosed in respective notes.
The risks associated with these financial instruments
include market risk (currency risk and interest rate
risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies on how
to mitigate these risks are set out below.

The management manages and monitors these
exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented on a timely and effective manner.

()  Market risk
There has been no significant change to the
Group’s exposure to market risk or the manner in
which it manages and measures the risk.

(1) Currency risk

Several subsidiaries of the Company have
foreign currency sales and purchases,
which expose the Group to foreign currency
risk. Approximately 9% (2024: 15%)
of the Group’s sales are denominated
in currencies other than the functional
currency of the group entity making the sale,
while almost 41% (2024: 38%) of purchase
costs are not denominated in the group
entity’s functional currency. The Group
does not have a foreign currency hedging
policy. However, management monitors the
foreign exchange exposure and will consider
hedging significant foreign currency
exposure should the need arise.

AEBZTESRTIABRERATE
Bt \BZWEREE HHe®E
E-ATHE NEBEHEKNAFENE
ZEBER AR FEEFELRE
B AEEERE (MIE) WES
B AR R - Eo At R MCBR AR - R IK IR
TEXR HERBE BEZREMEN
BRRAMBTERLAS -ZECR
TAZHBRENEARE -2EF2
BTAMSzERBRET SRR (5N
R EMERRE)  FERERRESHE
T E R - B AR EZE R R 2B
N

EEEEEREEZFER  HERE
RBERH AR EREE 2 -

G) TEER
AEEHEZTSRABRIEER
FitEgRBz AL BERNED -

(1) sMEE LR
KRR ZETWERE LA
BETEE BRAKEEZA
AZINERERR  NEBIEE
A% (Z B U4 : 15%)
DUERHE cEEEEY
BEEMUIN B BEBAL
M EKAL41% (ZF =
F:38%) WILEBEEERE
B EE RSN - A& E
I SN SR ERR - SR
EEEeERIIERR I
BREFERZERHFERXR
HNES [ B o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB MR M

for the year ended 30 June 2025 B Z —Z_HAF NA=ZF+HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7R~ )

26. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)
(i)  Market risk (continued) ()
(1) Currency risk (continued)

26. €@t T B )
(b) MEEAMEEREHEEE @)

% 3 2 (4%)

(1) SMEm Bz (%)
RIERR - AEE AN E
REBEUZEBEENE®R
EZREENT

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign
currency denominated monetary assets and
monetary liabilities at the end of reporting
period are as follows:

Assets Liabilities
BE =R

2025 2024 2025 2024

SECSAEFE —_FoNF ZBDHF —_T_NMF

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000

FTHExT FHET FTHET FHET
. | | | |
RMB AR 12,018 9,957 19,109 15,792
Usb e 21,058 29,497 5,207 5,469

HK$ BT 2,975 2,206 70,667 47,991
The above assets and liabilities include FHEERBEREUAR
trade receivables at amortised cost, trade B ZTLRABTTETER A
receivables at FVOCI (recycling), other AT BB 5 IR -
receivables, bank balances and cash, AAFEEAZEEHEEEE
unsecured bank loans and trade and other AHME2EE (TE#E) 5
payables, denominated in RMB, USD and B 5 REMER R - Efb IR
HKS. FORTEBERS  EK
HIRTER - BHMHME

RTERFK

EEHBEBRERLR | —CEHFFR e 153 O e O




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR e PR R AR BT &

for the year ended 30 June 2025 HEZE T -—AF NA=Z+HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7~ )

26. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)
(i) Market risk (continued)
(1)  Currency risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The following table indicates the
instantaneous change in the Group’s
profit/(loss) after tax that would arise if
foreign exchange rates to which the Group
has significant exposure at the end of the
reporting period had changed at that date,
assuming all other risk variables remained
constant. In this respect, it is assumed
that the pegged rate between the HK$ and
USD would be materially unaffected by
any changes in movement in value of the
USD 5% (2024: 5%) is the sensitivity rate
used when reporting foreign currency risk
internally to key management personnel
and represents management’s assessment
of the reasonably possible change in the
foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity
analysis includes only outstanding foreign
currency denominated monetary items
and adjusts their translation at the end
of the reporting period for a 5% (2024:
5%) change in foreign currency rates.
The sensitivity analysis includes external
receivables and payables and also current
accounts with the group entities where the
denomination of the current accounts is in a
currency other than the functional currency
of the relevant group entities.

A positive number below indicates a
decrease in loss for the year (2024:
increase in profit for the year) where
functional currency of the relevant group
entities strengthening 5% against the
relevant currencies. For a 5% weakening
of functional currency of the relevant group
entities against the relevant currencies,
there would be an equal and opposite
impact on the loss (2024: profit) for the year.
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26. €@t T B )
(b) MEEAMEEREHEEE @)

()

% 3 2 (4%)

(1)

SN SR B ()

BRE DT

TRV R B E it [
BEH/TE  KEERR
&5 B R E FE R 2 2 i 8 A
BAREAREANEERTIER
(B8 E & " B R &
Bogttims  DREBE
HETHBHBEEEZI®HASE
THEELHREHMIINE
AT E 5% (ZFT M5 :
5%) BRAHMMEEZER AR
B SR HNEE LB PR 2 SRR
bt JTE*”IEJ"fJ?I\[[
REBBEELE o) B L o
@?En*ﬁ@@%ﬂwl\%ﬁi
o E¥IER 2 &R W E
5% (ZZE - : 5%) 2
@ R R
HixH OK@ZJ#’WE’F]%MI\
BB e i BR R K R S AR R
&%’%.EBEZEXEE}E(EZ
TREPTIAEBAEEERE
LB AN B R/EBRL) o

VAN IE 8RR R AN 4R 2 B 1R
P(ZB-F - FRENIE
MEFFHEEEERIE
BE L ERINE FHES - fi
FRSBEEREER LA
RASNEE B2 (E5% - B ARFE
MER(ZF-WF mH)
EEEFEEARTE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR e PR R AR MY &

for the year ended 30 June 2025 B Z —Z_HAF NA=ZF+HILFE

26. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)
(i)  Market risk (continued)

(1)

@

EENERERAR

Currency risk (continued)
Sensitivity analysis (continued)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7R~ )

26. €@t T B )

(b) MEEAMEEREHEEE @)

() TG EE (E)
(1) SMEE fE (5)
BRRE DT (&)

2025 2024
—E-REF —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT

RMB AR

1,239 1,744

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value
or future cash flows of a financial instrument
will fluctuate because of changes in market
interest rates. The Group’s interest rate risk
arise primarily from unsecured bank loans.
Unsecured bank loans carried at variable
rates expose the Group to cash flow interest
rate risk. The Group monitors the level of its
variable rate borrowings and manages the
contractual terms of the interest-bearing
financial assets and liabilities. For
this purpose, the Group defines “net
borrowings” as being interest-bearing
financial liabilities less interest-bearing
investments (if any) (excluding cash held for
short-term working capital purposes). The
Group’s interest rate profile as monitored by
management is set out in below.

| ZE-REER o

@) FEmEE
MERBREEERTANA
FEEXARASRERD
B REHMELRIHR
BeAKENFERREE
REEEBBITER - EY
M &R E IR IRITEREARE
BEASXESREN KRR -
AEBEERHEYHMNEE
FKFRERFEEREE
REBEEOAOGK - BILE
B AR E S EROFE] R
ERFEERABR SR
E(mA) (TeEREHE
EETREMBANRSE)
EEEMESRHAREEN X
BB T -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB SRR AT

for the year ended 30 June 2025 HEZ T -_HAF A=+ HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7~ )

26. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 26. €@ T A ()
(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) MHEEEREEZHERBE ®)
policies (continued)
(i)  Market risk (continued) () TSR (&)
(2) Interest rate risk (continued) Q) FIEE (&)

Interest rate profile I =5
The following table details the interest rate TRFMASEEN @SR
profile of the Group’s net borrowings (as MERFE(EER LXK
defined above) at the end of the reporting R =L o
period.

2025 2024
—E-RfF —EoME
Effective Effective
Note interest rate Amount interest rate Amount
it ERAE 25 ERFIx ke
% HK$’000 % HK$'000
TER TET

Variable rate FERERMER

borrowings:
Unsecured bank BERRTEN

loans 21 6.38 99,855 6.73 91,951
Sensitivity analysis BRE DT

At 30 June 2025, it is estimated that a
general increase/decrease of 100 basis
points in interest rates, with all other
variables held constant, would have
increased/decreased the Group’s loss after
taxation by approximately HK$834,000
(2024 decreased/increased the Group’s
profit after taxation by approximately
HK$768,000).

The sensitivity analysis above indicates the
instantaneous change in the Group’s (loss)/
profit after taxation and other components
of consolidated equity that would arise
assuming that the change in interest rates
had occurred at the end of the reporting
period which expose the Group to cash flow
interest rate risk at the end of the reporting
period.

RZZEZRAFAA=18"
EFEEMEBESHBETRIERN
BRT - Eat k&g -7
/T FE1001E & & & H A
SEMRB & EBEIN R
4> #9834,0008 7T (ZE =W
FEBERAEENBRTE R
FE A48 50 #9768,000/%8
JT) °

iR E DT E R BREF
REBBRERKEHR B
SAEBMRREMKREERR
CREMNERR NEEW
BREiE (BB (a5 kizse
EENEMEARFI LR
KBNS B8 o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB MR M

for the year ended 30 June 2025 B ZE T A F A=+ HIFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7R~ )

26. €@t T B )
(b) MEEAMEEREHEEE @)

26. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

(i) Credit risk (i) 15EEE

EENERERAR

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty
will default on its contractual obligations resulting
in a financial loss to the Group. As at 30 June
2025 and 2024, the Group’ maximum exposure
to credit risk which will cause a financial loss
to the Group due to failure to discharge an
obligation by the counterparties is arising from
the carrying amount of the respective recognised
financial assets as stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

In respect of trade receivables, the management
of the Group has delegated a team responsible
for determination of credit limits, credit approvals
and other monitoring procedures to ensure that
follow-up action is taken to recover overdue
debts. Therefore, the directors of the Company
consider that the Group’s credit risk is minimised
and ECL allowance is considered insignificant.

For other non-trade related receivables, the
Group has assessed whether there has been
a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition. If there has been a significant
increase in credit risk, the Group will measure
the loss allowance based on lifetime rather than
12-month ECL. Therefore, the directors of the
Company consider that the Group’s credit risk
is minimised and ECL allowance is considered

insignificant.

The bank balances and cash are concentrated on
certain counterparties and the credit risk on liquid
funds is limited because the counterparties are
banks with sound credit ratings.

| ZZE-hEFFH o

EERRBREERZIHFH TE
TENES EXRAEEELEY
BEREANER R-_Z_AFK
ZEZNFEASA=TH - EHF
FTAREBITEEMSAEERR
BRERZz&SEERRTELR
é%%#ﬁ%%ﬁﬁ%aﬁ%%
MEEZHREAEBEMEL

EHREIRBER A5EEERE
BEEENEIEEETEER
EEMZREMERER LK
IRERERBR M e e Y Bl 3 B 2 (B 7% o
At ARAEERBEAEEBZ
EERREEE EHEABX
BERRATK -

A IEE ZRBERYKERMS
AEBEFE VP ERARE
ERBATBEEEM - HEER
REEEN AEEEREZH
EHERBERMIE12(E A EHE
%E%ﬁ%%%%ﬁol%'ﬁ
RAEFERARAKEZEFER
ﬁ%ﬁ’ﬁ%%%ﬁ%%ﬁﬁﬁ
RRK e

RITHEBRASHERRETH
FH mABEezEERRE
Rt DR EF T RE R
SERITARZRTT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB SRR AT

for the year ended 30 June 2025 HEZ T -_HAF A=+ HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7~ )

26. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

(i)

Credit risk (continued)

Trade receivables

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced
mainly by the market demand in the intimate
apparel industry and economic conditions in the
USA and Europe. At the end of the reporting
period, the Group had a certain concentration
risk as approximately 72% (2024: 81%) of trade
receivables was due from the top five major
customers.

The tables below detail the credit risk exposures
of the Group’s trade receivables at amortised
cost.

26. €@t T B )
(b) MEEAMEEREHEEE @)

(i) 15 E/m ()
B SR
AEBEMAS ZEERRIER
RERITERZMEHBRKAREKE R
BN Z BB E - NWRE
HIR - R 472% (ZZ M4 :
81%) 2 B HEWERTIKBE AKX
BEF BAKEAETRBRES
ZIEW

TRFAY A 5 B 6 DA K
AAENEZREEFINEER
k0 o

30 June 2025 30 June 2024
ZE-HEARAZTH ZZ-MERA=TH
Gross Net Gross Net
12-month or carrying Loss carrying carrying Loss carrying
lifetime ECL amount  allowance amount amount allowance amount
128 2
EHNBDER
Bx REAE BEREGE REFE  FELE 0 BEEE REEE
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAL AR FER AR TER TR
. J | | I | |
Financial assets at  bABE S5 A% A 5T 2 K
amortised cost S EVAE
Trade receivables & 5 [EURER
(note 18) (Hf3E18)
Lifetime ECL
- not credit impaired 125,852 (531) 125,321 127,935 - 127,935
BEFESRN
EHERBX
-EEERE
Lifetime ECL
- credit impaired 1,879 (227) 1,652 4,610 92) 4,518
B{AFEHN
EHERBX
-EERE
127,731 (758) 126,973 182,545 (92) 132,453
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR e PR R AR MY &

for the year ended 30 June 2025 B ZE T A F A=+ HIFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7R~ )

26. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

(i)

(i)

EENERERAR

Credit risk (continued)

Trade receivables (continued)

The Group measures loss allowances for trade
receivables at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs. Loss allowance of HK$758,000 (2024:
HK$92,000) is recognised as at 30 June 2025
for customers with financial difficulties. During
the year ended 30 June 2025, increase in days
past due over 90 days result in an increase in
loss allowance of HK$666,000 (2024: a write-off
of loss allowance of HK$867,000 resulted in a
decrease in loss allowance). The credit risk for
trade receivables of the remaining customers is
limited after considering actual loss experience
over the past years, economic conditions during
the period over which the historic data has been
collected, current conditions and the Group’s
view of economic conditions over the expected
lives of the receivables.

As at 30 June 2025, no loss allowance have
been recognised (2024: same) for the trade
receivables to be factored at FVOCI as the
lifetime ECL is insignificant.

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the
Group monitors and maintains a level of cash
and cash equivalents deemed adequate by the
management to finance the Group’s operations
and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash
flows.

The following table details the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its non-derivative
financial liabilities. The table has been drawn
up based on the undiscounted cash flows of
financial liabilities based on the earliest date
on which the Group can be required to pay. At
30 June 2025, the Group had undrawn bank
borrowing facilities of HK$61,180,000 (2024
HK$3,049,000).

| CE-REEH e

26. €@t T B )
(b) MEEAMEEREHEEE @)

(i)

(i)

1EE /R (E)

B SN (E)
REBRERGEFEANTERE
AEXESNEETEESREK
ERHBERE R_Z=-R1F
NAZTH BREMBEENE
P HE R B B 5758,000% 7T (=
T PU4F 92,0008 7T) c BLE
E-RFRNAZTBHIEEFEE @
HAHBIBO0H My B B B K& 18
B 8 15 hN666,00078 T (ZF =
F i 85 B 18 B #5867,0000% T8
WEBEREERL)  EEIBEF
EMERBRALER ELEEK
SHEMLBERR - & RTHAKR
MAEEFRREBE ZEUBERK
B FERANKEERRL B
BURERESETFNEERKRA
R o

RZE_RFA=TH #BR
BETFEBANBHERBLALT
BR AT EMEARFEER
EEEEZHFAEMEERED
SR EE S EWR KR E B
H(ZZEZWF - 48R) -

B EE R

REERDETER  AEEE
RNEFEEEBRS B ABNA
SEZEUREKREREND Z
FEZREMREFRABKE -

TRAWENWEAEBEFETESR
BEZHBTANBRE - TR
BEAEEEER2ZFEBH
ReMmBBECAUBRRERESR
e —_ZE-_HENA=1+H"
AEBZARDIBITIEEEEAR
61,180,000/ ;T (Z&F Z M4 :
3,049,000/ 7T) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB SRR AT

for the year ended 30 June 2025 HEZ T -_HAF A=+ HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7~ )

26. €@t T B )
(b) MEEAMEEREHEEE @)

26. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

(iii)  Liquidity risk (continued) (i) JEEE 2B B ()
Liquidity tables B E T F
I I N S R S
After 1 year  After 2 year Total Carrying
On demand or but within But within  undiscounted amount at
Within 1 year 2year 5years  cash flows 30 June
EP S —-EpE MENE  REREE WABZ1H
-ENR BRENR  BRELNR HEHE ZEEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TEn TiEn ThEn Tin
I I S S R S
2025 - g
Non-derivative financial liabilities ~ #HT44RERE
Trade and other payables EAREMERER 192,646 9,500 - 202,146 202,146
Lease liabifies HEBE 12,419 7813 1,238 21,470 20,357
Unsecured bank loans BERSIER 101,130 - - 101,130 99,855
306,195 17,313 1,238 324,746 322,358

After 1year  After 2 year Total Carmying
On demand or but within But within - undiscounted amount at
Within 1 year 2 year 5 years cash flows 30 June
REXY —EHE MENE KBRS WAAZTA
—ENR ERENR  BRENUR nERE LERE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TiEn TERL TR ThEn ThEn
. ! ] ] |
2024 —E-ME
Non-derivative financial liabilities ~ #{74 £REE
Trade and other payables EHRAMENER 222,458 9,500 9,500 241,458 241,458
Lease liabllities HEEE 14,235 8,785 4,020 26,990 25,283
Unsecured bank loans BEARBAER 93,883 - - 93,883 91951
330,576 18,235 13,520 362,331 358,692
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB MR M

for the year ended 30 June 2025 B ZE T A F A=+ HIFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7R~ )

26. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 26. €@ T A (&)
(c) Fair value (c) A¥EHE
() Financial assets measured at fair value () BRFEETAEZEHEE
Fair value hierarchy nFEEER
The fair value of the Group’s financial instruments RMEARBEECEEREEFEZ
measured at the end of the reporting period on AEBERMTITAZAFEBEES
a recurring basis, categorised into the three-level BB ELEREIZRIAFE
fair value hierarchy as defined in HKFRS 13, Fair B EIRTZZAAFEEBEER
value measurement. The level into which a fair DI -RNFEEFEZENS A
value measurement is classified is determined K2EMBERMAAHASEZ
with reference to the observability and ABEEREEEEFEMNT ¢

significance of the inputs used in the valuation
technique as follows:

— Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using only Level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted
prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities at the
measurement date

— B —RfhE EAE-—LBABE (WHEREEXRERFEAREEREM ST 2
RABRE)FEZAFEE

— Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using Level 2 inputs i.e. observable inputs which
fail to meet Level 1, and not using significant unobservable inputs.
Unobservable inputs are inputs for which market data are not available

—FZHIEHE NEZRBABEBITHEE—R2ABRBARE) BETERE
R AR BREABETEZ AT EE T BRE ABEAREE
ESEET S BIE 2 B ARUR

— Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using significant unobservable inputs
—E=HEHE FEREBAMIAAHESBABBAECATER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR e PR R AR BT &

for the year ended 30 June 2025 HEZ T -_HAF A=+ HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7~ )

26. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(c) Fair value (continued)
()  Financial assets measured at fair value
(continued)
Information about level 2 fair value measurements

26. €@t T B )
(c) DFEME®
() HRFEEFEZZHEE (B

BHE—RAFEEFEZEHN

Fair value as

Fair value as at Valuation technique

at 30 June 30 June and significant
2025 2024 inputs
R=ZZB-HEF R_T_MNF
AA=t+HH ASA=TA® fhE B M R
AFEE NFEE BERBAE
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET

AT EETE
EES 1TEDN
B i E RS
GEDIGEE
B 38

Trade receivables at
FVOCI (recycling)

Information about level 3 fair value measurements

7,592 20,704 Risk-adjusted
discount rates of
ranged from 5.66% to
6.88% (2024: 6.70%
to 6.98%) per annum
quoted by the banks
RITATME AR
TEH B E IR &
F45.66%%6.88%
(ZTZM4F -
6.70%%6.98%)

B FE =R FEETEZEN

Significant
Valuation unobservable Weighted
techniques inputs average
BERMAHA
RERN BEBAHE hn#EF 19

Unlisted equity securities

MRS E S

Market-comparable approach

Discount 30%
for lack of (2024: 30%)
marketability
% — L BUE = W% 30%
mRBEZFE (ZT-MF:
30%)

The fair value of unlisted equity investments is
determined using the enterprises value to sales
of comparable listed companies adjusted for
lack of marketability discount. The fair value is
negatively correlated to the discount for lack of
marketability.
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FLEMREEMERENRFEER
RBAUEHmRARNEEEEYH
ERLE  URRZNHRBME
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB MR M

for the year ended 30 June 2025 B Z —Z_HAF NA=ZF+HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7R~ )

26. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 26. €@ T A (&)
(c) Fair value (continued) (c) 2FEE @
() Financial assets measured at fair value () BLRFIEEGESLHEE ()
(continued)
It is estimated that with all other variables held HETEFEEMBHRETEE
constant, a decrease/increase in: ST - i

2025 2024
“EC-HE —E-ME
Increase/ Increase/
(decrease) in Effecton  (decrease) in Effect on
unobservable unlisted equity  unobservable  unlisted equity
inputs securities inputs securities

FUBRE HIELMH RABR LM
BABLR/ EREESN BAELA/ EEEFN

(TH) % (TH) %
% HK$’000 % HK$'000
AT TAT
. | ! ! |
Discount for lack of TR % i
marketability i 5 (61) 5 (61)
(5) 61 ) 61
The fair value of the unlisted investments of REBSELMEENRAFEBR
the Group is determined based on the cash BIELMEENESRREABSE
surrender value in accordance with the unlisted E-MBESREREBELIFITER
investments which is not an observable WMAHBE - FELTRENAFE
input. The fair value of unlisted investments BEREBERITEHNEIEETEAER
is determined using the latest policy monthly REBEAEHNNRITBERAERKE
statement of the key management insurance o TR B R ASIEAIRIER
contract provided by the bank. The unobservable TREMNB S REREB EAF
input is the cash surrender value quoted by bank. BEHRSRREBEZ EHE-
The fair value is positively correlated to the cash REBRREBEYS  FLTERE
surrender value. When the cash surrender value MAFEBEBS -

is higher, the fair value of the unlisted equity
investments will be higher.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR e PR R AR BT &

for the year ended 30 June 2025 HEZ T -_HAF A=+ HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7~ )

26. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 26. €@t T B )
(c) Fair value (continued) (c) XFEE@

()  Financial assets measured at fair value
(continued)
Information about level 3 fair value measurements
(continued)
The movements during the year in the balance
of these Level 3 fair value measurements are as
follows:

()

BAFEEGTEZ ZHEE (F)

EHE=RATEGHEZEN
(#%)

ER BREESHATEENS
2 EHEHNT

Unlisted Unlisted equity

investments securities

kEH kT

BE EnEH

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHT FET
I I

At 1 July 2023 and R-E-_=F+A—HK

30 June 2024 —E-NMENA=1H - 2,838

Addition NE 7,770 -

Decrease in fair value NEEEBD (1,578) -

At 30 June 2025 R-ZE-_RAFAA=TH 6,192 2,838

Fair value of financial assets and liabilities carried
at other than fair value
The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial
instruments carried at amortised cost are not
materially different from their fair values as at 30
June 2025 and 2024.

WIHELFIEEINES 2BEE
REEZNFEE
RZE_RAFRER-_T_MFEAH
=1+ 8 ANEEZREHEKATE
JEeRMITACERBERAEQATE
BB E\ERELSE -
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27.

28.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR e PR R AR MY &

for the year ended 30 June 2025 B Z —Z_HAF NA=ZF+HILFE

SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES 27.

Authorised and issued share capital

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7R~ )

2025
—E-FRE
No. of shares
i3 & B

IR A K f#

EERESBITRAE
2025 2024 2024
g 3 —T_MmEF e a1 23
Amount  No. of shares Amount
| ke e o
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FET

Ordinary share of HK$0.50 & R E H0.5058 T

(2024: HK$0.50) each (ZE_-g4F :
0.50/ T) Z
EBER
Authorised: ERE
At beginning of the year and ~ F ] R F &
the end of the year 600,000,000
Issued and fully paid BEEITRER
At beginning of the year and ~ F ] J F 48
the end of the year 301,052,675

300,000 600,000,000 300,000

147,940 301,052,675 147,940

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive
dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled
to one vote per share at meetings of the Company. All
ordinary shares rank equally with regard to the Company’s
residual assets.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 28.

Capital commitments outstanding at the end of the
reporting period not provided for in the consolidated
financial statements were as follows:

LR A NGRS SR 2B
NEEEER—ERAATAG ERE -
FELEBRRALTZ HRAEMSHE
CEES TR

BREE
RI|BEBRR  REGEMBHREABEDN
REBITEARFAENT :

2025 2024
—E-RHEF —EoNF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET

Contracted for acquisition of property, ERMWEDE  BE K

plant and equipment BL=HES) 309 830
EBEFEBRERAT | —CEREFHR e 165 O @O




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR e PR R AR BT &

for the year ended 30 June 2025 HEZE T -—AF NA=Z+HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7~ )

29. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS/
BALANCES

In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed
elsewhere in these consolidated financial statements, the
Group has entered into the following material related party
transactions:

(@) Transaction with related companies

20. EALTRE "tk
%MﬁﬁAﬁﬁﬁ%EM% SE Y X

REBIN - ARETEUTEAREA
ii%:

(a) BERERAZXRS

2025 2024
—E-RE —E_UF
HK$’000 HK$’000
TR FHET

(note (i)) (B 3EG) 89,958 87,200
Sales of goods to an associate M ANTIEESE S

(note (i) (B 3EGiy) 1,074 273
Subcontracting fee to an associate  H {f FE L AT NS B E

(note (iii)) (Pt (i) 1,521 3,286
Lease payment to an associate YR FEE AT MEE NS

(note (iv)) GEIW)) 2,657 2,657
Notes: MisE -

(i) During the year ended 30 June 2025 the Group sold the
ladies’ intimate apparel to a related company, Van de Velde
N.V. (“VdV”) for revenue of approximately HK$89,958,000
(2024: HK$87,200,000). Mr. Herman Van de Velde, a
non-executive director of the Company, has a beneficial
interest in VdV, which held an interest of 25.66% (2024
25.66%) in the Company as at 30 June 2025.

As at 30 June 2025, the balance of trade receivables from
VdV amounted to HK$1,953,000 (2024: HK$5,730,000)
which are aged less than 30 days.

The above related party transactions constitute continuing
connected transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules. The disclosures required by Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules are provided in the Directors’ Report.

(i) During the year ended 30 June 2025, the Group processed
supplied materials and delivered the finished products
to Techspase, for revenue of HK$1,074,000 (2024:
HK$273,000). As at 30 June 2025, the trade receivable
from Techspase was HK$314,000 (2024: HK$88,000).

(i) REBEE-_ZT_AFA~A=Z+HLF
EA - AREER—HEBEAQRVan de
Velde N.V.([VdV]) i & 2 % R X LA B
LU A #989,958,000/8 7T (= ZF — I 4 :
87,200,000 L) c R A B FENITES
Herman Van de VeldeZt £ BVdVy &

T = ﬁﬁﬁ/\_g—ﬂg/\ﬁ +E|
VdVBI# B AR F)25.66% (=T — P94 :
25.66%) 1 7 °

R-_ZT-_AEA=+A8"  EKVIVE
5 BE FH) 45 £2 51,953,000 7T (=
— U4 ¢ 5,730,000 70) Rk A DR
30H -

EltERE AR B LR B F14A
BEREZHERERS - tﬁiﬁﬁw
VAABREZ BB RNESGRERM -

(i) REBEZZ-_AF A=tHLEFER:
REEMTHEMA T BRKRBZMTF
TechspasebA B B A 491,074,0007% 7T
(ZZ /4% 273,000 L) c R F
—RAFNA=1+H" K HETechspaseH
B 5 e W BR 71 A314,000/8 7T (—Z — 1Y
1 88,000/ 7T) °
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29. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS/

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB MR M

for the year ended 30 June 2025 B Z —Z_HAF NA=ZF+HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7R~ )

20. BBEALTRG ke

BALANCES (continued)

(a) Transaction with related companies

(continued)
Notes: (continued)

(b)

EENERERAR

(i)

(iv)

The subcontracting fee to BAP is made on similar terms as
the Group enters into with other suppliers. As at 30 June
2025, the trade receivable and trade payables from BAP
were HK$5,538,000 (2024: HK$4,836,000) and HK$nil
(2024: HK$1,791,000) respectively.

For the year ended 30 June 2023, the Group entered into a
lease agreement to rent factory facility located in Indonesia
from an associate for 3 years. The amount of monthly rent
by the Group under the lease is approximately US$28,500
(equivalent to approximately HK$221,000) plus VAT. As at
30 June 2025, the carrying amount of such lease liabilities
is HK$1,313,000 (2024: HK$3,828,000).

(a) HAEQARZRS (&)

Bz (&)

(i) S FBAPHI 5 £ B £ Ak £k [E £ H i it
FERFTEI LMIEREU - R=ZT =R F
ANAZ+TH KEBAPKHE 5 EUER R
& B 5 BRR S B A5,538,0000% T
(Z=Z — V94 : 4,836,000/ 1) KT
JT(ZZ P04 : 1,791,000 T) °

vy BEZZ-_=FA=THLEEE XK
EEE—MHRE QAR L AE s A
AEMREEN THREE  BH=F -
WERAYN AEETARESENA
28,5003 7T (18 & 7 #9221,0007% 7T) AN
BER R-_E-_RAEXA=1+H %
HMEAENERES % A1,313000%8 T

(ZZ -4 : 3,828,000/ 7T) °

Compensation of key management (b) TEEBAB ZHM

personnel

2025 2024
—E_RE —ZETNF
HK$°000 HK$’000
FHBT FET
I I
Salaries and other benefits FekEMBER 21,552 22,922
Discretionary bonus W5 TEAL 820 3,384
Share-based payments LARR 1D A ARy & A - 391
Retirement benefits scheme RORE A ET B R
contributions 162 185
22,534 26,882
The remuneration of directors of the Company and AATEERTESEAS B
key management is determined by the Group’s AEETHHES L BEAEEN
< 7 zZ B 8 ="

compensation committee having regard to the

performance of individuals and market trends. MSBLET -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB SRR AT

for the year ended 30 June 2025 HEZE T -—AF NA=Z+HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7~ )

30. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 30. EXE B EE
The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in REB v EREBETREBRTEEHNEER
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern FIELHETE BRAEEETEE
while maximising the return to shareholders through the SELE RRKAREHBERAER K
optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s EEEEREKHEEFHER -
overall strategy remains unchanged from the prior year.
The capital structure of the Group consists of equity AEEZEARARERREANGERRRE
attributable to equity shareholders of the Company, mED (BREEZETRA FEIMRE R
comprising issued share capital, reserves and retained F) o
profits.
The directors of the Company review the capital structure KRR EZTBERITERNERE - EARF
on a quarterly basis. As part of this review, the directors Hf IR ARAREEZEREELAKRAEARE
of the Company consider the cost of capital and the *E§$Z$H BRK - BREXRNARESEZE
risks associated with each class of capital. Based on : $’§l BB AR S - BITHARD
recommendations of the directors of the Company, the }EHHE ERERN  FEHBREENERE-

Group will balance its overall capital structure through the
payment of dividends, new share issues and draw down of
bank loans.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB MR M

for the year ended 30 June 2025 B Z —Z_HAF NA=ZF+HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7R~ )

FEHBE QT
ARAFR_E-_AFR_FT_NFRA
ZTHZEZEMBARFBOT

31. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 31.

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 30
June 2025 and 2024 are as follows:

Proportion of issued

ordinary share capital/
Place of registered capital held
Incorporation/ Issued share capital/ directly/indirectly by
Name of company registration registered capital the Company Principal activities
ALRER/BEREZ
HMAL/ BREARE/ BRTEERE/
ARER Hfth HRER HMERZEA L TEEH
2025 2024
“E-RE CZE-MF
% %

Foshan Nanhai Top Form Underwear Co., Ltd* The PRC Capital Contribution - 100 100 Manufacture of ladies’

HK$20,800,000 underwear and property

investment

BUTEEEREARERA A hE B AE A - 20,800,000 100 100 EEREARRRENE

Grand Gain Industrial Limited (‘Grand Gain’) Hong Kong Ordinary - HK$100,000 100 100 Moulding and

laminating business

BREXERAA (RREE)) B LA - 1000008 100 100 BREERER K

Juliana Consulting Services (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd* ~ The PRC Capital Contribution - 100 100 Provision of consultancy

HK$8,000,000 services in relation to

ladies intimate apparel and

accessories

ERRWEARE (RY) BRAF HE & AE - 8,000,000 7T 100 100 REABELEAKERER

itz ER RS

Long Nan Grand Gain Underwear Co., Ltd* The PRC Capital Contribution - 100 100 Moulding and

US$1,800,000 laminating business

EHERRARBRAR Gk BB -1,800,000% 7 100 100 ERESYE RS

Long Nan County Top Form Underwear Co., Ltd* ~ The PRC Capital Contribution - 100 100 Manufacture of ladies’

HK$57,000,000 underwear

EHEEENARBRA Gk BRAEA - 57,000,000% 7T 100 100 EEREAR

Meritlux Garment (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd* The PRC Capital Contribution - 100 100 Manufacture and trading of

HK$23,000,000 ladies’ underwear

BEERE (R BRAF Gk BB - 23,000,000 70 100 100 RERAREERES
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB SRR AT

for the year ended 30 June 2025 HEZ T -_HAF A=+ HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7~ )

31. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 1. EEMBELAE &)
I S N N R

Proportion of issued

ordinary share capital/
Place of registered capital held
Incorporation/ Issued share capital/ directly/indirectly by
Name of company registration registered capital the Company Principal activities
ANRER/BEREZ
ARA L/ BRORE/ ERAEERE/
RAEH Bais EfER dMERZADL TEEH
2025 2024
“E-RE CZE-MF
% %
.} ]| | | | |
Shenzhen Top Form Underwear Co., Ltd" The PRC Capital Contribution - 70 70 Property investment and
RMB4,993,000 provision of consultancy
service in relation to ladies
intimate apparel and
accessories
ANEBEARER AR ik BNAR - AR 4,993,000 70 70 REMENRRREE
REAR
R RALE 2 B R
Top Form Brassiere Mfg. Co., Ltd Hong Kong Ordinary - HK$100 100 100 Manufacture and trading of
Deferred - HK$4,000,000 ladies underwear
SENMERERERAA R LER-1008T 100 100 LEAREERES
FERER 1 - 4,000,000 T
Top Form (B.V.I) Limited* British Virgin Ordinary - US$50,000 100 100 Investment holding
Islands
EBRNES L3k - 50,0005 100 100 REER
Top Form Brassiere (Maesot) Co., Ltd Thailand Ordinary - Baht$ 100 100 Manufacture of ladies’
56,000,000 underwear
R L3 - 56,000,000% 5k 100 100 FELEAR
Topfull Development Limited Hong Kong Ordinary - HK$2 100 100 Property holding in the PRC
REERARAA 5 LER-28T 100 100 RAMLRPEZNZ
Unigue Form Manufacturing Company Limited Hong Kong Ordinary - HK$1,000 100 100 Trading of ladies’ underwear
Deferred - HK$200
KERARRERBRAR Eh LMK - 1,000%7T 100 100 ZEARES
EITRN - 20087
Louisa Lee Limited Hong Kong Ordinary - HK$1,820,000 51 51 Trading of ladies’ underwear
ik LR -1,820,000% 51 51 TERRES
Goal Plus Investment Limited Hong Kong Ordinary - US$7,000,000 60 60 Investment holding
REREERAA R L33 - 7,000,000% T 60 60 RERR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB MR M

for the year ended 30 June 2025 B Z —Z_HAF NA=ZF+HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7R~ )

31. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued) MN.TEMBE LT )

I [ O I
Proportion of issued

ordinary share capital/
Place of registered capital held
Incorporation/ Issued share capital/ directly/indirectly by
Name of company registration registered capital the Company Principal activities
ALAAER/BEREL
AL/ BERTRE/ ERTEERE/
ARER R EMER AMERZEDL IERR
2025 2024
ZEZRE -
% %

Top Form Myanmar Company Limited Myanmar 300,000 ordinary share of 100 100 Property investment
UUS$1.00 each
an 300,000R &R A E 100 100 R IES
100X T ERR
Top Form Seamless Manufacturing Thailand 1,801,919 ordinary share of 60 60 Manufacture of
Company Limited Baht$100 each Seamless products
%8 1,801,919 R E(E 60 60 REERBER
100R M EBR
PT Pahlawan Gunung Jaya Indonesia Ordinary - 100 100 Property holding in the
Rp$10,000,000,000 Indonesia and manufacture of
[adies’ underwear
i £381% - 10,000,000,000E0E & 100 100 BEURIE 2 NE
DREEZRAR
Grand Gain Industrial (Ceylon) (PVT) Ltd. Sri Lanka Ordinary - 100 100 Moulding and
US$50,000 laminating business
HEHT @K 50,0005 100 100 BREERBR XK
Directly held by the Company * ARREERHE
# These subsidiaries are registered as wholly foreign-owned # ZEMBARIEREFMAIIGFEDLE -

enterprises in the PRC.

A This subsidiary is registered as a sino-foreign equity joint venture " ZWBARERREEMARINEGERFA -

in the PRC.

Note: Except for those subsidiaries with the place of operation Misr: BZERTFTEEBNIELRKSESH ZE 7 B
mentioned in principal activities, the place of operation is the RNAEGN T M B A A 2 48 & i Bh B A
same as the place of incorporation/registration. Bz sE i B AR E -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB SRR AT

for the year ended 30 June 2025 HEZ T -_HAF A=+ HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7~ )

31. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued) M. TEMBE LT )

OeoO 172

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group which, in
the opinion of the Directors, principally affected the Group’s
assets or results. To give details of other subsidiaries
would, in the opinion of the Directors, result in particulars of
excessive length.

Shenzhen Top Form Underwear Co., Ltd JZIIIEZmEHT AT
BBRAT] (“SZTF”) is a joint venture company established in
the PRC and was originally held for a period of twelve years
from 28 February 1987. The Group entered into extension
agreements with the joint venture partner on 18 September
1998, 12 November 2008, 27 June 2011, 6 February 2015
and 28 February 2017 to extend the joint venture period
for future years to 28 February 2009, 28 February 2012,
28 February 2015, 28 February 2017 and 28 February
2030 respectively. Pursuant to the joint venture agreement
and the revised joint venture agreement under which
the joint venture was established, the Group contributed
70% of the registered capital of SZTF. However, under
another agreement entered into between the Group and
the joint venture partner, the Group is entitled to 100% of
this joint venture company’s profit after deducting a fixed
annual amount attributable to assets contributed by the
joint venture partner. The Group is entitled to receive its
attributable share of the net assets upon liquidation of the
joint venture, and so this joint venture is being accounted
for as a subsidiary of the Group.

As at 30 June 2025, for Top Form Brassiere Mfg. Co.,
Limited and Unique Form Manufacturing Company Limited,
the deferred shares carry no right to dividend or to receive
notice of or to attend or vote at any general meeting of the
respective companies. On winding-up, the holders of the
deferred shares are entitled to one half of the remaining
assets of the respective companies after the first HK$100
trillion has been distributed equally amongst the holders of
the ordinary shares.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities subsisting
as at 30 June 2025 or at any time during the year.

EFEAR LRABAKEENRBRARHAE
SEEERXERIERE EFAR-
THEMEERAR ZFHFAERESAS
RILE »

ANEBHFAXRER LA (DRINEE])
B—REFBEKILZEERR REEF
HeEE—hANEE_A-+t N \BARH+=
FoAREEDHR—NAANFALATNAR -
—EENFF+—A+ B T ——F X
A=Z++RA ZZE—FHAF-_ARAK=ZE
—t+tF A+ N\HHAEEBYI LT
W BEEFHINERE-_ZTETNF
A+ N\H -ZE—=ZFZA=+NB"
TE-—RAF R+ N\B -ZZE—+tF=
A-+N\BE-_ZE=FF -/ _-_+\H-
BEXIEERFRIZEEAMEREES
B AKERRINEBHT 2 ZMER
HE70% - A - BREBEAEE RS ERHF
AUz ES—HhHhE AEBEUZAREE
RARNBEERERBRANEENSFIE
HEFEHEBER 2D EN AEEEREL
BARREERRKEEEECEESFE
HEEERRFARBREB ZMEAF -

RZZBE_RAFAA=1TRH EBIHESY
EBMERARMEBEARBERERA
B 2 9 FE A A0 I 48 B 7 R A B S R
BREARMEMRRAGZAESHHEARS
IRELRRZEN - BBERE  RTKR
DB ABREIARRRKE1008EE
TTFANKRTEBENFAANEMBTZ
FHEE-

RZZB_RAFRNA=Z+HIARFREME
Al EMBARBEEMERES -

Top Form International Limited | Annual Report 2025



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB MR M

for the year ended 30 June 2025 B Z —Z_HAF NA=ZF+HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7R~ )

32. CHANGE IN OWNERSHIP INTEREST IN A 2. A—HEMBAREEREEZZEE
SUBSIDIARY

Acquisition of additional interest in a subsidiary WE—ENEARZEIMER

On 28 June 2024, the Group acquired an additional 40% RZEZMFAAZ+N\B - AEBEWKE
equity interest of Grand Gain, increasing its ownership R EFA0%FEINRAE - (0 E A LN
interest to 100%. Cash consideration of HK$19,000,000 £100% - B FEZERBERz2AEKRER
was payable to the non-controlling shareholder. As at 30 19,000,000/ 7T » A =& Z I F X ﬂ +
June 2024, the consideration payable was classified as H EENSREI>BRIERSEE AN
non-current liabilities, which represented HK$9,500,000 AR - HF4 A EE9,500, ooo/%SS &
and HK$9,500,000 that are repayable in July 2025 and — T XF+ A18189,500,0007 TT °

July 2026, respectively.

As at 30 June 2025, the consideration payable of RZEZRAFAAAZTH ENRE
HK$9,500,000 was classified as non-current liabilities. 9,500,000 T D AIERBAE -
The effect of acquisition of additional interest is WEREIIMNER P2 mT

summarised as follow:

2024

—E-MEF

HK$’000

FTERx
1 .

Carrying amount of non-controlling interest acquired W B FE4E Il 1 f a2 BR A 28,185

Consideration payable for acquisition of additional WHERERE X IIMNER 2
interest in Grand Gain FESRAB (19,000)
Difference recognised in special reserve within equity REZPEFFEERZEZSE 9,185
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB SRR AT

for the year ended 30 June 2025 HEZ T -_HAF A=+ HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7~ )

33. COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF 33. 2~ 6] fE M B B AR OR &
FINANCIAL POSITION
(a) Financial position of the Company (a) =2 FHEBEARR
. ! |
2025 2024
—E_RE = it 2=
HK$’000 HK$’000
FE T FET
. |
Non-current assets kRBEE
Interests in subsidiaries REB AR Z X 856,395 856,395
Current assets RBEE
Other receivables H {th JiE Uk BR 5R 163 164
Bank balances SRITH R 71 48
234 212
Current liabilities REBAE
Accrued charges fEst 8 A 1,628 1,741
Net current liabilities RBAEFE (1,394) (1,529
Total assets less current liabilities A& ER R E & & 855,001 854,866
Non-current liabilities kRBEE
Amount due to a subsidiary FERT M B A 5IE 488,273 487,361
Net assets EEFE 366,728 367,505
Capital and reserves B #E
Share capital &N 147,940 147,940
Reserves ] 218,788 219,565
Total equity R 366,728 367,505
Approved and authorized for issue by the board of KEEER_E-_RAFNAZ=ZTHA
directors on 25 September 2025 and are signed on its HENRKEENE  WHTIALRE
behalf by: S
Wong Kai Chung, Kevin Wong Kai Chi, Kenneth
EHRER BElE
Chief Executive Officer Manager Director
BEEHNTE BRI
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB MR M

for the year ended 30 June 2025 B Z —Z_HAF NA=ZF+HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7R~ )

33. COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF 33. A 7 fE E M B AR R & )
FINANCIAL POSITION (continued)
(b) Equity movement of the Company (b) XATEREE
. ! ! | |
Capital
Share Share redemption Contributed Retained
capital premium reserve surplus profits Total
EXEE
RE  ROEE wE  BHERH®  REEF “m

HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT TER TR TR TR TER
I S S S N S R

At 1 July 2023 R-B-=F
tHA—H 147,940 1,499 233 124,802 93,878 368,352
Loss and total FRNBERZE
comprehensive Fx 8%
expense for the year - - - - (847) (847)

At30 June 2024 and RZZE-MF

1 July 2024 ANAZTER
—TCmF
+A—H 147,940 1,499 233 124,802 93,031 367,505
Loss and total FRNBEREZE
comprehensive EEEE
expense for the year - - - - (777) (777)

At 30 June 2025 RZE-_RF

~NA=1H 147,940 1,499 233 124,802 92,254 366,728
34. MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS 4. FEFRERF
As set out in note 11(a), there are non-cash transactions in WK F11ME REBEEZZS_AF R
relation to new lease arrangements in respect of properties TOMFNAZTHIEFER  FREX
and motor vehicles during the years ended 30 June 2025 PHRMERABENHEELH -

and 2024.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB SRR AT

for the year ended 30 June 2025 HEZE T -—AF NA=Z+HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7~ )

35.

OeO 176

POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS 3. CHEMEEHARBEZZE_HFAX
AND NEW STANDARDS ISSUED BUT NOT A=+AH mﬁﬁi;&z%‘ﬂ&%ﬁ‘ﬂ
YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR ENDED ZATREER ZTE

30 JUNE 2025

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the HEVBKREREHABALL  BE M
HKICPA has issued a number of amendments and new AREERBEHLREE_T_AF A=+
standards, which are not yet effective for the year ended HIEFE mARERBE TIEET R HIE S
30 June 2025 and which have not been adopted in these R EEGEAEVBREAEAREA - %
consolidated financial statements. These developments EREBEUTSIEAGEHEAEEEH -

include the following which may be relevant to the Group.

I
Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after

RT3 HHR

ZEBBKZ

SRHBEEX
! |
Amendments to HKAS 21, Lack of Exchangeability 1 January 2025
BB LR ERMIE ] [ EAmE 7 A —E-RF—HA—H

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7, Amendments to the Classification and
Measurement of Financial instruments 1 January 2026
H

BEMBREERNSRE L EBMBERELERTRNERT [ DB RAEHB T AL —FE_R"F—HA—

Annual Improvements to HKFRS Accounting Standards — Volume 11 1 January 2026
ERMBHRELEAGHEANFESE - F115 R RF—
HKFRS 18, Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements 1 January 2027
BBV B mEEBNGHR [ £ R FEYHHE T +F—-HA—
HKFRS 19, Subsidiaries without Public Accountab//ity: Disclosures 1 January 2027
BB E LR [ELREE LN E L A] - #5E ] e
Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28, Sale or Contribution of Assets between an
Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture To be determined
BERBREENL10R M B LG ERNF8RNER] [REERABHE L A )
EEPRZEHELTALE] FEEE
The Group is in the process of making an assessment of AEEFAFHTEHE L ?*J: B’\ BIXIER
what the impact of these developments is expected to be in HEMTEE - BRI R HEmAa A

LAl e AL o
the period of initial application. So far it has concluded that RATAF iR a B RRELEAVE

the adoption of them is unlikely to have a significant impact
on the consolidated financial statements.
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SUMMARY OF GROUP PROPERTIES
AEEYFEBE

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

REWMRE

Location

Existing use 3} 1T F§ & Term of lease A& i

Levels 6 to 8 of Block 523,
Bagualing Industrial Zone,
Futian District,

Shenzhen City,
Guangdong Province,

the PRC

Twenty units on Level 1 of

Bagualing Single Apartment Block 29

(Type B),

Bagua 2nd Road,
Futian District,
Shenzhen City,
Guangdong Province,
the PRC

Portion A on Level 6
(twelve units on the west) of

Pengji Single Apartment Block 44,

Bagualing Industrial Zone,
Futian District,

Shenzhen City,
Guangdong Province,

the PRC

Level 2-4 of Block 424,
Bagualing Industrial Zone,
Bagua 3rd Road,

Futian District,

Shenzhen City,
Guangdong Province,

the PRC

No. 22, Yuejin Road,
Yanbu Town,

Nanhai District,
Foshan,

Guangdong Province,
the PRC

SEBHERERAT | ZE-RFFH o

#

EBRE

wYIT

fBHE

NHETER
ES23MREREEN

TE]

R
ERE
FYIT
g A @
NE B

NEEEFNEF29R (BEY)

F—E20MH

R

BRE

wYIT

EHE
NFBETER

BEE % 5 N B E444R
FRNEA(FA12f)

F

EBERE

3l

EHE

NE =B

NEETHRE
BE424RE B R ENE

e

BERAE

Bl

MR

88 0 SR IR M BR225

Industrial T %

Residential (£

Residential (£

Industrial T 2

Industrial T3

Medium = HA

Medium = HA

Medium & Hf

Medium & £

Medium = HA
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SUMMARY OF GROUP PROPERTIES

AEENEHE

Location

Jintang Industrial Park,
North of Shangren Road,
Longnan County,
Ganzhou City,

Jiangxi Province,

the PRC

i B Existing use 3 1T F & Term of lease FA & i
I T

mh Industrial % Medium A Hf
IPEE
BN
FEEE L
SHEIEXER

Industrial T 2 Medium = Hf

No.614, Myintta Lin Myaing,

Aung Chan Thar Quarter,
Myintta Lin Myaing Village,
Myawaddy,

Kayin State,

Myanmar
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